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Canadian Oil Sands COPPORATE Fiinins ¢

Canadian Oil Sands Trust files its year end oil and gas disclosure and
related continuous disclosure documents

Calgary, March 21, 2006 (TSX — COS.UN) — Canadian Oil Sands Trust (the “Trust”)
today filed with Canadian securities authorities the Trust’s Annual Information Form for
the year ended December 31, 2005, including disclosure and reports relating to reserves
data and other oil and gas information pursuant to National Instrument 51-101. The
reserves report shows no significant revisions from prior disclosure. The Trust also filed
its audited consolidated annual financial statements and related disclosure documents.
Copies of these filed documents may be obtained through www.sedar.com, The Trust’s
website at www.cos-trust.com, or by emailing the Trust at investor_relations(@cos-
trust.com.

Canadian Oil Sands Trust is an open-ended investment trust that generates income from
its indirect 35.49 per cent working interest in the Syncrude Joint Venture. The Trust
currently has approximately 92.8 million units outstanding, which trade on the Toronto
Stock Exchange under the symbol COS.UN. The Trust is managed by Canadian Oil
Sands Limited.
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Canadian Oil Sands Limited For further information:
Marcel Coutu
President & Chief Executive Officer Siren Fisekci

Director, Investor Relations:
(403) 218-6228
investor_relations{@cos-trust.com

Units Listed - Symbol: COS.UN
Toronto Stock Exchange

Web site; www.Cos-trust.com
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Computarshare Trust Company of Canada
530 - 8th Ave SW, Stite 630

Calgary, Albenta
_ T2P 358
LETTER OF CONFIRMATION Telephone: (403) 2676800 Canada
Facsimile: {403) 267-6529 é?szr,an?l i
. tershare. hannet Istands
Mal’Ch 22, 2006 www compuigrsnare . com Hong ngu
Germany
freland
. . New Zealand
To: Alberta Securities Commission Phiilippines
’ British Columbia Securities Commissieon South r’;{fﬁcaﬁ
Manitoba Securities Commission Lay Ko

Office of the Administrator, New Brunswick

Securities Commission of Newfoundiand and Labrador

Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Registrar of Securities, Prince Edward island

L'Auterite des marches financiers

Securities Division, Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission
Securities Registry, Government of the Northwest Territories
Registrar of Securities, Government of the Yukon Territory

The Toronto Stock Exchange

Dear Sirs:

Subject: Canadian Qil Sands. Trust {the "Corporation”)

We confirm that the following materials were sent by pre-paid mail on March 21, 2008, to the registered holders of
Trust Units of the Corporation and to the non registered holders whose names appear on the Trust's Supplemental
Mailing List as defined in the National Instrument 54-101 regarding shareholder communications:

2005 Annual Report

Notice of Meeting/Proxy Circular
Form of Proxy

Supplemental Mait Card
Postage-Paid Proxy Return Envelope

N

We further confirm that copies of the above-mentioned materials were sent by courier on March 21, 2006 to those
intermediaries holding Trust Units of the Corporation who respanded directly to Computershare with respect to the
search procedures in compliance with current securities legislation requirements for defivery to beneficial owners.

We are providing this confirmation to you in cur capacity as agent for the Corporation.

Yours truly,

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY OF CANADA

(S)ig/ned)
s

Lori Ross c

Assistant Trust Officer

Corporate Trust Department



Exemption under Rule 12g3-2(b) ‘;

-
O RN
! 75N
I TR
AUl e o
BN o 3: on

k-,,.‘ T n e
SURMA TN

Canadian Qil Sands

CANADIAN OIL SANDS TRUST

ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM

For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

March 15, 2006



TABLE OF CONTENTS

GLOSSARY ittt ettt ee bt e saese e st astesbe st s e ae s st beesae s e eneesee e b e aseeabansesreeteanseabeeneessensaaasesarensesns 1
NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES ..ottt b et n et 4
FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION ADVISORY ...ooitiiiiiiiietieeineeerteeee vt ere st eeesiee s saeesaeeenns 4
THE TRUST AND ITS STRUCTURE .......cooeotiiieiiieiieeeiete e siresee et sre sttt e e s sesseesbebeeanassesseaneesns 5
Name, Address and FOIMAtION..........cciceeriiiiiiiiiecr it secteeeesireeessrraeesereeseesstreeaessnesessrsareeasas 5
Intercorporate RelationShiPs ...oc.iiiiierii ittt et saa e s e 5
GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS. ......cci oottt seeeteeie st rree e sre st e saenenes 6
SUIMITIATY ...t ieee ittt e e et e st e e b e et e e ate s eateeeeresasesessaeseabeeaansesenssessasesaseeasseesnreeesnbaessbeeentsaeessrens 6
SYNCTUAE ...ttt bbb b et ettt s b st e bbb bbsesas s en et b s b e 8
NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS ......oooiiiiiieee ettt ete sttt s 11
The Syncrude OPerations.........ccereeerereriiniennrenin ittt sttt resre e enes 12
IMIDNZ. 1ottt ettt ettt ettt s et b et e s e sae sheebs st e st e out s e et e eae e bt emees bt enentsennes 12
EXITACHION o ceeii ittt ie ettt et s ee s sve e et a e s et e e e sab e e saae e s se s b ba e braannsressntnsssnaneasneenrses 13
UPEIAdING .ottt et et et sttt b st s seees e sbeenn et e bt eune neen 14
Utilities and OfFSIES ..viueeiiiriiiviiiiiciiicessrresrreereestesvee b entaeeseseestsessaeessessbasssssossneensensesnes 16
MAEKETING .ottt et b bbb s r e sae b e 17
COMPETILION 11eveiveeiieinieire e e strerttesieesieeestisasssee st eestessueesasaesbeeesseonaerneesraesaseseeesaresabeenseesresnstssnsessane 18
SEASONAL FACIOTS..1eviiiieiieiiiiei sttt e ettt e e st et e et e seseenseesrsesbessaaeseb e steaasesabeentbensesensaentes 19
Environmental Prot@Ction ......coiiviieiieiiiii e ertniieniesre et sies e ssbresre s asaresae s srse et esannesasesenes 19
Environmental Regulation and Compliance ...........ccvcevrivevininineniieeneceniccoiecrneeees 19
Regulation Of OPETAtiONS .......cocviivueiiierieteiririeiirerent st saetaesssesssesaraateessesssassseasssenssesssesssssnsssnssssnses 22
LANA TENUIE ...euveieiiiiiie et ereecte e st asee s b e e e e v e s br e e s e s s eees s aeastaesarreenseeannnaesssnsessessnnsnssssresnrns 22
ROYALLIES ANA TAXES .oureeiiieiiciie ittt st rve e se e see e st rebe s saaesases s s easeesanessneensesabnesransanees 23
BP0V EES ettt ettt et et e bbbt te st nab s be et e nre e nae s beennee 23
RISK FACTORS ...ttt et te et st et b e tesre st et e s st saaesa et e enneeutesbassa s s eese e nebaasaessesnnsnsensearsanseaneenes 24
RESERVES DATA AND OTHER INFORMATION........cooiiteet ettt e snr e sreare s 31
Summary of Reserves as at December 31, 2005.......c..ooivieiiieeeiie et 33
Forecast Prices Used in EStIMAES .......ccccoviiriieiicieniieeiiiesiiee e seesnnresnireesnieesvaeestressesesesraeeenvaeesnnes 35
Reconciliation of Net Reserves by Principal Product Type Based on Forecast Prices and
0SS 1eeriiiiitietier e sttt e ettt e e e e setbe e se st s e ee st aae s rabetae et e e e e baaeae bbb e ee e rnra s annet e e e bt reaensaees 36
Reconciliation of Changes in Net Present Values of Future Net Revenue Based on
Constant Prices and COStS.......cceoiiiiiiieriririecesentiesreseeseeesreste et esessaeesese s e aebaeeessees 36
Future Development CoStS.....oiviiieiiierireiee ittt e e st et asne st e s eessesbe s e snneseesneesbensnansensesnee 36
Other Oil and Gas INfOrmation .........cccieviiveiiieniiiee et se e b e sr e s aaeenres 37
HEAZINE .ottt ettt e bt s a et et b e b e e nene e reeabeen 37
COSES INCUITEA ...ttt et et st sae st emt e s eaente e 37
Abandonment and Reclamation Costs ........ccoorireiiieieninenierin et 37
TaX HOTIZOM ..ottt ettt st ta et s ve st e b s ene s sas e aastesanas e smn et aaneesaeaneens 38
Production EStIMALES ......cceieeoieeiiiieiieeit et srsstresee s et rre st siaessee seaestrsasn e sree st aanaesareennes 38
Production HiStOTY ....cov ittt sttt et cata ettt e e sbasteaeen e eee st annaesranne s 38




RESEIVE LIl eoiviiiieiiiiii ittt ettt e s et e s s srtte e e st e e saraessatesesannteessseeesssnnassasbreesares 39

DISTRIBUTABLE INCOME ...ttt en s sttt et it et st re e 39
DISEEDULION HISTOTY .1iivviiviiieiiriet ittt ee e eve et e eans v e v bte st astsessesteaetesebeesbnastaesssesseesreeres 40
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE ..ottt aere e reesene et e 41
General Description SIUCTUTE.......c.ovouieeeietiiecire et re e s e teete b ste e srae st e sbassessnenbersaneessenns 41
FOreign OWRNEISHIP .o..ooiiieir ittt et st ettt st es et esee s ene e e b 41
RIZHIS PIAN.....oiiiiiiiiici ettt et rae et ve s ta e e raesebe e baean e et s sbessraabbessnesaneanresstearsesnnens 42
RALINES ettt e bbb e e en e 44
MARKET FOR SECURITIES ...coioitiiiiierieniet ettt ettt sttt es e sasae e nnene s 45
Price Range and Trading Volumes of Trust Unifs........cceviiiiniiiiiiniicnccicnie 45
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS ..ottt ettt et sttt st sbe s n e eae st e benesresnenresnes 46
DITECIOTS v ettt st st e et ettt e it e e b e et easbesabe et s ees b eobaesseassaaneeeassees e be et b anteentasmeatresasenaeesabassreneess 46
OFTICETS 1ervi ettt st e s e sre s ba e s e b et e be s b e e be e s s e b e sae b e e b e e e s s esaeeae st e st arseeRe st esaesbeetenbnesaennssaeeense 49
FEES PAID TO AUDITORS ..ottt b st een it ns st smenas sresesssensssesseses 50
INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS......cccccovervvirnenee 50
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS ..ottt e sttt sttt et sresassreseesasie s b easssesss 50
TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRARS.......ooiiiititieie ettt n s 51
INTEREST OF EXPERTS ..ottt sttt ettt sss et b ettt resa e esssbees b ene s 51
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP ...ttt ettt b e 51
GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd.........ccooocvreviiiriiniiniiceniccs it 51
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ......cociitimiieiitinteircniet ettt reen e easesesn s bee e sreseenssassrreneneessssanes 51

-ii-



GLOSSARY

"Alberta Crown Agreement” means the agreement between the Province of Alberta and the Syncrude
Participants providing for payments to the Province of Alberta of the Crown Royalty in lieu of Crown
Royalties;

"AENV" means Alberta Environment;

"AEPEA" means Alberta Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act;

"AEUB" means Alberta Energy Utilities Board, the successor to the ERCB;

"A0SII'" means Athabasca Oil Sands Investments Inc.;

"4A0ST" means Athabasca Oil Sands Trust;

"bitumen" in its raw state, is a black oil; it is a naturally occurring viscous tar-like mixture, mainly
containing hydrocarbons heavier than pentane, which is not recoverable at a commercial rate in its naturally
occurring viscous state through a well without using enhanced recovery methods; when extracted, bitumen

can be upgraded into crude oil and other petroleum products;

"bucketwheel reclaimer” means a very large machine that scoops up mined oil sand and places it on
COnveyors;

"CRA" means Canada Revenue Agency;
"CO" means carbon monoxide;
"CO," means carbon dioxide;

"Canadian Oil Sands", "us” or "we” mean collectively the Trust, the Corporation and all subsidiaries of
the Trust;

"capacity” means maximum output that can be achieved from a facility in ideal operating conditions in
accordance with engineering design specifications;

"coker' means vessels in which bitumen is cracked into light fractions and coke is withdrawn to start the
conversion process of bitumen to upgraded crude oil;

"Corporation” means Canadian Oil Sands Limited, the continuing corporation resuiting from the
amalgamation of AOSII, COSII and COSL on January 1, 2003;

"COSII" means Canadian Oil Sands Investments Inc.;
"COSL'" means Canadian Oil Sands Limited, prior to the amalgamation with AOSII and COSII;
"COST" means the former Canadian Oil Sands Trust, which was merged with the Trust;

""conventional crude oil” means crude oil produced through wells by standard industry recovery methods
for the production of crude oil;




"cracking” means a process which breaks large, complex hydrocarbon molecules into smaller, simpler
compounds by means of heat (as in the case of a coker) or by means of catalytic hydrogen addition (as in the
case of the LC Finer);

"Crown Royalty" or "Crown Royalties"” means the payments to be made to the Province of Alberta
pursuant to the Alberta Crown Agreement or under the generic crown royalty scheme;

"crude 0il” means unrefined liquid hydrocarbons, excluding natural gas liquids;

"double roll crusher" means a large unit which crushes the oil sand and deposits the crushed oil sand on to
a conveyor;

"dragline” means a large machine which digs oil sand from the mine pit and places it into elongated piles ‘
(windrows);

"ERCB'" means the Energy Resources Conservation Board of Alberta, a governmental body that oversaw
the exploration and development of natural resources in Alberta, now succeeded by the AEUB;

"EnCana' means EnCana Corporation, formerly PanCanadian Energy Corporation;
"extraction'’ means the process of separating the bitumen from the oil sand;

"fines (fine tailings)" means essentially, muddy water, which is about 85 per cent water and 15 per cent fine
clay particles by volume that is produced as a result of extraction of bitumen from oil sand;

"joint venture' means an economic activity resulting from a contractual arrangement whereby two or more
venturers jointly control the economic activity;

"LP'" means Canadian Oil Sands Limited Partnership;
"MD&A" means our management's discussion and analysis for the year ended December 31, 2005;

"Manager" means, prior to January 1, 2003, AOSII and COSII and, on and after January 1, 2003, the
Corporation; :

"naphtha'’ means a light fraction of crude oil used to make gasoline;
"oil sand(s)" is comprised of sand, bitumen, mineral rich clays and water;

"overburden' means material overlying oil sand that must be removed before mining; consists of muskeg,
glacial deposits and sand;

"residuum" means the fraction of bitumen that remains after the light ends have been distilled;
"SSB" means Syncrude Sweet Blend™,

"SSP" means Syncrude Sweet Premium™,;

"synbit" is a blend of bitumen and synthetic crﬁde oil;

"Syncrude” means, collectively, the Syncrude Joint Venture and the Syncrude Project;
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"Syncrude Joint Venture' means the joint venture formed by the Syncrude Participants for the purpose of
exploiting the Athabasca oil sands, which includes the Syncrude Plant and leases acquired or developed in
connection therewith;

"Syncrude Participants’ means Canadian Oil Sands Limited Partnership (5 per cent), the Corporation
(31.74 per cent), ConocoPhillips Oilsands Partnership IT (9.03 per cent), Imperial Oil Resources (25 per
cent), Mocal Energy Limited (5 per cent), Murphy Oil Company Ltd. (5 per cent), Nexen Oil Sands
Partnership (7.23 per cent} and Petro-Canada Oil and Gas (12 per cent), the corporations or partnerships that
own the undivided interests in the Syncrude Project and their respective successors and assigns in interest
from time to time;

"Syncrude Plant" means the plant and facilities owned by the Syncrude Participants and operated by
Syncrude Canada Ltd. located at Mildred Lake, approximately 40 kilometres north of Fort McMurray,
Alberta, where upgrading of bitumen occurs;

"Syncrude Project” means (a) the scheme for recovery of oil sands, crude bitumen or products derived
therefrom originally approved in Approval No. 1920 of the ERCB and currently approved in Approval Nos.
8573 and 8250, as issued by the AEUB (as successor of the ERCB), as such scheme may be amended or
superseded from time to time, (b) all property now owned or hereafter acquired or developed by the owners
participating from time to time in such scheme or by Syncrude Canada Ltd. on their behalf in connection
with such scheme, (c) the oil sands leases and (d) any other scheme or schemes implemented for the purpose
of recovering oil sands, crude bitumen or products derived from those oil sands leases related to such scheme
or schemes and all property acquired or developed in connection with such scheme or schemes;

"Trust” means Canadian Oil Sands Trust, which prior to the merger with COST, was known as Athabasca
Oil Sands Trust;

"trust royalty” means the net royalty paid by the Manager on the production of synthetic crude oil and
associated products, attributable to each Manager's respective working interest in Syncrude;

"Unitholders' means the holders of the units of the Trust; and

"upgrading' means the conversion of heavy bitumen into a lighter crude oil by increasing the hydrogen to
carbon ratio, either through the removal of carbon (coking) or the addition of hydrogen (hydroprocessing).

UNITS

API a measure of specific gravity
bbl barrel

bbls/d barrels per day

C Celsius

gjor GJ gigajoule

MW mega watt

NOTE: Unless otherwise specified:
1) all information is as at December 31, 2005; and
2) all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars, all references to ""dollars' or "$" are
to Canadian dollars and all references to "USS$" are to United States dollars.




NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

In our MD&A and this Annual Information Form ("AIF"), we refer to net income before
unrealized foreign exchange and future income taxes. This is a measurement that is not defined by
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). The Trust also reports funds from
operations and free cash flow on both a total and per Unit basis, which are measures that do not have any
standardized meaning under Canadian GAAP. Funds from operations is calculated on the Trust's
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash from operating activities before changes in working capital.
Free cash flow is calculated as funds from operations less capital expenditures and reclamation trust
contributions in the period. In the opinion of the Corporation's management, funds from operations is a
key performance indicator of the Trust's ability to generate cash to fund capital expenditures, while free
cash flow is a key indicator of the Trust's ability to repay debt and pay distributions. As a result, net
income before unrealized foreign exchange and future income taxes, funds from operations and free cash
flow may not be directly comparable to similar measures presented by other companies or trusts.

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION ADVISORY

In the interest of providing Canadian Oil Sands (or "we" or "us") Unitholders and potential
investors with information regarding Canadian Oil Sands, including the Corporation's assessment of
Canadian Oil Sands' future plans and operations, certain statements throughout this AIF contain "forward-
looking statements". Forward-looking statements are typically identified by words such as "anticipate",
"expect”, "believe", "plan”, "intend" or similar words suggesting future outcomes, or statements regarding
an outlook with respect to: the expected level of production and operating costs at Syncrude for 2006 and
beyond, and the resulting oil production per day for Canadian Qil Sands; the expected level of oil and
natural gas prices; the anticipated impact that certain factors such as natural gas and oil prices, foreign
exchange and operating costs have on Canadian Oil Sands' funds from operations and net income; the
aggregate capital cost of the Stage 3 expansion and the completion date and start-up date for such
expansion; the amount of reserves recoverable and the time frame to recover such reserves; the impact of
the Kyoto Protocol on Canadian Qil Sands; the estimate of reserves and resources; and the anticipated
maintenance work at Syncrude and the impact such maintenance will have on Canadian Oil Sands'
financial results. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, as there
can be no assurance that the plans, intentions or expectations upon which they are based will occur. By
their nature, forward-looking statements involve numerous assumptions, known and unknown risks and
uncertainties, both general and specific, that contribute to the possibility that the predictions, forecasts,
projections and other forward-looking statements will not occur. Although Canadian Qil Sands believes
that the expectations represented by such forward-looking statements are reasonable, there can be no
assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. Some of the risks and other factors which could
cause results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements contained in this
AIF include, but are not limited to: volatility of crude oil and natural gas prices, product supply and
demand, market competition, Canadian Oil Sands' ability to either generate sufficient cash flow from
operations to meet its current and future obligations or obtain external sources of debt and equity capital,
changes in environmental and other regulations, general economic, business and market conditions, and
such other risks and uncertainties described from time to time in our MD&A, and in the reports and
filings made with securities regulatory authorities by Canadian Oil Sands as well as those assumptions
outlined in Canadian Oil Sands' guidance document being correct. You are cautioned that the foregoing
list of important factors is not exhaustive. Furthermore, the forward-looking statements contained in this
ATF are made as of the date of this AIF, and Canadian Oil Sands does not undertake any obligation to
update publicly or to revise any of the included forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise. The forward-looking statements contained in this AIF are
expressly qualified by this cautionary statement.



THE TRUST AND ITS STRUCTURE
Name, Address and Formation

The Trust is an open-ended investment trust formed in October 1995 under the laws of the
Province of Alberta pursuant to an amended and restated trust indenture created upon the merger of the
Athabasca Qil Sands Trust ("AOST") and the former Canadian Oil Sands Trust ("COST"). On July 5,
2001, AOST acquired all the assets of COST and assumed all the liabilities of COST in exchange for
AOST units equal to the number of COST units issued and outstanding as of such date. AOST then
changed its name to Canadian Oil Sands Trust. The trust indenture was further amended and restated on
June 1, 2005 to reflect the adoption of amendments passed at the 2003 and 2005 Unitholders' meetings.
The trust indenture was further amended and restated effective December 20, 2005 to allow for a change
in how distributions were paid. In 2003, distributions were paid to Unitholders on the last business day of
the second month following the quarter and were recorded as payable in the financial statements at each
quarter end even though they were not declared as at that date. Commencing in the fourth quarter of 2005
distributions are recorded in the quarter declared and paid. The change in recording Unitholder
distributions has no impact on the ultimate distributions declared and paid to the Unitholders or to the
timing of such payments, nor does it impact Canadian Qil Sands' net income or funds from operations.
Distributions are paid to Unitholders on the last business day of February, May, August and November.
The current trustee of the Trust is Computershare Trust Company of Canada (the "Trustee").

The registered and head office of the Trust is located at 2500 First Canadian Centre, 350 — 70
Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, T2P 3N9.

Intercorporate Relationships
The following table provides the name, the percentage of voting securities owned and the

jurisdiction of incorporation, continuance or formation of the Trust's subsidiaries and partnership as at
March 13, 2006.

Percentage of Jurisdiction of
Voting Securities Incorporation/
(directly or indirectly) Formation
Canadian Oil Sands Limited (the "Corporation")»® 100% Alberta
Canadian Oil Sands Limited Partnership ("LP")" 75% Alberta
Notes:
1) Total assets and total revenues of this entity constituted more than 10 per cent of the consolidated assets and consolidated revenues of
the Trust at December 31, 2005.
(2) Holds a direct 31.74 per cent working interest in Syncrude and a beneficial 3.75 per cent working interest in Syncrude through its

holding of general and limited partnership units of Canadian Oil Sands Limited Partnership.




GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS
Summary

We are the largest energy trust in Canada, based on market capitalization as at March 15, 2006 of
approximately $15 billion, and the only public investment vehicle that provides a non-diversified
ownership in Syncrude, the largest open pit oil sands project in the world. Syncrude is located near Fort
McMurray, Alberta, Canada and operates large oil sands mines, bitumen extraction plants, an upgrading
complex that processes bitumen into a light sweet crude oil and electrical power utility plants. The
Syncrude operation is comprised of four major operating areas: mining, extraction, upgrading and
utilities. Syncrude's principal product is a high quality, light, sweet synthetic crude oil blend, referred to
as "Syncrude Sweet Blend™" ("SSB"), which has an average gravity of about 32° API and low sulphur
content of less than 0.2 per cent. The Trust's business is its indirect ownership of Syncrude and the
marketing and sales of SSB derived from such ownership.

On July 5, 2001, the Trust was created by the merger of AOST and COST, which trusts held an
11.74 per cent and 10 per cent working interest, respectively, in Syncrude. Following the merger, the
Trust's indirect 21.74 per cent working interest in Syncrude was administered by PanCanadian Petroleum
Limited (now EnCana) pursuant to an administrative services agreement. In August 2001, Canadian Oil
Sands hired Mr. Marcel Coutu as President and Chief Executive Officer to oversee the Trust's working
interests and assume a more active management role in relation to the Trust's assets. This internalization
of management continued, when in the fall of 2002, the Corporation terminated the administrative
services agreement with EnCana and hired its own staff,

In 2003, Canadian Oil Sands acquired an additional 13.75 per cent working interest in Syncrude
from EnCana for a total consideration of approximately $1.5 billion, which acquisition was financed
through a combination of debt and equity issuances. Due to the tax considerations of the vendor, we
acquired the additional interest in a manner which created a more complex organizational structure. In
2004, the Corporation obtained a tax ruling from the CRA which enabled the Corporation to consolidate
three royalties into one royalty. On December 31, 2004, the Trust and its subsidiaries undertook a
reorganization which simplified the corporate structure and enabled all of its working interests in
Syncrude to be consolidated under the Corporation.

The Corporation is responsible for the management of the Trust. Specific responsibilities are: (i)
to devise, manage and execute a long term strategy aimed at optimizing Unitholders' value in the Trust;
(ii) to ensure compliance by the Trust with continuous disclosure obligations under all applicable
securities legislation; (iii) to provide investor relations services; (iv) to provide, or cause to be provided to
Unitholders, all information to which Unitholders are entitled under the amended and restated trust
indenture; (v) to call, hold and distribute material including notices of meetings and information circulars
in respect of all necessary meetings of Unitholders; (vi) to determine the amounts payable from time to
time to Unitholders and to arrange for distribution to Unitholders of distributable income; and (vii) to
determine the timing and terms of future offerings of Units, if any.

Canadian Oil Sands is responsible for financing its share of Syncrude's operations, maintenance,
expansions, and its own administrative costs. Sources of financing include funds from operations,
generated from the sale of our SSB production and, as required, debt and equity financing. Funds from
operations is calculated on the Trust's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash from operating
activities before changes in working capital. In the opinion of the Corporation's management, funds from
operations is a key performance indicator of the Trust's ability to generate cash to fund capital
expenditures. Free cash flow, which is calculated as funds from operations less capital expenditures and
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mining reclamation trust contributions, is a key indicator of the Trust's ability to repay debt and pay
distributions. The Trust makes distributions to its Unitholders after it receives trust royalties, debt and
interest payments from its subsidiaries and pays its expenses, including funding for the Corporation's
operations.

The Syncrude Joint Venture is owned as various undivided interests by the Syncrude Participants
and has produced synthetic crude oil for 27 years. The assets of the Syncrude Joint Venture are operated and
managed by Syncrude Canada Ltd., which is owned by the Syncrude Participants in the same proportions as
their interest in the Syncrude Joint Venture. Syncrude Canada Ltd. is a single purpose company with no
significant tangible or capital assets with the exception of its workforce and retirement plan assets. The
Syncrude Management Committee governs the Syncrude Joint Venture and each Participant nominates a
representative to the committee, which is charged with setting the strategic direction for and making
decisions regarding the operation of the Syncrude Joint Venture. Our President and Chief Executive Officer
is the Chairman of the Syncrude Management Committee. He is also Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Syncrude Canada Ltd. and chairs the CEO Committee of the Board of Syncrude Canada Ltd. Our Chief
Financial Officer is the Chairman of the Audit and Pension Committee of the Board of Syncrude Canada
Ltd. as well as the Chair of the Business Controls project at Syncrude. None of the representatives of the
Syncrude Joint Venture Participants on the Board and committees of Syncrude Canada Ltd. receive
compensation as directors of that corporation. Each Participant receives its share of production in kind and
is responsible for the subsequent marketing of such share of the production. Syncrude commenced
production in 1978 and has, through capital investment and technological and efficiency improvements,
increased annual production. Syncrude produced 78 million barrels with a coker turnaround in 2005 and 87
million barrels in 2004 when there was no coker turnaround from 18 million barrels in 1979 and 3.6 million
barrels in 1978, which was a partial operating year. While production was down in 2005 relative to 2004, a
large part of this lower production resulted from the expanded planned turnaround of Coker 8-2 and
associated units, '

Production volumes reflect the capacity of the Syncrude facility and the reliability of its
operations. Our proved plus probable reserve life index, estimated at over 35 years, provides a secure,
reliable source of bitumen for the production of SSB. However, the process of mining, extracting and
upgrading bitumen is a highly technical and complex manufacturing operation that requires regular
maintenance of the various operating units, which can affect sales volumes and consequently revenues.
Sales volumes have a significant impact on per barrel operating costs as a large proportion of the costs are
fixed and, if the plant is not operating, repair costs typically are being incurred. One of the most
significant production cost inputs is natural gas. Therefore, operating costs are also sensitive to changes
in natural gas prices and usage.

Canadian Oil Sands' funds from operations are highly dependent on the net seiling price received
for our SSB product, sales volumes, and the operating costs of producing SSB. Through our agent,
EnCana, we market our share of Syncrude volumes to refineries in Canada and the U.S. Historically, the
price we receive for our SSB product correlates closely to the U.S. West Texas Intermediate ("WTI") oil
price, and is also impacted by movements in U.S.-Canadian foreign exchange rates. Crude oil prices can
be volatile, reflecting world events and supply and demand fundamentals. During the past three years,
WTI daily closing prices have fluctuated from a fow of US$25.24 per barrel to a high of US$69.81 per
barrel.

In addition to funding sustaining capital expenditures, funds generated from operations are used
to repay debt, to pay distributions to our Unitholders and to partially finance our share of Syncrude's
expansion projects. Syncrude is currently in the final stage of the largest expansion project in its history,
known as Stage 3. The expansion is designed to increase annual Syncrude productive capacity to about
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128 million barrels and enhance the product quality of SSB. Stage 3 is scheduled for completion in mid-
2006 and the total project cost currently is estimated at $8.4 billion, or $3.0 billion net to the Trust. See
the discussion below under Syncrude.

In 2005, consistent with our increased focus on the stewardship of our business, we elected not to
renew our marketing agreement with EnCana. Commencing in mid-2006, we will instead internalize the
marketing function at the Corporation. As the markets are changing with new supply being added, new
pipelines, new refineries and refinery re-configurations, and new feedstock choices for refiners, we
decided to have a direct hand in influencing that landscape. Establishing our own marketing capability
should result in more direct control over our marketing processes, a better understanding of our
customers' needs, and enhancement of our connection with rapidly changing market dynamics. We
expect these insights will assist us in making better long-term strategic decisions about markets and
products, both for our Syncrude product and as we consider further oil sands investments.

Syncrude

Syncrude produces light sweet synthetic crude oil from the Athabasca oil sands deposits by
surface mining the oil sands, extracting the bitumen from the sands, upgrading the recovered bitumen into
lighter oil fractions, and combining those component fractions into a single product called Syncrude
Sweet Blend or SSB™. Syncrude produces a single product type of crude oil, rather than a slate of
different heavy, light, sweet and sour crude oils. Bitumen, in its raw state, is a thick, tar-like, black crude
oil that requires upgrading in order to make it transportable by pipeline and more useable to refineries
across North America.

The Athabasca oil sands deposits are vast and the Syncrude leases contained in such deposits are
illustrated in the following lease map. The estimated nine billion SSB barrels of resources that are
contained in Syncrude's leases are all considered to be surface mineable, meaning that the layers of oil
sands are found beneath a relatively shallow overburden layer. Only approximately 20 per cent of the
Athabasca oil sands deposits are considered to be surface mineable with the other 80 per cent having the
oil bearing layers too deep to be reached by mining and instead must be exploited using in-situ methods.



ENEANA

SETATOON
AESETY

Syncrude and other developers of the Athabasca oil sands have pioneered various technologies to
mine the oil sands, extract the bitumen, and upgrade the bitumen into synthetic crude oil. Syncrude
engineers and scientists continue to focus on technologies to improve the energy efficiency of the various
processes, improve the product quality of the finished product, improve bitumen extraction recovery
efficiencies and upgrading yield efficiencies, and lessen the environmental impact of the various steps in
the process. Some examples of technological advancement include: low energy extraction, intended to
reduce the amount of energy required to recover each barrel of bitumen and to reduce emissions; slurry
hydrotransport, a process that uses pumping of an oil sands/water mixture rather than conveying of solids
with a view to reducing maintenance and operating costs in the material handling area; and froth
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pumping, an innovative way of pumping thick tar-like bitumen slurried with water rather than with
hydrocarbon-based diluents, once again intended to reduce capital and operating costs.

Syncrude began operations in the late 1970s at the Mildred Lake site. The initial mining areas
were developed adjacent to the main plant facilities which contained the extraction plants, the upgrading
plants and the utilities plants used to support the entire operation. As the operation continued over the
years, and as plant expansions were introduced, the mining operations moved further away from the base
operations site. These early mining areas, located near the main processing plants, are known as the Base
Mine and the North Mine. In 2000, Syncrude opened a third mining area — approximately 35 km from the
base operating area at Mildred Lake — known as Aurora North. While extraction operations associated
with the Base and North mines are located at the Mildred Lake site, the Aurora North mine has its own
primary extraction facilities near that mine. In 2003, mining operations were again expanded with the
addition of a second mining and extraction train at Aurora North called "Aurora 2",

Like mining, the upgrading facilities have also been expanded over the years. The initial
upgrader comprised two fluid cokers which are designed to break down the bitumen into lighter
components. These cokers were de-bottlenecked several times over the years and a third primary
upgrading unit, known as the LC Finer, was added. The LC Finer uses hydrogen and high pressure to
crack the bitumen into lighter fractions. In early 2001, after several years of planning, the Syncrude
Participants approved Stage 3, which is the largest expansion in Syncrude's 27 year production history
and include both Aurora 2 and an upgrader expansion ("UE-1"). As part of such project, upgrading
operations will again be expanded with the addition of a larger, more modern third fluid coker, otherwise
similar to the original two fluid cokers. At the end of 2005, construction of UE-1 of Stage 3 was
approximately 98 per cent complete. As part of UE-1, the product quality of crude oil produced by
Syncrude is to be enhanced to an even lighter, sweeter crude oil known as Syncrude Sweet Premium™ or
SSP™,

In 2005, capital expenditures totaled $800 million compared to $942 million in 2004. Stage 3
continued to comprise the majority of expenditures, amounting to about 70 per cent and 74 per cent of the
2005 and 2004 totals, respectively. As at December 31, 2005, the Syncrude Joint Venture had expended
approximately $8.1 billion of the total $8.4 billion estimated Stage 3 project cost, which includes $0.7
billion for Aurora 2. Net to Canadian Oil Sands, the total cost for Stage 3 is equivalent to approximately
$3.0 billion, with $2.9 billion expended to the end of 2005. Approximately 75 per cent of the units were
successfully tested and commissioned by the fourth quarter of 2005 with commissioning and testing of
Coker 8-3, the new primary upgrading unit in Stage 3, scheduled for the end of March 2006. It is
anticipated that production from Coker 8-3 will commence in the second quarter of 2006. We anticipate
that a period of lining out and optimizing the different operating units will be required to ramp up to full
productive capacity of 128 million barrels annually, or 45 million barrels net to the Trust. Average
calendar day run rates under this productive capacity would be approximately 350,000 barrels per day
including the impact of maintenance shutdowns, with higher stream day run rates of over 370,000 barrels
per day achievable and required to offset turnarounds. Under our current outlook, we anticipate exiting
2006 at about 90 per cent of design capacity, or about 315,000 barrels per day allowing for the impact of
shutdowns. :

The Trust also incurred $142 million of capital expenditures in 2005 related to the South West
Quadrant Replacement ("SWQR") project compared to $133 million in 2004. The SWQR is designed to
replace bitumen production from the dragline and bucket-wheel operations in the southwest quadrant of
the Base Mine, which is expected to be exhausted in 2006. The SWQR was essentially completed and
started up successfully during 2005.
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Syncrude also announced in May of 2003 a sulphur emissions reduction project ("SERP") at a
estimated cost of $400 million gross to Syncrude. Following more engineering work, the estimate for
SERP increased to $772 million, or approximately $274 million net to the Trust. The 2003 estimate was
made prior to the completion of detailed technology feasibility and engineering studies. Those studies are
now complete and the project scope is fixed. The emissions reduction project is expected to significantly
reduce total sulphur dioxide emissions as well as other emissions, such as particulate matter and metals. It
will involve retrofitting flue gas scrubbing facilities into the operation of Syncrude's two existing CO
boilers. Procurement and construction expenditures are scheduled to occur following completion of the
Stage 3 expansion and extend into 2009 to tie-in with equipment turnaround schedules. The new coker
that is part of UE-1 already includes a sulphur dioxide reduction unit. These measures, along with the
SERP, are expected to reduce the total sulphur dioxide emissions by up to 60 per cent from today's
approved levels of 250 tonnes per day. Sulphur dioxide emissions are also expected to fall below the new
maximum emission levels that will take effect following the completion of the Syncrude emissions
reduction project.

We have estimated our share of Syncrude's 2006 capital expenditures to total approximately $303
million, of which approximately $106 million will be directed to the Stage 3 expansion and $48 for
SERP. Non-production costs, which consist primarily of development expenditures related to capital
programs, are expected to total approximately $66 million for 2006.

Two additional expansion phases to follow Stage 3 also are in the preliminary scoping phase and
have not been approved nor has the potential fiming and cost of any implementation of such expansions been
determined. The "Stage 3 debottleneck” (formerly known as Stage 4) expansion is expected to be
principally a debottlenecking of the facilities and is expected to increase productive capacity to about 145
million barrels per year (gross to Syncrude). The Stage 4 (formerly Stage 5) expansion is conceptually
another coker and additional mining trains, similar to Stage 3, and could increase productive capacity to
approximately 200 million barrels per year (gross to Syncrude). Stage 3 debottleneck expansion has
received regulatory approval. Stage 3 debottleneck and Stage 4 are preliminary in nature and have not
received Syncrude owner approval.

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Syncrude is a vast and complex operation. The mines and extraction facilities are among the
largest in the world, and the upgrading plants, which could be considered similar in nature to oil
refineries, are also among the largest and most complex in the world. As such, a very strong focus on the
basics of safety, environmental, operational and business excellence is imperative. We refer to these
focus areas collectively as "operational excellence”. In order to achieve the goal of operational
excellence, Syncrude has identified the following objectives: improve the operational reliability of all of
its operations, reduce unit operating costs, increase bitumen and upgrading productive capacity, improve
environmental and energy efficiencies, and capture expansion-related economies of scale. On safety
performance, Syncrude’s track record of excellence is long-standing and compares favourably with some
of the world's best mining and energy companies. In 2005, Syncrude achieved a lost-time injury ("LTI™)
rate of 0.05 per 200,000 workforce hours, including permanent and contract workers, far surpassing
Syncrude's previous best year LTI rate of 0.10 set in 2002. Syncrude's LTI rate is now less than 1/50™ of
the Alberta provincial average of 2.6. Syncrude's safety performance saves it about $0.20 in Workers'
Compensation Board rates for every $100 payroll compared to the industry average.

As with nearly all commodity-based mining and manufacturing operations, the key to excellence

lies in operational reliability and cost management. Syncrude's goals include reliability and cost
performance improvements through the use of structured operating, maintenance, reliability and
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procurement standards. Over the last few years, Syncrude has struggled with reliability and performance
matters at a time when a very complex and large scale construction work was ongoing with the Stage 3
expansion. As completion of Stage 3 is reached, the Syncrude Participants have directed Syncrude
Canada Ltd. to focus on ongoing reliability and performance issues. Reliable operational performance is
key to achieving lower operating costs.

Maintenance work has a key impact on Syncrude's operations and, consequently, on the revenues
that Canadian Oil Sands derives. Maintenance work that occurs during the colder winter season may
experience more time delays and operational issues due to the impact of having to work in extremely cold
weather conditions.

The Syncrude Operations
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Syncrude currently mines oil sands from three mines: the Base Mine and North Mine, located
near the Mildred Lake site, and the Aurora North Mine, located 35 km northeast of the base operations
site. The mining and extraction methodologies utilized at Syncrude have evolved over time as
technological innovation has been continuously introduced. The initial mining operations were based on
the use of very large draglines, bucket-wheel excavators and long conveyor systems. These original
systems have, for the most part, been retired as they were found to be relatively costly to operate and
maintain. The current mining operations utilize very large shovel excavators and mining haul trucks.
This technology, now the standard in the oil sands industry, is known as "truck and shovel" mining. The
larger shovels can excavate 100 tonnes of oil sands in a single pass and the larger haul trucks can carry
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400 tonnes of material from the mine face to the dumping location. A fleet of 15-20 shovels and 70-80
haul trucks are used in the overburden and oil sand ore mining operations at Syncrude.

The Base Mine began operations in 1978, the North Mine in 1997 and Aurora North in 2000. In
2005, the amount of oil sands recovered from the Aurora North mine grew to represent approximately 51
per cent (48 per cent in 2004) of the total oil sands recovered from all three mines combined. The Aurora
North Mine is comprised of Leases 10, 12 and 34. The Aurora North Mine operations use a new generation
of larger 400-tonne trucks and larger shovels. It is anticipated that the Aurora North Mine portion of
bitumen production will continue to increase over the next several years. As part of the transition away
from the Base Mine, two mining systems, each comprised of a dragline, bucketwheel reclaimer and
conveyor system were retired in 1999 and 2002 with another scheduled to retire in 2006. After dragline
mining is complete, remaining oil sands will be recovered by truck and shovel prior to the Base Mine
being decommissioned. In each of the years 2004 and 2005, the Base Mine contributed nine per cent and
10 per cent, respectively, of the total bitumen produced from the Syncrude mines with the North Mine
producing 40 per cent in 2005 and 42 per cent in 2004.

It is important to note that mining operations not only deal with oil sands excavation and delivery
to extraction operations but also with overburden removal and disposition. Overburden is the sand and
clay material found above the oil sand layer in the Athabasca oil sands formations. It must be removed in
order to expose the oil sands bearing layers for mining. In 2005, the total volume of overburden mined
was approximately equal to the volume of oil sand mined, which ratio was essentially unchanged from
2004. The total productive capacity of the mining operation reached 153 million tonnes of oil sands in
2005. This compares to the 2004 actual production of about 171 million tonnes. During 2005, less
material was moved which reflects the lower production of SSB in 2005. '

Since its completion in 2005, the SWQR project has added a supplemental mining system at the
North Mine, feeding the existing Mildred Lake extraction plant; integrated a third material handling train
into the Aurora North mine in addition to the existing two full trains of mining and extraction systems;
increased the effective utilization of the two existing Aurora North bitumen production systems by having
dual mining supply and tailings disposal systems; and provided additional thermal energy sources at Aurora
North by adding a second 80MW gas turbine generator and heat recovery hot water generator.

. Extraction

Historically, all extraction activity occurred at the Mildred Lake plant as the ore was mined
exclusively at the Base Mine. As part of the transition from the Base Mine to the North Mine and
subsequently to the Aurora North Mine, the method of extraction and the location of extraction facilities
has changed.

The ore from the Base Mine is delivered to the Mildred Lake extraction facilities by conveyor
and is then mixed with steam, hot water and caustic soda to produce a slurry at a temperature of
approximately 80°C. This mixing process occurs in large horizontal rotating tumblers that condition the
mixture for separation. This slurry is discharged from the tumblers onto vibrating screens to remove large
rocks and lumps of clay prior to entering the primary separation vessel, where the floated bitumen is
recovered.

At the North Mine, once the ore has left the double roll crusher, it is conveyed to a cyclofeeder
where it is mixed with warm water and caustic soda to produce a slurry with a temperature of
approximately 50°C. The use of warm water in this process as opposed to hot water at Mildred Lake has
led to decreases in energy consumption in this part of the operations. The resulting slurry is screened, and
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the oversized material is rejected for further crushing and reprocessing. The slurry is further conditioned
as it is transported to the Mildred Lake extraction plant via a hydrotransport pipeline where it enters the
primary separation vessels,

The extraction process at the Aurora North Mine is similar to the North Mine, with a few
exceptions. After the ore is crushed in the double roll crusher, it is conveyed to a mixbox where it is
mixed with cooler water to produce a slurry with a temperature of approximately 35°C. Rather than
shipping the oil sands slurry to the Mildred Lake extraction plant, the slurry is transported via a
hydrotransport pipeline to a primary separation vessel located at the Aurora North Mine (approximately
three to five kilometres from the mining area). Here, the sand settles to the bottom of the vessel and is
transferred to the Aurora North Mine's tailings pond and the primary froth rises and is recovered. The
primary froth is then piped to Mildred Lake for further processing.

At the Mildred Lake extraction plant, the Base Mine slurry and the slurry from the North Mine
flow into primary separation vessels and are further treated. The resulting froth is then mixed with the
froth from the Aurora North Mine and diluted with naphtha prior to further processing. A final stage of
separation removes substantially all of the remaining water and clay fines, leaving a relatively clean
bitumen as the feedstock for the upgrader.

The material remaining after the bitumen is extracted from the oil sands consists of water, sand,
fine clay particles and some residual hydrocarbons. This material is sent to a tailings settling basin where
the solids settle to the bottom and the clarified water is recycled for re-use in the extraction process. The
rate at which the fine tailings settle out of the water is extremely slow and is the subject of considerable
research and development activity to identify the most cost effective and environmentally acceptable
disposal method. A new composite tails technology using the mature fine tailings from the settling basin
to create solid, permanent landscapes in mined-out areas became operational at the Mildred Lake site
during 2000. The key tailings research and development initiatives proposed for the next few years
include optimization of the composite tailings process, reclamation of tailings deposits, managing recycle
water chemistry and development of thickened tailings for oil sand application

One of the key performance metrics associated with the extraction operation is known as
"recovery”. Recovery measures the volume of bitumen recovered from the oil sand as a per cent of the oil
that was contained in the oil sand processed in the extraction plants. In 20083, this recovery factor was
approximately 89 per cent. The ratio was approximately 87 per cent in 2004. Improvements in extraction
recovery ratios year-over-year are the result of continuous improvement initiatives undertaken by
Syncrude.

Upgrading

Upgrading is the final stage in which the bitumen is converted into synthetic crude oil. The first
step in upgrading is the removal of the diluent naphtha which was added in the extraction plant. This
naphtha is recycled to the froth treatment plant for re-use. Next, the bitumen is fed through a vacuum
distillation unit in which lighter fractions of hydrocarbons are removed for further processing as discussed
later. The heavier bitumen components are processed in two fluid cokers and one LC Finer. While these
two forms of upgrading bitumen are somewhat different, they have the same intended purpose, namely to
break down the heavier hydrocarbon components into lighter components. The lighter hydrocarbons
separated in the vacuum distillation unit are "by-passed" around the cokers and the LC Finer because they
are already of sufficient quality to be processed directly in secondary upgrading process units. The
vacuum distillation unit had a nominal capacity rating of 180,000 barrels per day of bitumen feed until, in
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the fourth quarter of 2005, its capacity was expanded as part of the Stage 3 expansion to about 285,000
barrels per day.

Fluid coking involves the thermal cracking of bitumen molecules into lighter components. The
by-products of this process include petroleum coke, CO gas and off gas. CO gas is used as fuel in CO
boilers to generate steam and power for the facility. Off gas is used as fuel in the upgrader. The residual
coke produced in the coker is stored in coke cells within the mine and slurried into segregated cells in the
tailings pond. The two fluid cokers have been expanded in capacity over the years and, in 2005, each had
a nominal capacity rating of approximately 105,000 barrels per day of a 50/50 mix of bitumen and
vacuum topped bitumen feed. This capacity was unchanged from the prior year.

The LC Finer involves the cracking of bitumen molecules into lighter components via the
addition of hydrogen and in the presence of a catalyst. This process unit does not convert all of the
bitumen to light products. An unconverted residual stream is also produced and this stream is sent to the
fluid cokers to supplement the feed to those units. In 2005, the LC Finer unit had a nominal capacity
rating of approximately 50,000 barrels per day of a 60/40 mix of bitumen and vacuum topped bitumen
feed. This capacity was unchanged from the prior year.

One of the key performance metrics associated with the upgrading operation is referred to as
"yield". Yield measures the volume of finished products produced per volumetric measure of bitumen
feedstock. In 2005, the upgrading yield was approximately 85 per cent. The 2004 ratio was the same.

The lighter hydrocarbon components produced by the two fluid cokers, the LC Finer, and those
removed in the vacuum distillation unit are then sent to hydroprocessing units for further clean up,
particularly for the removal of sulphur. Hydrotreating involves the removal of sulphur and nitrogen
compounds via the addition of hydrogen and in the presence of a catalyst. The hydrotreated components
are then blended together into sweet synthetic crude oil or SSB. This SSB product contains no residuum
and low sulphur content, providing an attractive feedstock to refineries. The productive capacity of the
upgrader was approximately 90 million barrels of SSB per year in 2005, unchanged from the prior year.
The actual production of SSB in 2005 was 78 million barrels, reflecting the more extensive turnaround
schedule, unplanned outages and Stage 3 integration activities versus the prior year when actual
production of SSB was 87 million barrels.

By the end of 2005, approximately 75 per cent of the UE-1 units were started up and handed over
to operations. During the first half of 2006, construction, commissioning and start up of the remaining
units is planned to be completed and integrated with the current operations. Completing the required re-
vamps of some of the existing units also will be undertaken during the maintenance turnaround of Coker
8-1, which started in mid-February 2006. The extent of work involved in the turnaround of Coker 8-1 is
expected to be more extensive than typical turnarounds as a result of the tie-in of UE-1 units as well as
the additional maintenance work that has been determined to be necessary as of March 15, 2006. Safe
start up and integration of all the plants associated with the UE-1 project and continued safe and reliable
operation of all of the plants, including bitumen production facilities, will be the focus over 2006.

With the start up of the new Stage 3 plants scheduled for mid-2006, the quality of the finished
synthetic crude oil blend, currently designated SSB, will be improved and re-designated SSP, short for
Synthetic Sweet Premium™. SSP is designed to have a diesel centane number of approximately 40, up
from the SSB number of approximately 33, and the jet smoke point of approximately 19, up from the SSB
number of 16.
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Utilities and Offsites

The utilities plants are tasked with producing supplies of steam, electricity, air and water for the
mining, extraction and upgrading plants. These commodities are often generated from fuels and heat
produced as by-products in the major operating areas or from purchased energy sources such as natural
gas or electricity.

Syncrude operates utility plants located both at the base Mildred Lake site and at the Aurora site.
Energy systems are highly integrated at the Mildred Lake site, taking advantage of the heat generated in
the upgraders and moving that energy to the energy-consuming plants in mining and extraction. At
Aurora North, there is no upgrading plant so natural gas is purchased to provide the required utilities.
Syncrude owns and operates two large gas turbine generators at Aurora North to provide both the
required steam and power for the plants.

One of the key performance metrics associated with the integrated Syncrude operation is the
"energy intensity". Energy intensity is measured in many ways in the industry but in Syncrude's case it is
the amount of purchased energy consumed per barrel of SSB. In 2005, the purchased energy intensity
was 0.84 GJ per barrel. This intensity level was approximately 20 per cent higher in 2005 than in 2004
due to several factors. 2004 was a relatively maintenance-free year compared against most years in which
major turnarounds interrupt production for periods of time. 2005 was a year of several unplanned and
planned plant outages and major turnarounds. These events tend to create instability and result in higher
energy requirements. 2005 also saw the commissioning and start up of many of the new UE-1 processing
plants. During these periods, energy is consumed with very little production of crude oil products, thus
the calculated intensity level is high. Finally, in 2005, additional heat (resulting in natural gas purchases)
was supplied to the Aurora North extraction plants in order to increase the extraction recovery
performance of those operations. Per unit purchased energy consumption is expected to remain around
this level following the completion of Stage 3 because bitumen will increasingly be sourced from the
Aurora North mine, which relies mainly on purchased natural gas for its energy needs. Following the
start up of the UE-1 facilities, a higher quality product called Syncrude Sweet Premium (SSP) will be
produced, which also will increase natural gas consumption as more hydrogen is required for the
upgraded product. The cost of purchased energy, including natural gas, accounted for approximately 27
per cent of Syncrude's operating costs in 2005 versus 22 per cent in 2004. Purchased energy costs also
rose as natural gas prices increased 34 per cent to $8.40 per GJ in 2005 from $6.28 per GJ in 2004.

Natural gas, used by Syncrude to fuel operating plants and as feedstock in the production of
hydrogen, is transported to Syncrude from Alberta’'s gas production and transmission infrastructure
through dedicated pipelines. The gas is purchased from producers under various supply contracts to
manage Syncrude's requirements. This pipeline and storage infrastructure has been expanded in the
Athabasca region in recent years to improve the overall deliverability and reliability of the supply system.

Off-sites are generally referred to as those facilities required to support the operation of the main
processing plants. These facilities include product storage tankfarms, waste water collection and handling
systems and flares. Many of these facilities were expanded as part of the Stage 3 expansion project.

Syncrude operates a utility plant at its Mildred Lake site using refinery off gas, produced from the
upgrading operation, augmented with natural gas. When operational and economically desirable,
Syncrude purchases power from, or sells power to, the Alberta electric power grid. Syncrude also owns
an 80-Megawatt gas turbine power plant at the Aurora North mine site that provides electrical and thermal
energy for the Aurora North mine operations. This plant, commissioned in 1999, provides power for the
Aurora North mine's requirements and is connected with the Mildred Lake facilities. The Aurora Thermal
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Block ("ATB") which consists of two hot water generators, has been in operation since mid-2004. The
ATB facilities provide hot water generating capacity at Aurora North and allow the extraction process to
operate at 35°C temperature. Through the implementation of the SWQR project at Aurora North, a
second 80MW gas turbine generator and heat recovery hot water generator were added at the plant site in
2005.

Marketing

Each Syncrude Joint Venture Participant is responsible for marketing its own share of SSB and
associated by-products, such as sulphur. After upgrading, the SSB crude oil is transported to markets in
Canada and the United States through a system of inter-connected pipelines and storage locations. SSB is
sometimes processed in refineries that have been specifically designed to benefit from SSB's unique
properties. More often, however, it is purchased by refiners to blend with other crude oils to form a
feedstock mixture which is suited to their specific refinery configuration. There are approximately 150
refineries in Canada and the United States. Most refineries produce motor gasolines, diesel fuels, heating
oils, and jet fuels. Others, can also produce asphalts, lubricants and petro-chemicals. In 2002, there were
three refineries in or near Edmonton, Alberta which had the capability of taking synthetic crude oil as 25
per cent to 100 per cent of their feedstock. These three refineries consume approximately 160,000 to
170,000 barrels per day of synthetic crude oil.

Significant additions of synthetic crude oil production came on line in 2003 thereby impacting
our point of sale. At the beginning of 2003, Canadian Oil Sands sold about 33 per cent of its SSB to the
refineries in Edmonton but, by the fall of 2003, a larger proportion of volumes were being soid to
refineries in Eastern-Canada and the United States. By the end of 2004, approximately 600,000 barrels
per day of synthetic crude oil production (of which about 470,000 barrels per day was sweet synthetic
crude oil) was available from Syncrude and other oil sands projects from the Fort McMurray, Edmonton
and Hardistry areas in Alberta and the area around Regina, Saskatchewan. In 2005, 74 per cent of our
volumes were sold to Eastern Canada and the United States compared to 70 per cent in 2004 and 67 per
cent in 2003. We expect this trend to continue as more synthetic crude oil comes on stream.

Another market has emerged recently for SSB crude oil. The growing production of bitumen in
Alberta has necessitated the need for additional diluents to thin the tar-like bitumen so that it can be
transported in pipelines. Traditionally, natural gas condensates, a by-product of the natural gas
processing industry, have been the most common hydrocarbon diluent used to thin heavy bitumen for
pumping. However, the growth in natural gas condensate production has not kept pace with the rising
production of bitumen and new forms of diluent have been required. SSB and other synthetic crude oils
have emerged as one of those new sources of diluent. This additional supply of synthetic crude oil has
also resulted in increasing proportions of synthetic crude oil being shipped and sold beyond Edmonton.
A portion of the synthetic crude oil is also being sold in the northern Alberta area as a supply for the
growing diluent market.

The vast array of pipeline and storage systems for the transportation of crude oils across Canada
and the United States has been adequate to move Alberta based products to their intended markets. It is
anticipated that these networks will both be expanded and extended at pace with the take-away capacity
requirements of the growing Alberta based crude oil production in the future. The Spearhead pipeline and
the completion of the ExxonMobil pipeline reversal project in the first half of 2006 will extend the market
reach for Canadian oil production to new customers who previously were unable to access Canadian
crude oil. However, in the near term, and prior to pipeline expansions that are scheduled to be completed
in 2007, the balance between crude supply and capacity out of Western Canada is very tight. Small
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increases to supply or decreases to pipeline capacity could lead to temporary situations of insufficient
capacity that may impact SSB production.

SSB is transported by pipeline from Fort McMurray to Edmonton at which point, our SSB
volumes are transferred to EnCana who currently markets the SSB on behalf of Canadian Oil Sands.
Since mid-2001, EnCana has marketed our share of SSB production pursuant to a marketing agreement.
Under the terms of the agreement, EnCana is entitled to a marketing fee for each barrel of crude or other
liquid crude products sold subject to a minimum fee of $33,333 per month and a reasonable fee in respect
of other oil sands products sold. EnCana is also entitled to be reimbursed for its reasonable out-of-pocket
costs and expenses. The initial term of the marketing agreement ends June 30, 2006 after which we are
planning on marketing our own production. We have renovated our offices and hired additional staff to
accommodate this marketing function. We believe that internalizing marketing will allow us greater
insight into our customer needs and assist in the long term development of product quality and
distribution strategies.

Synthetic crude oil sales contracts are commonly negotiated directly with refiners throughout
North America. Typical contract terms are based on 30, 60 or 90 day arrangements which continue
unless terminated but are occasionally made for one year terms. Synthetic crude oils are priced each
month on the basis of Canadian and U.S. market prices, which reflect the market balance between supply
and demand for crude oil, transportation costs and refined product values.

As additional volumes of synthetic crude oil came into the market in late 2003 and 2004, our
sales were made to a broader group of refineries than was historically the case. In 2004, more of our
production was sold downstream from Edmonton than in the past. The trend continued in 2005. In
response to growing volumes of synthetic crude oil and Syncrude's own expanding volumes following
completion of the Stage 3 expansion, we will need to expand our markets to achieve the premium price
we expect for our quality product. When UE-1 is complete, a new aromatics saturation unit will be used
to upgrade our entire production into a higher quality product called Syncrude Sweet Premium (SSP)™.
This higher quality blend is expected to be more attractive to refineries, which should enhance the price
per barrel that we would be able to realize relative to SSB in the same market environment.

Syncrude also produces sulphur as part of its upgrading process. Currently, the majority of sulphur
produced by Syncrude is stockpiled at Syncrude's Mildred Lake plant site as present market conditions
continue to limit the sale of this by-product at positive margins. Over the past few years, Syncrude has been
exploring the ability to store sulphur blocks underground. Initial information indicates that this may be a
viable and environmentally friendly solution. Syncrude continues to research alternatives for addressing this
issue, which affects other sulphur producers in the petroleum industry. In 2005, Canadian Oil Sands entered
an agreement with a major sulphur marketer to sell our share of Syncrude's sulphur production at a plant gate
market price. The agreement covers an initial five year term, is renewable at Canadian Oil Sands' option,
and provides that volumes will not be sold unless the price exceeds an established plant gate minimum.
Delays in construction of the facilities due to issues relating to the terminal resulted in the contract to be
amended in March 2006. Sales under this contract now are expected to begin near the end of 2007 following
the buyers' construction of infrastructure to handle Canadian Oil Sands' sulphur volumes. Canadian Oil
Sands is also exploring other opportunities to effectively utilize the sulphur. Coke produced by Syncrude
has never been commercially marketed and is stored on Syncrude's site.

Competition

The Canadian and international petroleum industry is highly competitive in all aspects, including
the distribution and marketing of petroleum products. Syncrude competes with other producers of
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synthetic and conventional crude oil. Most of the conventional producers have considerably lower
operating costs but higher finding costs. The petroleum industry also competes with other industries in
supplying energy, fuel and related products to consumers. In particular, the increased focus on oil sands
construction and on oil sands production and mining generally has created shortages in the supply of
skilled labour and certain components such as large truck tires used in mining operations. With the
completion of Stage 3 at hand, we do not expect to face these issues to the same degree as oil sands
projects entering the construction phase but our operations in 2004 and 2005 were impacted by the labour
shortage both on the cost and scheduling aspects relating to Stage 3 and on turnaround activity.
Additionally the rate of labour turnover at Syncrude increased in 2005 compared to 2004. Syncrude
Canada Ltd.'s permanent employee turnover increased from an average of about five per cent pre 2005 to
about nine per cent in 2003, driven largely by the retirement demographics of an aging workforce at
Syncrude Canada Ltd. and the migration of other employees to competing projects.

Seasonal Factors

As the Syncrude Project is located in Northern Alberta, maintenance work during winter months
is often more difficult as the extreme cold temperatures make steel brittle and limit the time that
individuals can work in areas exposed to the elements. Accordingly, this may impact operating costs.
Quarterly variances in revenues, net income, and funds from operations are caused mainly by fluctuations
in crude oil prices, production, unit operating costs, and natural gas prices. A large proportion of
operating costs are fixed, and as such, per barrel operating costs are highly variable with production.
While the supply/demand balance for synthetic crude oil affects selling prices, the impact of this equation
is difficult to predict and quantify and has not displayed significant seasonality. Maintenance and
turnaround activities are typically scheduled to occur in the spring months of the first or second quarter.
However, the exact timing of unit shutdowns cannot always be accurately scheduled, and unplanned
outages do occur. Therefore, production levels also do not display reliable seasonality patterns or trends.
Natural gas prices are typically higher in winter months as heating demand rises, but this seasonality is
significantly influenced by weather conditions.

Environmental Protection

The oil and gas industry in Alberta is subject to extensive controls and regulations. The
regulatory scheme, as it relates to oil sands, is somewhat different from that relating to conventional oil
and gas production. Outlined below are some of the more significant aspects of the legislation and
regulations governing the mining, extraction, upgrading and marketing of oil sands.

Environmental Regulation and Compliance

Oil sands operations, including Syncrude, are subject to environmental regulation pursuant to
provincial and federal legislation. Environmental legislation requires various approvals and provides for
restrictions and prohibitions on releases or emissions of various substances produced or utilized in
association with certain oil and gas industry operations. In addition, legislation requires that facilities and
operating sites be abandoned and reclaimed to the satisfaction of provincial authorities. A breach of such
legislation may result in the imposition of fines and penalties. In Alberta, environmental compliance is
primarily governed by the AEPEA. The AEPEA imposes certain environmental responsibilities on oil
and natural gas operators in Alberta and, in certain instances, also imposes significant penalties for
violations. Syncrude Canada Ltd. has received and presently maintains the requisite environmental
approvals necessary to operate the Syncrude Plant.
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The December 1999 AEUB approval of Syncrude's upgrading expansion application allows
production of 173 million barrels of SSB (or SSP) per year using technology identified in the application.
This permit expires on December 31, 2035.

Syncrude also maintains approvals from AENV regulating the discharge of substances into the air
and water. These approvals were issued with 10 year terms, which is the maximum term permitted by
this legislation. The renewal or modification of approvals generally involves the AENV soliciting the
views of stakeholders (the local community, Aboriginal population and other interested persons).
Renewal or modification of approvals is often conditional, permitting AENV to review the effect of
discharges or the implementation and effectiveness of new technologies. AENV approval for the Aurora
North operations was received in 1998. Syncrude Canada Ltd. received an environmental approval for its
Mildred Lake oil sands processing facilities, Base Mine and North Mine operations until December 31,
2005, which expiry date has been extended to December 31, 2006 when a new AEPEA approval is
expected to be issued, following completion of Stage 3.

Prior to January 1, 2004, Canadian Oil Sands calculated a future site reclamation provision on a
unit-of-production basis using total estimated future reclamation expenditures and proved reserves. The
provision was recorded in net income and accumulated on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as a future site
reclamation liability. Effective January 1, 2004, we now record the discounted estimated fair value of the
future reclamation liability on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as an increase to capital assets and as an
asset retirement obligation. The depreciation expense on the asset and the accretion expense on the
obligation are recorded in depreciation, depletion and accretion expense. At December 31, 2005, the
asset retirement obligation recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet was about $148 million.
Canadian Oil Sands' share of Syncrude cash reclamation expenditures was $2.2 million in 2005 and $2.3
million in 2004 which reduced the liability shown on our balance sheet. A full discussion of our
accounting for the reclamation liability can be found in the notes to our consolidated financial statements
in our 2005 annual report.

Syncrude Participants, including Canadian Oil Sands, are liable for their share of ongoing
environmental obligations for the ultimate reclamation of the Syncrude Joint Venture. The asset
retirement obligation, or ARO, represents the present value estimate of Canadian Oil Sands' share of these
costs for the mine and extraction facilities. :

In 2005, Syncrude updated its estimate of future reclamation costs for the mines and extraction
facilities. Based on Syncrude Canada Ltd.'s revised estimates of future reclamation costs, we anticipate
the future undiscounted reclamation costs for the Syncrude Project's total proved plus probable reserves to
be approximately $1.9 billion (in 2005 dollars), of which our 35.49 per cent share was approximately $0.7
billion as at December 31, 2005 compared to prior years' estimates of $1.0 billion gross to Syncrude or $0.4
billion net to Canadian Oil Sands. The 2005 revision took into account the extension of operations onto
the Aurora Leases, monitoring requirements, reclamation of the expanded plant site and related
infrastructure as well as additional costs related to replacement of soil. A full discussion of our
accounting for the reclamation liability can be found in notes to our consolidated financial statements in
our 2003 annual report.

Annually, Syncrude Canada Ltd. is required to post with the AENV an irrevocable letter of credit
equal in amount to $0.03 per barrel of SSB produced from the Base Mine plus estimated reclamation
costs relating to the Aurora Mine since inception of the Syncrude Project to secure the ultimate
reclamation obligations of the Syncrude Participants. Each of the Syncrude Participants was required to
guarantee its pro-rata share of this letter of credit to the issuing bank or alternatively, to provide its own
letter of credit to AENV for such Syncrude Participant's pro-rata share. Since 2004, the Syncrude
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Participants have elected to post their own letters of credit rather than having Syncrude Canada Ltd. post
such letter of credit. As a result, in 2005 Canadian Oil Sands posted letters of credit with the Province of
Alberta in the amount of $42 million compared to $38 million in 2004, to secure its pro rata share of the
ultimate reclamation obligations of the Syncrude Participants.

In 2004, actual site reclamation expenditures for Syncrude Canada Ltd. totaled $6.4 million and
approximately 320 hectares of land were reclaimed. In 2003, site reclamation expenditures for Syncrude
Canada Ltd. totaled $6.1 million and approximately 305 hectares of land were reclaimed. Syncrude's
long term plan is to return the land to a stable, biologically self-sustaining condition with a vision of
creating an area of forest, parklands and lakes. As at December 31, 2005, since 1978 Syncrude had
reclaimed more than 4,300 hectares of the land affected by its operation and planted approximately 4
million trees and shrubs in the Athabasca area. A significant portion of the land that had been tracked and
mined by Syncrude and which has been reclaimed, is used as a grazing ground for more than 300 wood
bison.

In addition to posting a letter of credit for its share of reclamation with the AENV, Canadian Oil
Sands currently pays $0.1322 for each barrel of SSB produced and attributable to our 35.49 per cent
working interest to a mining reclamation trust to fund our share of reclamation obligations for the
Syncrude Project. Since 2002, we have the right to adjust the amount deposited in the mining reclamation
trust from time to time as estimates of final reclamation costs change. Canadian Oil Sands and each of
the other Syncrude Participants are liable for their share of ongoing environmental obligations for the
ultimate reclamation of the Syncrude Joint Venture on abandonment. We have accumulated (including
interest earned on contributions), in the reclamation trust, $25 million towards future reclamation. In
2004, this amount was $21 million.

The construction and operation of a large oil sands project such as Syncrude presents many
environmental challenges. Responsible environmental management is a priority of the Syncrude
Participants. The technical and managerial challenges to date have been addressed by Syncrude Canada
Ltd. through many years of investment in research and the development of advanced management
systems. Syncrude Canada Ltd. continues to seek ways to improve and reduce the cost of reclamation.
Syncrude Canada Ltd. has never been assessed a significant fine or received any government control
order regarding an environmental concern at Syncrude. Syncrude Canada Ltd. believes that it is in
compliance with all material environmental requirements.

The Syncrude Participants support the voluntary reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, such as
carbon dioxide, in the context of promoting energy efficiency. Syncrude Canada Ltd. is focused on
reducing both energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions per barrel of SSB produced rather than
purchasing offsets or credits. Syncrude Canada Ltd. participates in the Cumulative Environmental
Management Association and other organizations concerned with environmental, Aboriginal and
community development matters.

Canada and more than 160 other nations are signatories to the 1992 United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change, which is intended to limit emissions of carbon dioxide and other
"greenhouse gases" that may be contributing to the suspected increase in mean global temperature. In
December 1997, 39 industrialized nations that signed the Convention, including Canada, established the
Kyoto Protocol which contained a binding set of emission targets for developed nations that is intended to
result in the reduction of greenhouse gases. The average reduction in greenhouse gas emissions required
from all 39 signatories is 5.2 per cent from 1990 emission levels, to be achieved between 2008 and 2012,
although specific emission targets vary from country to country. Canada, for example, would be required
to reduce emissions by six per cent from 1990 levels.
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On July 23, 2001, at the Sixth Conference of Parties on Climate Change in Bonn, Germany, a
broad political agreement was reached on the operational rulebook for the 1997 Kyoto Protocol.
Following this political agreement, the federal government of Canada undertook some consultations with
provincial and territorial governments. In late 2002, the federal government ratified the Kyoto Protocol.
In response to comments from provincial governments and various stakeholders, the federal government
has provided some parameters for implementing the Kyoto Protocol. The targets for emission intensity
reductions have been capped at 15 per cent of emissions based on current business plans (which in our
case includes the Stage 3 expansion) and the cost of the carbon credits has been limited to $15 per tonne.
Based on these parameters, we have estimated the cost impact that the Kyoto Protocol could have on
operations is about $0.30 per barrel (in 2002 dollars) from 2008 to 2012. With the Russian government's
ratification of the Kyoto Protocol in 2004, such Protocol is now in effect. However, numerous
uncertainties regarding details of the Kyoto Protocol's implementation remain outstanding, thereby
making it difficult to ascertain the cost estimate, including third party costs related to the Kyoto Protocol
from Syncrude's suppliers of goods and services. Additionally, in 2005, various foreign governments
questioned the ability of countries to achieve the targets set under the Kyoto Protocol. While the
Canadian federal government introduced some legislation on the implementation of the Kyoto Protocol,
the legislation and cost impacts of such legislation remain unclear. We continue to work through industry
associations such as the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers and directly with the Alberta
provincial and federal governments to develop a cost effective plan to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.
Costs associated with compliance beyond 2012 have not yet been determined.

Regulation of Operations

In Alberta, the regulation of oil sands operations is undertaken by the AEUB, which derives its
jurisdiction from the Oil Sands Conservation Act. In addition to requiring certain approvals prior to the
operation of an oil sands project, the Qil Sands Conservation Act allows the AEUB to inspect and
investigate oil sands operations and, where a practice employed or a facility used in respect of the oil
sands operations does not meet operating criteria recovery targets, to make remedial orders. Certain
changes to an oil sands operation also require the approval of the AEUB.

Land Tenure

Oil from oil sands is produced under oil sands leases granted by the Province of Alberta. Such
leases have initial terms which vary in length but generally are for 15 years. Although the terms of future
leases may vary, the current Syncrude leases have, for the most part, 15-year terms. If production
attributable to a lease exceeds the minimum production thresholds set forth in the lease, it automatically
renews at the end of each term. In addition, leases renew automatically if a development plan for a
project involving the lease has been approved by the Minister of Energy and is being pursued by the
lessor. In 1997, the Province of Alberta approved the continuation of the four Aurora leases (being leases
10, 12, 31 and 34) based on the Syncrude Project development plan, including the Aurora project, and so
long as such plan and approval is in effect and being followed, the Aurora leases will continue to renew at
the end of each term. In 1999, Syncrude Canada Ltd. received confirmation that Leases 29 and 30 are
also included for tenure purposes within the Syncrude Project development plan. In 2002, Leases 17 and
22 were continued under section 13 of the Qil Sands Tenure Regulations AR. 50/2000 for an indefinite
term with a production status.

-2



Royalties and Taxes

The Province of Alberta imposes royalties of varying rates on the production of crude oil from
lands where it owns the mineral rights. The products recovered by Syncrude are subject to a royalty
which is payable to the Alberta Government.

In January 2002, following the conclusion of a transition period, the Syncrude Participants
commenced paying royalties under Oil Sands Royalty Regulations 1997. This legislation stipulates that
the Province of Alberta will receive the greater of one per cent of the gross revenues after transportation
costs and 25 per cent of the net revenues. The net revenues for any year are generally equal to the excess
of gross revenues over allowed transportation, operating and non-production costs, capital expenditures
and deemed interest expense and any unutilized carry forward deductions from previous years. In 2005
and 2004, due to the large capital expenditures for Stage 3, the minimum payment of one per cent of gross
revenues was paid to the Alberta government. Crown royalties were slightly higher in 2005 than 2004,
predominantly as a result of the increase in gross revenues. As Syncrude nears the end of its Stage 3
expansion and capital expenditures are reduced, we expect to begin incurring royalties at the higher 25
per cent rate early in 2006. The generic Oil Sand Royalty regime supports the development of Alberta's
oil sands and we acknowledge the role this regime has played in enabling us to proceed with the
expansion of Syncrude's facilities. The Province of Alberta and investors in the Trust are now positioned
to benefit from the expected growth in Syncrude's production. As of December 31, 2005, Canadian Oil
Sands' share of carry forward deductions was $0.2 billion. Currently, this royalty is paid on an SSB
production basis rather than on a bitumen produced basis.

Taxation of Syncrude related income follows normal resource industry practices but with a few
important differences. As Syncrude is a mining operation, there are certain provisions that are unique, such
as the accelerated rate of deduction (100 per cent) for class 41(a) assets which applies to new mines or a
major expansion of an existing mine where there is a 25 per cent or greater increase in mine capacity.
Effective March 6, 1996, mining and oil sands operations, which have made capital expenditures in excess
of five per cent of gross revenue in a fiscal year, also will be eligible for the accelerated rate of deduction
(100 per cent) for such expenditures over the five per cent threshold included in class 41 (a.1).

Employees

Canadian Oil Sands Limited employs fifteen full-time employees, one of whom is currently on
maternity leave, along with one consultant. The Trust has no employees.

At the end of 2005, Syncrude Canada Ltd. employed approximately 4,330 people, all of whom
were non-unionized. While it is believed that Syncrude Canada Ltd. will remain non-unionized, no
assurance can be given that the workforce will not become unionized.

Syncrude Canada Ltd. also uses the services of various outside contractors to provide contract
maintenance support for certain areas of the Syncrude Plant. Additional contractors also are required
during shutdowns, maintenance work and major capital construction. Most of the workers employed by
these contractors are unionized. Labour stability of the unionized contractor work force is maintained
through a number of industry and site-wide agreements, which set labour rates and working conditions for
unionized trade workers engaged in construction and maintenance activities at various projects in Alberta,
including the Syncrude Plant. As part of the Stage 3 expansion, the use of contractors for construction
continued in 2005, with an average of approximately 6,500 contractors on site in 2005. The number of
contractors on site in early 2005 was higher than in 2004 but in late 2005 and early 2006 the number of
contractors has been significantly reduced as the final completion and testing phase of Stage 3
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commenced. Once Stage 3 construction is completed, it is anticipated that Syncrude staffing will increase
to a level around 4,600.

RISK FACTORS
A substantial and extended decline in oil prices would have an adverse effect on Canadian Oil Sands

The financial condition, operating results and future growth of Canadian Oil Sands are substantially
dependent on prevailing prices of oil. Prices for oil are subject to large fluctuations in response to relatively
minor changes in the supply of and demand for oil, market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors
beyond the control of Canadian Qil Sands. Prices may be influenced by global and regional supply and
demand factors. These factors include: weather conditions in Canada and the United States; the condition of
the Canadian, U.S. and global economies; the actions of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries;
governmental regulation; political stability in the Middle East and elsewhere; war, or the threat of war, in oil
producing regions; the foreign supply of oil; the price of foreign imports and the availability of alternate fuel
sources. All of these factors are beyond our control and can result in a high degree of price volatility not
only in crude oil and natural gas prices, but also fluctuating price differentials between heavy and light
grades of crude oil, which can impact prices for SSB. Qil prices have fluctuated widely in recent years and
we expect continued volatility and uncertainty in crude oil prices. A prolonged period of low crude oil
prices could affect the value of our crude oil properties and the level of spending on growth projects and
could result in curtailment of production. Accordingly, low crude oil prices in particular could have an
adverse impact on our financial condition and liquidity and results of operations. In view of the higher fixed
operating costs of Syncrude Canada Ltd., the operating margin is very sensitive to oil prices. Any
substantial and extended decline in the price of oil could have an adverse effect on the revenues, profitability
and funds from operations of Canadian Qil Sands and may affect the ability of Canadian Qil Sands to pay
distributions, and to repay its debt obligations.

While the Syncrude Project has not been shut down by the Syncrude Participants since
production commenced in 1978, a prolonged period of abnormally low oil prices could result in the
Syncrude Participants deciding to suspend production. Any such suspension of production could expose
Canadian Oil Sands to significant additional expense and could negatively impact our ability to pay
distributions and to repay our debt obligations.

Canadian Oil Sands may be impacted by the complexity of integrating a major project into existing
operations

There are certain risks associated with the execution of Syncrude's major projects, including
without limitation, Stage 3 as well as Stage 3 debottleneck and Stage 4. These risks include: our ability to
obtain the necessary environmental and other regulatory approvals; risks relating to schedule, resources
and costs, including the availability and cost of materials, equipment and qualified personnel, especially
skilled construction and engineering labour; the impact of general economic, business and market
conditions; the impact of weather conditions; our ability to finance growth if commodity prices were to
stay at low levels for an extended period; the impact of new entrants to the oil sands business which could
take the form of competition for skilled people, increased demands on the Fort McMurray, Alberta
infrastructure (for example, housing, roads and schools) and price competition for products sold into the
marketplace; and the effect of changing government regulation and public expectations in relation to the
impact of oil sands development on the environment. The commissioning and integration of new facilities
and the execution of major projects within an operating plant present issues that require risk management.
There are also risks associated with project cost estimates and scheduling provided by us. Some cost
estimates are provided at the conceptual stage of projects and prior to completion of the final design scope
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and detailed engineering needed to reduce the margin of error. Accordingly, actual costs can vary from
estimates and these differences can be material.

The petroleum industry and energy sector are highly competitive

The Canadian and international petroleum industry is highly competitive in all aspects, including
the distribution and marketing of petroleum products. The Syncrude Project competes with other
producers of crude oil, most of whom have considerably lower operating costs. Also, an increasing
supply of synthetic crude oil came on stream in recent years and is expected to further be increased in
2006 and beyond. If and when these other projects are completed, there will be a significant increase to
the supply of synthetic crude oil in the market. There is no guarantee there will be sufficient demand to
absorb the increased supply without eroding the selling price, which could result in a deterioration of the
price differential that Canadian Oil Sands may realize compared to benchmark prices such as WTI. Also,
prices may decline to such an extent that our share of Syncrude's production is no longer economically
viable. In response to growing volumes of synthetic crude oil and Syncrude's own expanding volumes
following the Stage 3 completion, we likely will have to expand our markets to achieve the premium price
we expect for our quality product. Currently, heavy crude oil producers are shipping bitumen to U.S.
refineries by adding condensate, which is in limited supply. However, with the increased supply of
synthetic crude oil, we may obtain lower net realized revenues and may need to sell our product further
from the source of production. This will increase transportation costs and accordingly the net realized
selling price for our product. The petroleum industry also competes with other industries in supplying
energy, fuel and related products to consumers.

In addition, the competition for skilled labour in the Fort McMurray area has put pressure on
recruiting, training and retaining the necessary manpower to operate Syncrude's facilities effectively and
efficiently. To help provide an adequate supply of trained labour in its operations in the future, Syncrude
Canada Ltd. supports local Aboriginal communities, colleges, universities, trade schools and various
levels of government to help people develop the skills and knowledge they need to enter the workforce.
Syncrude Canada Ltd. is one of the largest employers of Aboriginal people in Canada. In addition,
Syncrude Canada Ltd. recruits extensively across Canada and around the world to bring new workers to
the region.

The increase in world mining and manufacturing activity of the past two years has caused longer
procurement lead times for many materials used in the Syncrude operation. This has required Syncrude
to place even more emphasis on maintenance planning and scheduling activities, with special attention to
ensure adequate spare parts inventories are on hand at all times. Still, certain suppliers have been
challenged to keep ahead of the surge in demand for maintenance and operating materiais. Large haul
truck tires are a good example. If Syncrude cannot obtain the required tires and other materials in its
operations, production will be impacted and correspondingly, the sales volumes and funds from
operations for Canadian Oil Sands would be negatively impacted.

Pipeline transportation and delivery infrastructure issues may cause an adverse impact on Canadian
Qil Sands' results

All of our Syncrude production is transported to Edmonton, Alberta through the Athabasca Oil
Sands Pipeline Limited ("AOSPL") system. Disruptions in service on this system could adversely affect
our crude oil sales and cash flows. The AOSPL system feeds into various other crude oil pipelines that
are used to deliver our SSB product to refinery customers throughout Canada and the United States.
Interruptions in the availability of these pipeline systems may limit the ability to deliver production
volumes and could adversely impact sales volumes or the prices received for our product. These
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interruptions may be caused by the inability of the pipeline to operate, or they can be related to capacity
constraints as the supply of feedstock into the system exceeds the infrastructure capacity. While we
believe long-term take-away capacity will exceed production growth for synthetic supply out of the
Athabasca region, there can be no certainty that investments will be made to provide this capacity, There
is also no certainty that short-term operational constraints will not arise as current capacity is believed to
be tight. In particular, the second quarter of 2006 is expected to have significant pipeline constraints as
refineries in Edmonton undergo turnarounds, thereby forcing more synthetic crude oil to be shipped
beyond Edmonton and further south. 1In addition, planned or unplanned shutdowns of our refinery
customers may limit our ability to deliver our SSB crude oil with negative implication on sales and cash
flow.

We limit exposure to these risks by allocating deliveries to multiple customers via multiple
pipelines. We also maintain knowledge of the infrastructure operational issues and expansion proposals
through industry organizations in order to assess and respond to delivery risks.

Marketing and transportation of synthetic crude oil

A significant volume of production from the Syncrude Project is sold beyond Edmonton, Alberta
into Eastern Canada and the United States. As such, pipeline access and capacity, transportation tariffs and
price differentials with competing products are all factors which can affect sales volumes for SSB as well as
netbacks received by Canadian Oil Sands for our share of production.

Over the next five years, planned oil sands and heavy oil projects, including the Stage 3 expansion,
could result in approximately 500,000 barrels per day of additional synthetic crude oil entering the market,
some of which may be used for diluent. There can be no assurance that existing transportation systems will
be sufficient to handle this additional production or that new transportation systems will be built in time or at
all,

Canadian Oil Sands has financial exposure to foreign currency exchange rates

Crude oil prices are generally based on a U.S. dollar market price, while operating and capital costs
are primarily in Canadian dollars. In addition, Canadian Oil Sands makes interest payments in U.S. dollars
on its U.S. dollar denominated debt and funds its share of Syncrude's U.S. dollar vendor payments.
Fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. and Canadian dollar give rise to foreign currency exchange
exposure. Consequently, exchange rate movements can have a significant impact on results. To manage its
exposure to currency fluctuations, Canadian Oil Sands has, in the past, entered into currency exchange
contracts, Canadian dollar denominated crude oil forward contracts and issued debt securities in U.S. dollars.
The use of financial instruments involves a degree of credit risk.

To the extent that Canadian Oil Sands issues debt securities denominated in foreign currencies,
such an investment may entail significant risks that are not associated with a similar investment in a
security denominated in Canadian dollars. Such risks include, without limitation, the possibility of
significant changes in rates of exchange between the Canadian dollar and the various foreign currencies
and the possibility of the imposition of currency controls by either the Canadian or foreign governments.
These risks will vary depending upon the currency or currencies involved.
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Canadian Qil Sands will not be economically viable if reserves from the Syncrude Project cannot be
economically produced and marketed

Market fluctuations of crude oil prices may render uneconomic the mining, extraction and upgrading
of oil sands reserves containing relatively lower grades of bitumen. Moreover, short-term factors relating to
the oil sands reserves, such as the need for orderly development of ore bodies or the processing of new or
different grades of ore, may impair the profitability of a mine and upgrading facility in any particular
accounting period.

Canadian Oil Sands will not be economically viable if reserves from the Syncrude Project cannot be
economically produced and marketed.

There are a number of risks particular to the Syncrude operations that could have a material adverse
impact on Canadian Oil Sands

Currently, our interest in the Syncrude Project is our only material asset. The Syncrude Project is a
single inter-related and inter-dependent facility. The shutdown of one part of the Syncrude Project could
significantly impact the production of synthetic crude oil. Since essentially the sole source of income to
Canadian Oil Sands is the sale of synthetic crude oil, a shutdown may reduce, or even eliminate our cash
flow. In addition, we are exposed to the risks associated with major construction projects, such as the Stage
3 expansion. Such risks include the chance of the project not being completed on time and/or not reaching
design capacity. Also, complications could arise when new systems are integrated with existing systems and
facilities. The risk of such complications is somewhat mitigated by Syncrude's procedures of performing a
sequenced start up of new units. However, there can be no assurance that the Syncrude Project will produce
synthetic crude oil in the quantities or at the cost anticipated, or that it will not cease producing entirely in
certain circumstances. Operating costs to produce synthetic crude oil are substantially higher than operating
costs to produce conventional crude oil. An increase in operating costs could have a materially adverse
effect on Canadian Oil Sands, our net income and funds from operations.

The Syncrude Project is located in a remote area, and is serviced by one all-weather road. In the
event that the road is closed due to climatic conditions or other factors, Syncrude Canada Ltd. may encounter
difficulties in obtaining materials required for it to continue production.

The production of synthetic crude oil requires high levels of investment and has particular economic
risks, such as settling basin dyke failures, fires, explosions, gaseous leaks, spills and migration of harmful
substances, any of which can cause personal injury, damage to property, equipment and the environment,
and result in the interruption of operations. Some of these risks cannot be insured.

Syncrude Canada Ltd. produces and stores significant amounts of sulphur in sulphur blocks at its
plant site as there is presently a limited market for the sulphur. There can be no assurance that future
environmental regulations pertaining to the use, storage, handling and/or sale of sulphur will not adversely
impact the unit costs of production of synthetic crude oil.

Canadian Oil Sands may not have capital sufficient to fund all required capital expenditures; capital
projects may experience significant cost overruns

Canadian Oil Sands and the other Syncrude Participants will continue to make substantial capital
expenditures for the mining of oil sands and production of synthetic crude oil. There is no assurance that
capital cost overruns will not occur or that investments will deliver the production increases expected by
design or that start up will occur as expected. Canadian Oil Sands has credit facilities available to assist it in
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funding capital expenditures in excess of funds from operations. However, it is expected that access to
public debt and equity markets may be required from time to time. There can be no assurance that such
public debt and equity markets would be available to Canadian Oil Sands.

Canadian Qil Sands could experience an inability to meet debt service amounts

The ability of Canadian Oil Sands to meet our debt service obligations will depend on the future
operating performance and financial results of Syncrude, which will be primarily subject to factors
beyond our control, including, among others, requirements to fund our pro rata share of operating costs
and capital expenditures which may exceed revenue received from the sale of our pro rata share of SSB.
If we are unable to obtain sufficient cash to service our debt, we may be required to refinance all or a
portion of our debt, obtain additional financing or sell certain of our assets. There can be no assurance
that any such refinancing would be possible or that any additional financing could be obtained on
acceptable terms, nor can there be any assurance as to the timing of any such asset sales or the proceeds
which could be realized therefrom.

Canadian Oil Sands is subject to environmental legislation in all jurisdictions in which it operates and
any changes in such legislation could negatively affect its results of operations

Each of the Syncrude Participants is liable for its share of ongoing environmental obligations and for
the ultimate reclamation of the Syncrude Project site upon abandonment. Ongoing environmental
obligations have been, and are expected to continue to be, funded out of the revenues from our sales of SSB.

The Syncrude Project is a significant producer of sulphur dioxide and carbon dioxide emissions.
While the amount of both sulphur dioxide and carbon dioxide produced has been decreasing on a per barrel
basis, the overall amount of sulphur dioxide and carbon dioxide has increased due to generally increasing
production volumes. Presently, sulphur dioxide emissions are at or near permitted levels which may require
managed coker feed rates. Further, no assurance can be given that existing or future environmental
regulations will not adversely impact the ability of the Syncrude Project to operate at present levels or
increase production, or that such regulations will not result in higher unit costs of production.

Syncrude Canada Ltd. announced in 2003 that it intends to both design and install a sulphur dioxide
scrubbing system, referred to as the Syncrude emissions reduction project, which is designed to reduce the
amount of sulphur dioxide produced on a per barrel basis and absolute amount. These reductions would be
in addition to any reductions in sulphur dioxide emissions which are expected to result from implementation
of the Stage 3 expansion plan. At the present time, there is no requirement under the AEPEA or the terms of
Syncrude Canada Ltd.'s current environmental approvals to install any additional or replacement sulphur
dioxide scrubbing system, but Syncrude plans on installing such a system. However, there can be no
assurance that requirements for installation of a different system will not come into existence in the future or
that any system which may be selected in anticipation of, or in response to, any such requirements will
effectively lower sulphur dioxide emissions to desired or required levels. Current estimates of the total cost
of the SERP portion of the sulphur dioxide redirected scrubbing system total approximately $772 million,
with Canadian Oil Sands' share being approximately $274 million. Until completion of the SERP, there can
be no assurance that the total costs will not exceed current estimates.

Syncrude also produces a significant volume of fine tailings, which are presently held in a settling
basin. Upon cessation of production, the settling basin will be required to be reclaimed.
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Continued high natural gas prices or increases in natural gas prices or shortages in the supply of
natural gas could have an adverse effect on Canadian Oil Sands

The financial condition, operating results and future growth of Canadian Oil Sands is
substantially affected by the price of natural gas. Natural gas is used in material quantities as a feed stock
at the Syncrude Project for the production of hydrogen and as a fuel for the generation of heat, steam and
power. The price of natural gas is subject to large variations based on supply and demand for natural gas
in North America. Syncrude Canada Ltd. and Canadian Oil Sands have no control over such prices. A
prolonged period of high natural gas prices or a material increase in natural gas prices could have an
adverse effect on the profitability and funds from operations of Canadian Qil Sands. Additionally, in
Alberta, there could be a restriction on the amount of natural gas available in the future, which would
impact production and the operating costs for Canadian Oil Sands.

On an energy equivalent basis, we are only about one-eighth as sensitive to natural gas prices as
we are to crude oil prices.

The implementation of the Kyoto Protocol could increase Syncrude's operating costs

The Kyoto Protocol came into effect on February 16, 2005. As yet, however, no specific details
regarding its implementation in Canada have been made by the federal government. The Canadian federal
government previously provided some parameters for implementing the Kyoto Protocol. Total annual
emissions for large industrial emitters has been capped at 55 megatonnes, emissions have been targeted to be
reduced by 15 per cent from 2003 business as usual levels, and the cost of a carbon credit has been limited to
$15 per tonne. Based on these parameters, in 2003, we provided an initial estimated direct cost impact of
around $0.30 per barrel (in 2003 dollars) from 2008 to 2012 on Syncrude's operating costs for implementing
the Kyoto Protocol. However, numerous uncertainties regarding details of the Kyoto Protocol's
implementation remain that make it difficult to ascertain the cost estimate, including when third party costs
related to the Kyoto Protocol factor their way into Syncrude's supply chain of goods and services. There is
no assurance that the actual cost impact to Canadian Oil Sands of the Kyoto Protocol will not be
significantly higher, which could result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition or our results
of operation.

The Syncrude Project's operations are subject to extensive government regulation; the costs of
compliance with additional government regulation and the cancellation of government licenses could
have an adverse effect on Canadian Oil Sands

The Syncrude Project's mining, extraction, upgrading and utilities activities are subject to extensive
Canadian federal, provincial and local laws and regulations governing exploration, development,
transportation, production, exports, labour standards, occupational health, waste disposal, protection and
redemption of the environment, safety, hazardous materials, toxic substances and other matters. We believe
that Syncrude Canada Ltd. is in substantial compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.
Amendments to current laws and regulations governing operations and activities of mining and refining
companies and the more stringent implementation thereof are actively considered from time to time and the
implementation thereof could have a material adverse impact on the Syncrude Project. There can be no
assurance that the various government licenses granted to the Syncrude Project will not be cancelled or will
be renewed upon expiry or that income tax laws and government incentive programs relating to the
Syncrude Project, and the mining and oil and gas industries generally, will not be changed in a manner
which may adversely affect Canadian Oil Sands. The Syncrude Project facility approval granted by the
AEUB expires on December 31, 2035 unless extended.
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Nature of Trust Units

Units do not represent a traditional investment in the oil and natural gas sector and should not be
viewed by investors as shares in a corporation. Units represent a fractional interest in a trust. As holders of
Units, Unitholders will not have all the statutory rights normally associated with ownership of shares of a
corporation including, for example, the right to bring "oppression" or "derivative" actions. The market price
of the Units will be sensitive to a variety of market conditions including, but not limited to, crude oil prices,
interest rates and the ability of the Trust to develop and produce its reserves. Changes in market conditions,
especially fluctuations in the level of crude oil prices, may adversely affect the trading price of the Units.

Certain aspects relating to oil and gas reserve data and future net revenue estimates are uncertain

The reserve figures contained or incorporated by reference into this Annual Information Form are
estimates and no assurance can be given that the indicated level of recovery of SSB will be realized.
Reserves estimated for properties that have not yet commenced production may require revision based on
actual production experience. Such figures have been determined based upon the term of the operating
permit, plant processing capacity and estimates of yield and recovery factors as well as estimates of bitumen
in place. All such estimates are to some degree uncertain, and classifications of reserves are only attempts to
define the degree of uncertainty involved. For these reasons, estimates of the economically recoverable oil
and gas reserves, prepared by different engineers or by the same engineers at different times, may vary.
Canadian Oil Sands' actual production, revenues and development and operating expenditures with respect
to its reserves may vary from such estimates. As well, the estimates of future net revenues are dependent on
estimates of future capital and operating costs. Variances to actual costs may be significant. As such, these
estimates are subject to variations due to changes in the economic environment at the time and variances in
future budgets and operating plans.

The reserves included in the reserve data are calculated in accordance with Canadian practices. The
SEC rules for reserves determination are different from the Canadian rules and are not directly comparable
to Canadian practices. In addition, the procedures used to estimate reserves from the Syncrude Project are
not comparable to the procedures used to estimate conventional reserves.

Changes in the fiscal regime between the Province of Alberta and the Syncrude Project could affect
Canadian Oil Sands' profitability

Our results of operations are directly affected by the fiscal regime applicable to the Syncrude
Project. In addition, the generic Crown royalty system entitles the Province of Alberta to a royalty payment
equivalent to the greater of one per cent of gross revenue after transportation costs and 25 per cent of gross
revenue after deducting applicable transportation, operating, non-production and capital expenditures. There
can be no assurance that the Canadian federal government and the Province of Alberta will continue the
regime currently in place in the future.

Certain decisions regarding the operation of the Syncrude Project require agreement among the other
Syncrude Participants

The Syncrude Project is a joint venture currently owned by eight Syncrude Participants, including
the Corporation and the LP. Each Syncrude Participant's voting interest is equal to its pro rata interest in the
Syncrude Project. Certain decisions regarding the operations of the Syncrude Project require majority
agreement among the Syncrude Participants and some fundamental decisions require unanimity. Canadian
Oil Sands, through the Corporation and the LP, has two representatives on the Syncrude Management
Committee, which is a committee of the Syncrude Participants that determines the oversight of the Syncrude
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Joint Venture. Future plans of the Syncrude Project will depend on such agreement and may depend on the
financial strength and views of the other Syncrude Participants at the time such decisions are made.

Canadian Oil Sands cannot provide unequivocal assurance that it is not a passive foreign investment
corporation for U.S. tax purposes

While Canadian Oil Sands has obtained independent advice that the better view is that it is not a
passive foreign investment corporation for U.S. tax purposes, we cannot provide unequivocal assurance that
U.S. tax regulators will not take a different view. The Corporation, as the Trust's operating subsidiary, has
employees that are actively engaged in managing the Trust's investment in Syncrude and also market
Canadian Oil Sands' SSB through a third party contractor and, starting in the second half of 2006, through its
own employees. However, if U.S. authorities view this activity as "passive", then Unitholders residing in the
United States may be subject to additional taxes and filings as a result of such determination.

Unitholders may have liability beyond their investment in limited circumstances

Canadian Oil Sands' Trust Indenture provides that no Unitholder will be subject to any liability in
connection with the Trust or its obligations and affairs or for any act or omission of the Trustee, provided
that in the event that a court determines Unitholders are subject to any such liabilities, the liabilities will be
enforceable only against, and will be satisfied only out of, the Trust's assets. In addition, the Trust Indenture
states that no Unitholder is liable to indemnify the Trustee or any other person for any liabilities incurred by
the Trustee, including with respect to taxes payable by the Trust or the Trustee, and all such liabilities will be
enforced only against, and will be satisfied only out of, the Trust's assets. The Trust Indenture also provides
that all contracts entered into by or on behalf of the Trust should generally contain a provision or be subject
to an acknowledgement to the effect that the obligations of the Trust thereunder will not be binding upon
Unitholders personally and that such provisions and acknowledgement shall be held in trust and enforced by
the Trustee for the benefit of the Unitholders.

Effective July 1, 2004, the Alberta government implemented section 2(1) of the Income Trust
Liability Act, which specifically provides that beneficiaries, as beneficiaries, are not liable for any act,
default, obligation or liability of the trustee of any Alberta income trust. Canadian Oil Sands is an Alberta
income trust. However, a Unitholder who has been actively involved in the direction or management of the
Trust beyond voting Units at Unitholder meetings may incur liability beyond their investment.

In conducting its affairs, Canadian Oil Sands has assumed certain existing contractual obligations
and may have to do so in the future. Although we will use reasonable efforts to have any contractual
obligations modified so as not to have such obligations binding upon any of the Unitholders personally, we
may not obtain such modification in all cases. To the extent that any claims under such contracts are not
satisfied by Canadian Oil Sands, there is a risk that a Unitholder may be held personally liable for
obligations of Canadian Oil Sands where the liability is not disavowed as described above.

RESERVES DATA AND OTHER INFORMATION

In 2003, Canadian Securities Administrators implemented new standards of disclosure for
reporting issuers engaged in upstream oil and gas activities. National Instrument ("NI") 51-101
establishes a regime of continuous disclosure for oil and gas companies and includes specific reporting
requirements. Canadian Oil Sands applied for and received an order from the various securities
commissions in Canada allowing Canadian Oil Sands to report, on a consolidated basis, the reserves of
the Trust's subsidiaries with such reporting being made only at the Trust level and to footnote the per cent
of interest that the Corporation holds of such aggregate amount. The Trust's year-end reserve report
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summarized in this Annuval Information Form is compliant with NI 51-101 and such exemptive relief
order.

In conjunction with NI 51-101, the Standing Committee on Reserves Evaluation of the Calgary
Chapter of the Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers ("SPEE") and the Standing Committee on
Reserves Definitions of the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum ("CIM") (Petroleum
Society) developed the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook ("COGEH") to serve as the
guidelines for conducting reserve evaluations and reporting the results thereof. Canadian Securities
regulators require reporting issuers to comply with the COGEH, as amended from time to time.

To assist you in understanding the terminology required by NI 51-101, we are providing the
following definitions: :

Proved Reserves are those reserves that can be estimated with a high degree of certainty to be
recoverable. NI 51-101 further identifies the certainty level for proved reserves as "at least a 90
per cent probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the estimated
proved reserves".

Proved plus Probable Reserves are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered
than proved reserves. NI 51-101 defines the certainty level as "at least a 50 per cent probability
that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the sum of the estimated proved plus
probable reserves.” Therefore, under NI 51-101, the proved plus probable reserves represent a
"best estimate" or "expected reserves”.

Based on an independent engineering evaluation conducted by GLJ Petroleum Consultants
("GLJ") effective December 31, 2005 and prepared in accordance with NI 51-101, Canadian Oil Sands
had proved plus probable reserves of 1.8 billion barrels. Proved developed producing reserves represent
49 per cent of proved plus probable reserves while total proved reserves account for 56 per cent of proved
plus probable reserves. Canadian Qil Sands produces only one product type, namely synthetic crude oil.

Our crude oil reserve quantities and future net revenues were determined by GLJ under a constant
price case as of December 31, 2005 and utilizing GLJ's price forecast as of December 31, 2005. The
reserve estimates were constrained to areas where Syncrude currently has approvals to mine. The future
net revenues shown below are prior to provision for currency hedging, interest, debt service charges,
general and administrative costs, insurance, mine reclamation costs and income taxes. [t should not be
assumed that the discounted future net revenues estimated represents the fair market value of the reserves.
The effective date of the reserves estimate and revenue projection in this Annual Information Form is
December 31, 2005.

Estimates of reserves and projections of production were generally prepared using data to January
20, 2006. The report is dated February 6, 2006. Canadian Oil Sands, on behalf of the Trust and its
subsidiaries, have provided GLJ with a representation letter confirming that complete and correct
information has been provided to GLJ.

The reserve quantities and future net revenues set out in this Annual Information Form are
dependent upon a number of assumptions and estimates. They are also subject to risks and uncertainties
regarding crude oil prices, including the realized selling price that Canadian Oil Sands receives relative to
Edmonton par, any impact of the Kyoto Protocol and various other factors outlined in this Annual
Information Form as well as the impact that the timing and costs of developing Aurora South may have.
We would refer you to the discussion under the heading Risk Factors for the full discussion. I[n addition,
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the evaluation does not consider the potential impact of Syncrude'’s research efforts and new technology

developments.

Summary of Reserves as at December 31, 2005

o 2
Constant Prices and Costs”®
Synthetic Crude Oil
Reserves
Working  Net After Before [ncome Tax
Interest Royalty Discounted Present Value ($ millions)m
Reserves Category!"” million bbl million bbl 0% 5% 10% 15% 20%
Proved Developed Producing 877 744 $ 27,480 $ 14693 § 9,287 § 6,620 $ 5121
Proved Developed Nonproducing 135 110 5,129 3,906 2,925 2,234 1,756
Total Proved 1,013 854 32,609 18,599 12,211 8,855 6,877
Probable 780 658 24,958 6,901 2,304 929 454
Total Proved Plus Probable 1,793 1,512 $ 57567 $ 25500 $ 14,516 $ 9,783 $ 7331
Notes:
m Canadian Oil Sands Limited constitutes 100 per cent of the total reserves shown, of which 11 per cent are held indirectly through
Canadian Oil Sands Limited's interest in the LP.

2) Figures may not add correctly due to rounding,
3) Based on a light sweet crude oil price at Edmonton, Alberta of $68.27 per barrel.

Total Future Net Revenue (Undiscounted Constant Prices and Costs)!

Capital Development

3
Future Net Revenue'™™

Revenue Royalties Operating Costs?! Costs® Before Income Taxes
Reserves Category"”’ (8 millions) ($ miltions) ($ millions) ($ millions) (8 millions)
Proved Developed Producing $ 59,804 $ 9,073 3 20,157 3 3,185 $ 27,480
Proved Developed Nonproducing 9,231 1,717 1,767 619 5,129
Total Proved 69,125 10,789 21,924 3,803 32,609
Total Probable 53,280 8,374 16,096 3,852 24,958
Total Proved Plus Probable 3 122,405 3 19,163 $ 38,020 $ 7,655 $ 57,567
7
Notes:
(0 Figures may not add correctly due to rounding.
2) Mining reclamation costs were not included in these calculations. Future mining reclamation costs for proved reserves are estimated at
$525 million and for proved plus probable reserves, at $663 million.
(3) As the Trust and its subsidiaries do not expect to pay any income taxes other than large corporations tax (which is being phased out) in

the foreseeable future, the calculation of the future net revenues pre and post tax are the same amount.
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Forecast Prices and Costs

3)

Synthetic Crude Oil

Reserves
Working  Net After Before Income Tax
Interest Royalty Discounted Present Value (§ millions)”
Reserves Category million bbl million bbl 0% 5% 10% 15% 20%
Proved Developed Producing 877 779 $ 18,799 $ 9,860 $ 6,232 4,502 $ 3,551
Proved Developed Nonproducing 135 111 4,012 2877 2,102 1,592 1,251
Total Proved 1,013 890 22,811 12,736 8,334 6,094 4,801
Probable 780 689 21,566 5,452 1,568 497 172
Total Proved Plus Probable 1,793 1,579 $ 44377 $ 18,188 $ 9,902 6,591 $ 4,973
Notes:
M Canadian Oil Sands Limited constitutes 100 per cent of the total reserves shown, of which 11 per cent are held indirectly through
Canadian Oil Sands Limited's interest in the LP.
2) Figures may not add correctly due to rounding.
3) Based on a light sweet crude oil price at Edmonton, Alberta (see Forecast Prices used in Estimates).
Total Future Net Revenue (Undiscounted Forecast Prices and Costs)"”
Operating Capital Development  Future Net Revenue'™™
Revenue Royalties Costs'? Costs'?! Before Income Taxes

Reserves Category'"’ ($ millions) (8 millions) (§ millions) (8 millions) (3 millions)

Proved Developed Producing $ 56,283 $ 6,241 $ 26,526 $ 4,717 8 18,799

Proved Developed Nonproducing 6,825 1,344 802 667 4,012

Total Proved 63,108 7,585 27,329 5,384 22,811

Total Probable 62,174 7,457 26,572 6,578 21,566

Total Proved Plus Probable $ 125,282 $ 15,042 $ 53,901 $ 11,962 3 44,377

Notes:

(1) Figures may not add correctly due to rounding.

2) Mining reclamation costs were not included in these calculations. Future mining reclamation costs for proved reserves are estimated at

$525 million, and for proved plus probable reserves, at $665 million.
3 As the Trust and its subsidiaries do not expect to pay any income taxes other than large corporations tax in the foreseeable future, the

calculation of the future net revenues pre and post tax are the same amount.

The reserves have been estimated in accordance with procedures contained in the COGEH.

The proved developed producing reserves and production forecast reflect the current upgrading
capacity available at Syncrude and limit the reserves to those forecast to be recovered within the
remaining 30 years of the AEUB approval. Although the center and west pits of Aurora North are not yet
on production, reserves from these pits are classified as proved developed producing since their recovery
does not require a material amount of additional capital.

The total proved scenario includes capital relating to the upgrader expansion that is currently in
progress (UE-1) and the base mine replacement (SWQR) and the sulphur emissions reduction (SERP)
projects. These investments will accelerate production, improve the yield on bitumen and enable all of
the reserves associated with Aurora North to be recovered within the current approval period. The total
proved production forecast reflects an estimate of bitumen production capacity after completion of the
SWQR project, and does not fully utilize the expanded upgrading capacity available after UE-1.

-34 -



The probable reserves primarily reflect development of Aurora South, as well as improvements to
both extraction recovery and upgrading yield. GLJ's evaluation assumes that Aurora North capacity will
not be increased further by instaliation of a third primary separation vessel. It is assumed that Aurora
South will be developed to replace depletion of the North Mine and source the production growth under a
Stage 3 debottlenecking program, which takes advantage of unused capacity in the new coker without any
change in product quality.

Forecast Prices Used in Estimates

The forecast reference prices used in preparing Canadian Oil Sands' reserves data are provided in
the table below. The Syncrude plant gate price is expected to correspond to "Light Sweet Crude Oil at
Edmonton" (e.g. $66.25 in 2006).

Light, Sweet
WTI Crude Crude Oil at
Qil at Cushing | Edmonton (40 AECO-C
Inflation | Exchange Rate Oklahoma API, 0.3% S) Spot Gas
Year (%) ($US/$Cdn) (SUS/bbI) ($Cdn/bbl) ($/MMBTU)
2006 2.0 0.850 57.00 66.25 10.60
2007 2.0 0.850 55.00 64.00 9.25
2008 2.0 0.850 51.00 59.25 8.00
2009 2.0 0.850 48.00 55.75 7.50
2010 2.0 0.850 46.50 54.00 7.20
2011 2.0 0.850 45.00 52.25 6.90
2012 2.0 0.850 45.00 52.25 6.90
2013 2.0 0.850 46.00 53.25 7.05
2014 20 0.850 46.75 54.25 7.20
2015 2.0 0.850 47.75 55.50 7.40
2016 2.0 0.850 48.75 56.50 7.55
2017+ 2.0 0.850 +2.0%/yr +2.0%/yr +2.0%/yr

The above price forecast is GLIJ's, the independent evaluator's, price forecast as of December 31,
2005. In consideration of oil sands mining cost pressures, rather than the projected inflation of 2.0 per
cent above, GLJ used a 5.0 per cent inflation factor for our evaluation during the period 2006 through
2008, to 4.0 per cent in 2009 and 3.0 per cent in 2010.

In 2005, Canadian Oil Sands received a weighted average price of $70.08 per barrel (after
transportation and marketing fees but before hedging) for its synthetic crude oil.
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Reconciliation of Net Reserves by Principal Product Type Based on Forecast Prices and Costs

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the changes in our reserves as at December 31,
2005 against such reserves as at December 31, 2004 based on the forecast prices and costs assumptions:

Synthetic Crude Oil
Net Proved
Net Proved Net Probable Plus Probable
{million bbl) (million bbl) (million bbl)
At December 31, 2004 924 684 1,608
Technical Revisions 0 5 5
Economic Factors ) 0 (7
Production (27) 0 27)
At December 31, 2005 890 689 1,579

Reconciliations of reserves in Canada on a company net reserves basis are more complex than on
a company gross reserves basis due to price and rate-sensitive royalties, which can cause the net company
reserves to change without a change in the gross company reserves. In considering the above
reconciliation table, it should be noted that the economic factors are primarily related to the average
royalty rate.

Reconciliation of Changes in Net Present Values of Future Net Revenue Based on Constant Prices and
Costs

The following table sets forth changes between future net revenue estimates, discounted at 10 per
cent, attributable to net proved reserves as at December 31, 2005 against such reserves as at December 31,
2004:

2005

(8 millions)

Estimated Net Present Value of Future Net Revenue at December 31, 2004 $ 7,236
Sales and Transfers of Qil and Gas Produced, Net of Production Costs and Royalties (1,216)
Net Changes in Prices, Production Costs and Royalties Related to Future Production 5,555
Development Costs During the Period 899
Changes in Estimated Future Development Costs (990)
Accretion of Discount 724
Changes Resulting from Technical Reserve Revisions 3
Estimated Net Present Value of Future Net Revenue at December 31, 2003 § 12211

Future Development Costs

The following table sets forth the future development costs associated with the development-of
our reserves as set forth in the GLJ Report. Development costs will be funded from funds from
operations.
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Total Proved Total Proved Total Proved Plus

Estimated Using Estimated Using Probable Estimated
Constant Prices and Forecast Prices and Using Forecast Prices
Costs Costs and Costs
~($ millions) ($ millions) (S millions)
2006 $ 337 5 354 3 3356
2007 257 284 288
2008 243 281 300
2009 259 312 414
2010 140 174 464
Remainder 2,567 3,979 10,140
Total for all years undiscounted $ 3.803 3 5,384 $ 11,962
Total for all years discounted at 10%/year $ 1,728 $ 2,172 $ 3,629

Other Oil and Gas Information

See page 9 of this AIF for an outline of the leases held by the Syncrude Joint Venture, which total
about 252,000 acres. These leases include a significant amount of potentially recoverable volumes not
classified as proved plus probable reserves because of uncertainty in their recovery relating to extraction
and upgrading assumptions, geological confidence, the status of both regulatory and Syncrude owner
approvals, and the timeframe to develop.  Syncrude's current remaining recoverable resource estimate of
approximately nine billion barrels of synthetic crude oil (three billion barrels net to Canadian Oil Sands)
includes volumes classified as proved plus probable reserves, as well as volumes in the current long range
lease development plan and additional identified volumes of approximately one billion barrels which are
not included in the current plan. Current oil prices may enable mining of higher cost ore than considered
in Syncrude's current resource estimate. Resources are, by definition, inherently uncertain and there is no
assurance that these resources will be economic and ultimately developed and produced. Guidelines for
estimation of resources have not yet been provided by the COGEH.

Hedging
Canadian Oil Sands did not have any crude oil production hedged as of December 31, 2005.
Costs Incurred

The following table sets forth costs incurred by Canadian Oil Sands for the year ended December
31, 2005:

Property Acquisition Costs Exploration Costs Development Costs
($ millions) ($ millions) ($ millions)
Proved Properties Unproved Properties
Nil Nil Nil 899

Abandonment and Reclamation Costs

Canadian Oil Sands has abandonment and reclamation obligations relating to the Mine, Upgrader
and related facilities. Canadian Qil Sands estimates the abandonment liability, net of salvage, for the
mines with consideration given to the expected costs to abandon and reclaim the lands and extraction
facilities on an undiscounted current cost basis to amount to $525 million for proved reserves and $665
million for proved plus probable reserves. No amounts are included with respect to the Upgrader and
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related facilities as these assets have indeterminate useful lives and the reclamation obligation cannot be
reasonably determined. These estimates are based on prevailing industry conditions, regulatory
requirements and past experience.

Our share of the present value of abandonment and reclamation costs that require recognition in
our financial statements at December 31, 2005 is approximately $148 million. These liabilities relate to
our 35.49 per cent working interest in the Syncrude future dismantlement costs and site restoration costs
for the Base, North and Aurora North mines, but exclude Aurora South as no disturbance has yet occurred
on that lease. Syncrude's Upgrader has an indeterminate useful life. Therefore, the fair values of the
related asset retirement obligations cannot be reasonably determined. Also, the timing and amount of the
reclamation expenditures, if any, related to Syncrude's sulphur blocks are not determinable at the present
time. The asset retirement obligations pertaining to the Upgrader and the sulphur blocks will be
recognized in the year in which the settlement amounts and dates can be reasonably estimated. GLJ has
not included any abandonment and reclamation costs in the GLJ reserve report.

Tax Horizon

There is no after income tax economic analysis of Canadian Oil Sands since as a royalty trust,
Canadian Oil Sands' income tax liability is transferred to individual trust Unitholders and therefore no tax
is anticipated to be incurred or paid by Canadian Oil Sands other than Large Corporations Tax.
Production Estimates

A forecast of Canadian Oil Sands' production in the first year of forecast is presented below:

Svynthetic Crude Qil (million barrels)

‘ Reserves Category Working Interest After Rovalty
Proved developed producing 31 27
Total proved 35 31
Total proved plus probable 38 34
Production History

The following table sets forth certain information in respect of production, product prices
received, royalties and netbacks received by the Corporation for each quarter of its most recently
completed financial year.
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Quarter 1 Quarter 2  Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Year

Average Daily Sales (bbls/d)""” 59,897 79,506 85,942 78,318 75.944
Realized Selling Price before Hedging® $ 6266 $ 6735 $ 76.67 $ 71.14 $ 70.08
Currency Hedging Gains” 1.00 0.68 0.76 0.93 0.83
Net Realized Selling Price” 63.66 68.03 77.43 7207 70.91
Operating Expenses'”’ (38.13) (21.35) (23.61) (25.54) (26.34)
Royalties” (0.60) (0.69) (0.77) (0.72) (0.71)
Netback® $ 2493 $ 4599 § 5305 § 4581 $ 43.86
Notes:

¢)) The average daily volumes reported for 2005 represent Canadian Oil Sands’ average daily sales, which differ from its average daily

production volumes primarily due to in-transit pipeline volumes.

2 Canadian dollars per barrel.

Reserve Life

Canadian Oil Sands' estimated reserve life index using reserves prepared by GLJ based on 2006
production guidance of 35.5 million barrels provided by Canadian Oil Sands is as follows:

Reserves
(Millions of barrels) Reserve Life Index
Total Proved Reserves 1,013 28 years
Proved plus Probable Reserves 1,793 51 years
DISTRIBUTABLE INCOME

Unitholders of record on or about the last business day of each of January, April, July and
October are entitled to receive cash distributions on the last working day of the following month in
respect of the Unitholder distributions. Historically, the Trust has accrued the distribution made to
Unitholders as a payable at each quarter end, even though the distribution was not declared and actually
paid until the subsequent quarter. This resulted in Unitholders receiving a distribution in February of a
given year but having the taxable portion of such distribution payment being treated as income for
Canadian tax purposes for the prior tax year. Having considered market practise and having received
advice from legal counsel, Canadian Oil Sands amended the Trust Indenture to allow, commencing with
distribution payments in 2006, the Trust to distribute all income, less applicable expenses, received or
expected to be received in a given quarter as a distribution to Unitholders and thereby to record such
distribution in the quarter paid. As a result, the financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2005 do not reflect a distribution payable at December 31, 2005, The distribution that was declared on
January 25, 2006 and payable on February 28, 2006 to holders of record on February 6, 2006 will be
reflected in the financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2006 rather than in the quarter
ended December 31, 2005. This change in how Unitholder distributions are recorded has no impact on
the ultimate distributions declared and paid to the Unitholders or to the timing of such payments, nor does
it impact Canadian Oil Sands' net income or funds from operations. Rather, it provides symmetry of
Unitholders being taxed and receiving payment of a distribution in the same quarter. The Trust expects
that this should eliminate some of the confusion that certain Unitholders previously had with regard to the
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timing and taxability of the distribution payment made in the first quarter of each year. A full copy of the
current Trust Indenture can be found at www.cos-trust.com under corporate governance, or at
www.sedar.com. In 2005, Unitholder distributions were comprised of the trust royalty payments,
revenues from the GORR, interest income earned and debt repayments received by the Trust less the
direct expenses of the Trust paid. Cash distributions paid to Unitholders are determined by the
Corporation's Board of Directors, in their sole discretion, and will only be declared and paid if deemed
prudent to do so.

At the discretion of the Corporation's Board of Directors, the Trust may also make cash
distributions of the Trust's capital provided that such distributions are made out of funds that are in excess
of amounts reasonably required to satisfy obligations of Canadian Oil Sands.

During normal operations when no major turnarounds are occurring, the production of SSB is
generally consistent from month to month, but capital and other expenditures will generally occur in a less
consistent manner. As a result, the Corporation has the right to hold back certain funds in the calculation of
the trust royalty to allow it to meet cash requirements attributable to the working interest and to meet its
ongoing obligations as a Participant.

The actual amount of the trust royalty received by the Trust from the Corporation depends on the
quantity of oil produced, prices received, hedging contract receipts and payments, capital, operating and
administrative expenses, Crown royalties, debt service charges, and changes to the utilization of
expansion financing determined to be prudent by the Corporation. The Trust has advised that it intends to
use funds from operations to repay debt to a target level of about $1.2 billion prior to using free cash flow
to increase Unitholder distributions. Further information is contained in our 2005 MD&A under
"Liquidity and Capital Resources" which section is incorporated herein by reference.

Distribution History
Payment Date Amount per Unit
February 28, 2006 $1.00
November 30, 2005 $1.00
August 31, 2005 $0.50
May 31, 2005 $0.50
February 28, 2005 $0.50
November 30, 2004 $0.50
August 31, 2004 $0.50
May 31, 2004 $0.50
February 27, 2004 $0.50
November 28, 2003 $0.50
August 29, 2003 $0.50
May 30, 2003 $0.50
February 28, 2003 $0.50
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE
General Description Structure

The Trust is authorized to issue up to 500,000,000 Units. FEach Unit represents a beneficial
interest in the Trust and entitles the holder to one vote per Unit and participation in any distributions or
liquidation made by the Trust. At the annual general and special meeting held in April 2003, Unitholders
approved the issuance by the Trust of convertible securities. As of March 15, 2606, there were no
securities of the Trust created and issued other than Units. All Unitholders share equally in all
distributions of the Trust. No conversion, retroaction or pre-emptive rights are attached to the Units.
Units are redeemable at the option of the Unitholder at a price that is the lesser of 90 per cent of the
average closing price of the Units on the principal trading market for the previous 10 days and the closing
market price on the date of tender for redemption. There is a limit of $250,000 per quarter for such
redemptions.

Foreign Ownership

The trust indenture, under which the Trust was created, provides that no more than 49 per cent of
the Units of Canadian Oil Sands Trust can be held by non-Canadian residents. Depending upon the
nature of the Trust's operations at the time, the potential impact of exceeding this threshold may be the
loss of mutual fund status to the Trust, which may significantly impact the valuation of the Units. As
such, the Trust continues to monitor, to the extent possible given the practical limitations regarding
beneficial ownership information, the level of non-Canadian resident Unitholders. To the best of our
knowledge, the Trust has always had less than 50 per cent non-Canadian resident Unitholders.

In the third quarter of 2004, the federal government tabled draft legislation which restricted the
level of foreign ownership of mutual fund trusts on a continuous monitoring basis to 50 per cent. We
strongly opposed this legislation and viewed any restriction on accessing the larger international capital
markets as harmful to the Canadian economy and unnecessary in light of the proposed implementation of
a 15 per cent withholding tax on all distributions made to non-resident Canadian unitholders. Canadian
Oil Sands is a member of The Canadian Association of Income Funds ("CAIF"). CAIF commissioned an
independent study by HLB Decision Economics which has shown that, with the proposed 15 per cent
withholding tax on distributions to non-residents, the revenue to the federal government is not materially
decreased and in fact may be increased by having a higher level of foreign ownership in trusts. In
addition, the resource industry has traditionally relied on foreign capital to complete the large capital
programs necessary to harness the vast resources of our country. Following consultation between the
federal government and industry, including discussions with representatives of Canadian Qil Sands and a
number of other mutual fund trusts, investment bankers and members of the business community, the
federal government implemented the 15 per cent withholding tax but left the current legislation regarding
foreign ownership unchanged. In our view, the 15 per cent withholding tax on distributions made to non-
residents places the federal government in a revenue neutral position. We plan to continue consultations
with the federal government on our own and as part of industry groups such as CAIF with a view to
having open access to global capital markets and thereby allowing higher levels of foreign ownership in
trusts. Further information and discussion is contained in the MD&A under the heading "Foreign
Ownership”.

The Trust uses declarations from Unitholders and geographical searches to estimate the level of
Canadian and non-Canadian resident Unitholders of the Trust at certain periods throughout the year.
While the Trust believes that these results are reasonable estimations at the time that they are provided,
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the inability of all public issuers to obtain the residency information of its beneficial holders means that
issuers are reliant upon the information provided to the transfer agent. As a result, the residency
information is subject to the accuracy provided by third party data and by system limitations.
Accordingly, the reported level of Canadian ownership is subject to these limitations and the level of
Canadian ownership may change at any time without notice.

Based on account data at February 6, 2006 Canadian Qil Sands estimates that approximately 33
per cent of our Units are held by non-Canadian residents with the remaining 67 per cent being held by
Canadian residents. We will continue to monitor the non-resident ownership levels.

If, based on the declarations or on the geographical list, the level of Units held by non-Canadian
residents is 46 per cent or more, then Canadian Qil Sands plans to issue a press release advising of the
increased level and stating that it is anticipated that the Trust may reach 49 per cent or more non-
Canadian resident Unitholders and that, in such case, each person purchasing the Units, whether through a
broker or directly in registered form, will need to complete a declaration.

If the level of non-Canadian resident ownership appears to be approximately 49 per cent or more,
Canadian Oil Sands will make a public announcement that no further sales to non-Canadian residents will
be allowed. No transfers will be allowed without the completion of a declaration indicating their status as
a Canadian or non-Canadian resident. As part of such announcement, the Trustee shall state that it shall
not accept a subscription for Units from or issue or register a transfer of Units to a person unless the
person provides a declaration that the person is not a non-Canadian resident. In addition, the Trustee will
send a notice to non-resident holders of Units, chosen in inverse order to the order of acquisition or
registration or in such other manner as the Trustee may consider equitable and practicable requiring them
to sell their Units or-.a specified portion thereof within the specified period of not less than 60 days. If the
Unitholders receiving such notice have not sold the specified number of Units or provided the Trustee
with satisfactory evidence that they are not non-Canadian residents within such period, the Trustee may,
on behalf of such Unitholders sell such Units and, in the interim, shall suspend the voting and distribution
rights attached to such Units. Any sale shall be made on the Toronto Stock Exchange and, upon such
sale, the affected holders shall cease to be holders of Units and their rights shall be limited to receiving
the net proceeds of sale upon surrender of the certificates representing the Units.

Rights Plan

A Unitholders rights plan for the Trust was approved by Unitholders in 2001 and Unitholders
further approved an amended and restated plan in 2004 (the "Rights Plan").

The primary objective of the Rights Plan is to provide the Board with sufficient time to explore
and develop alternatives for maximizing Unitholder value if a takeover bid is made for Units and to
provide every Unitholder with an equal opportunity to participate in such a bid. The Rights Plan
encourages a potential acquiror to proceed either by way of a Permitted Bid (as defined in the Rights
Plan), which requires the takeover bid to satisfy certain minimum standards designed to promote fairness,
or with the concurrence of the Board. Unitholders are advised that the Rights Plan may preclude their
consideration or acceptance of offers which do not meet the requirements of a Permitted Bid.

The effective date of the Rights Plan is April 26, 2004 and such Rights Plan has a ten year term.

On May 11, 2001, one right (a "Right") was issued and attached to each Unit then outstanding and will
continue to attach to each Unit subsequently issued.
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The Rights will separate from the Units and will be exercisable eight trading days (the
"Separation Time") after a person has acquired, or commences a takeover bid to acquire, 20% or more of
the Units, other than by an acquisition pursuant to a takeover bid permitted by the Rights Plan (a
"Permitted Bid"). The acquisition by any person (an "Acquiring Person") of 20% or more of the Units,
other than by way of a Permitted Bid, is referred to as a "Flip-in Event". Any Rights held by an
Acquiring Person will become void upon the occurrence of a Flip-in Event. Eight trading days after the
occurrence of the Flip-in Event, each Right, (other than those heid by the Acquiring Person), will permit
the purchase of Units at a 50% discount to their market price. The issue of the Rights is not initially
dilutive. Upon a Flip-in Event occurring and the Rights separating from the Units, reported earnings per
Unit on a fully diluted or non-diluted basis may be affected. Holders of Rights not exercising their Rights
upon the occurrence of a Flip-in Event may suffer substantial dilution.

A bidder may enter into lock-up agreements with Unitholders whereby such Unitholders agree to
tender their Units to the takeover bid (the "Subject Bid") without a Flip-in Event (as referred to above)
occurring. Any such agreement must permit the Unitholder to withdraw the Units to tender to another
takeover bid or to support another transaction that exceeds the value of the Subject Bid by as much or
more than a specified amount, which specified amount may not be greater than 7%.

Prior to the Separation Time, the Rights are evidenced by a legend imprinted on certificates for
the Units issued from and after the effective date of the Rights Plan and are not to be transferable
separately from the Units. From and after the Separation Time, the Rights will be evidenced by Rights
certificates which will be transferable and traded separately from the Units.

The requirements for a Permitted Bid include the following:
(a) the takeover bid must be made by way of a takeover bid circular;
(b) the takeover bid must be made to all Unitholders;

(c) the takeover bid must be outstanding for a minimum period of 60 days and Units tendered
pursuant to the takeover bid may not be taken up prior to the expiry of the 60 day period and
only if at such time more than 50% of the Units held by Unitholders, other than the bidder, its
affiliates and persons acting jointly or in concert and certain other persons (the "Independent
Unitholders™), have been tendered to the takeover bid and not withdrawn; and

(d) if more than 50% of the Units held by Independent Unitholders are tendered to the takeover
bid within the 60 day period, the bidder must make a public announcement of that fact and
the takeover bid must remain open for deposits of Units for an additional 10 business days
from the date of such public announcement.

The Rights Plan allows for a competing Permitted Bid (a "Competing Permitted Bid") to be made
while a Permitted Bid is in existence. A Competing Permitted Bid must satisfy all the requirements of a
Permitted Bid except that it may expire on the same date as the Permitted Bid, subject to the requirement
that it be outstanding for a minimum period of 35 days.

The Board, acting in good faith, may, prior to the occurrence of a Flip-in Event, waive the
application of the Rights Plan to a particular Flip-in Event (an "Exempt Acquisition") where the takeover
bid is made by a takeover bid circular to all holders of Units. Where the Board exercises the waiver
power for one takeover bid, the waiver will also apply to any other takeover bid for the Trust made by a
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takeover bid circular to all holders of Units prior to the expiry of any other bid for which the Rights Plan
has been waived.

The Board, with the prior approval of a majority vote of the votes cast by Unitholders (or the
holders of Rights if the Separation Time has occurred) voting in person and by proxy, at a meeting duly
called for that purpose, may redeem the Rights at $0.001 per Unit. Rights may also be redeemed by the
Board without such approval following completion of a Permitted Bid, Competing Permitted Bid or
Exempt Acquisition.

The Board may amend the Rights Plan with the approval of a majority vote of the votes cast by
Unitholders (or the holders of Rights if the Separation Time has occurred) voting in person and by proxy
at a meeting duly called for that purpose. The directors without such approval may correct clerical or
typographical errors and, subject to approval as noted above at the next meeting of the Unitholders (or
holders of Rights, as the case may be), may make amendments to the Rights Plan to maintain its validity
due to changes in applicable legislation.

The Rights Plan will not detract from or lessen the duty of the Board to act honestly and in good
faith with a view to the best interests of the Trust. The Board, when a Permitted Bid is made, will
continue to have the duty and power to take such actions and make such recommendations to unitholders
as are considered appropriate.

Investment advisors, trust companies (acting in their capacities as trustees and administrators),
statutory bodies whose business includes the management of funds and administrators of registered
pension plans acquiring greater than 20% of the Units are exempted from triggering a Flip-in Event,
provided that they are not making, or are not part of a group making, a takeover bid.

Ratings
The Units of the Trust have a stability rating of SR-4. The debt securities of the Corporation, the

main operating subsidiary of the Trust, were rated BBB+ with a negative outlook from Standard and
Poor's and Baa2 with a negative outlook from Moody's Investor Service.
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MARKET FOR SECURITIES
Price Range and Trading Volumes of Trust Units

The Units are listed for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") and trade under the
symbol COS.UN. The table below sets out the price ranges and volumes traded on the TSX during 2005.

Month High Low Close Volume Traded
($/Unit) ($/Unit) ($/Unit) (thousands)
January 78.50 62.10 73.62 5,461.8
February 84.50 71.62 84.25 6,040.8
March 86.50 77.02 82.25 6,785.1
April 92.75 77.56 80.35 6,165.6
May 86.60 72.01 80.01 4,910.8
June 94.40 80.28 90.10 4,769.2
July 106.50 91.00 104.00 4,399.2
August 127.50 102.80 127.50 7,179.5
September 129.66 121.17 128.45 5,116.1
QOctober 134.73 100.67 111.00 8,246.1
November 128.70 104.01 126.00 5,734.3
December 143.00 122.06 126.00 6,561.9
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The Trust has no directors, officers or employees. The following information pertains to the
board of directors and officers of the Corporation as at March 15, 2006.

Directors
The following are the names, the province and country of residence of each director of the

Corporation, their positions with the Corporation and principal occupations within the past five years and
the year in which each first became a director of the Corporation.

Number of
Units held as Year First
Name and Province of February Became a
and Country of Residence Position Held and Principal Occupation 22, 2006 Director
Marcel R. Coutu President and Chief Executive Officer 37,191® 2001
Alberta, Canada
E. Susan Evans, Q.C. " Corporate Director 10,904 1997
Alberta, Canada
The Right Honourable Donald  Corporate Director and Business Consultant 8,468 2002
F. Mazankowski®
Alberta, Canada
Wayne M. Newhouse Corporate Director 5,200 1996
Alberta, Canada
Walter B. O'Donoghue, Q.C.®- Counsel, Bennett Jones LLP (law firm) 8,480 1995
Alberta, Canada
C.E. (Chuck) Shultz"” ~ Chairman, Canadian Oil Sands Limited, 18,702 1996
Alberta, Canada Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Dauntless Energy Inc. (private oil and gas
corporation)

Wesley R. Twisst" Corporate Director 7,294 2001
Alberta, Canada

John B. Zaozirny, Q.C.? Counsel, McCarthy Tétrault LLP (law firm) 7,000 1996
Alberta, Canada

Notes:

(1) Member of the Audit Committee.

2) Member of the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee,

(3) Includes 8,462 Units over which Mr. Coutu exercises control or direction.

4) Includes 1,094 Units over which Mr. Twiss exercises control or direction,
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Each of the Nominees has been engaged in the occupation set forth in the above table or similar
occupations with the same employer for the last five years except: Mr. Coutu (who was Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Gulf Canada Resources Limited from May 1999 to July 2001,
and prior to that was Director, Finance, Vice President, Finance and, subsequently, Senior Vice President,
International of TransCanada Pipelines Limited); Mr. Twiss (who was Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of PanCanadian Energy Corporation from January 2000 to April 2002, and prior
to that was Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Petro-Canada from 1998 to January
2000); and Mr. Newhouse (who was President of Morgas Ltd. from 2001 to 2005 and President of
Newhouse Resource Management Limited from February 1995 to June 2001).

Mr. O'Donoghue is counsel to Bennett Jones LLP and Mr. Zaozirny is counsel to McCarthy
Tétrault LLP, both of which firms provide legal services to Canadian Oil Sands from time to time.

Computershare Trust Company of Canada, the successor in interest to Montreal Trust Company of
Canada, is the Trustee of the Trust. The Corporation does not have an executive committee. The Corporate
Governance and Compensation Committee was formed in early 2002. Since the fall of 2003, the Audit
Committee also has acted as the reserves committee of the Board.

The Audit Committee is comprised of the members listed below. The Board has determined that
each member of the Audit Committee is an "independent" director and is "financially literate" under
applicable securities policies. In considering criteria for the determination of financial literacy, the Board of
Directors looked at the ability to read and understand a balance sheet, an income statement and a cash flow
statement of a public company as well as the director's past experience in reviewing or overseeing the
preparation of financial statements. Beside each member's name is such person's education and experience
relevant to such member's performance as an audit committee member.

Name Relevant Education and Experience

Wesley R. Twiss (Chair) Mr. Twiss has over 30 years experience in the oil and gas industry,
including more than 10 years of which were in the position as chief
financial officer of large public oil and gas companies which held
or managed an interest in the Syncrude Joint Venture. Mr. Twiss is
a member of the Audit Committee of Hydrogenics Corporation and
of EPCOR and of the managing company of which KeySpan
Facilities Income Fund owns 75 per cent. He is also a trustee of
Enbridge Income Fund and a member of the Audit Committee of a
subsidiary of such fund. He recently became a board member of
Addax Petroleum Corporation. Given this background, Mr. Twiss
has experience on both trust and financial issues. Mr. Twiss has an
MBA from the University of Western Ontario and is a member of
the Institute of Corporate Directors. He has completed the ICD
Corporate Governance College Director Education Program.
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Name

Relevant Education and Experience

E. Susan Evans, Q.C.

C.E. (Chuck) Shultz

Wayne M. Newhouse

Ms. Evans has acted as a director on numerous boards of public and
private entities which operated in the areas of oil and gas, utility,
banking, government and charities. Ms. Evans was a former Chair
of the Audit Committee for the Province of Alberta, is a member of
the Audit, Risk and Finance Committee of Enbridge Inc. and was a
member of the Audit Committee of Anderson Exploration Ltd. and
the Chair of the Audit Committee of Canadian Oil Sands prior to
and immediately following the merger with Canadian Oil Sands
Trust and Athabasca Oil Sands Trust in 2001. She was also a
Commissioner of the Alberta Financial Review Commission. Ms.
Evans has completed an MBA level accounting course at Edinburgh
Business School, Heriot-Watt University, and has. completed the
Ivey League Executive Program at the Richard Ivey School of
Business.

Mr. Shultz has acted on the boards and audit committees of several
public and private entities including Newfield Exploration and
Enbridge Inc. He was the former Vice Chairman of the University
of Calgary and Chair of the Audit Committee of the University of
Calgary. Mr. Shultz was the former Chief Executive Officer of
Gulf Canada Ltd. He has over 30 years of experience in the oil and
gas sector and has completed the Advanced Management Program
at Harvard Business School and has completed the ICD Corporate
Governance College Director Education Program and has received
the ICD designation.

Mr. Newhouse has acted in various director and executive
capacities for a number of private and public entities, primarily in
the oil and gas sector. In particular, he was the former Chair of the
Audit Committee of Progas Ltd. and currently is a director and
Chair of the Reserves Audit Committee of Petrofund Energy Trust.
Mr. Newhouse also serves as a director and member of the audit
committee of E-T Energy Limited. Mr. Newhouse has also
completed an Alexander Hamilton Institute two year business
program and Investment Dealer Association courses as well as the
Financial Literacy for Directors course.

The terms of reference for the Audit Committee are contained in Schedule B of the Trust's
management proxy circular dated March 10, 2006, which terms of reference are incorporated herein by
reference. As part of such terms of reference, the Audit Committee has adopted procedures relating to the

engagement of non-audit services.

The Audit Committee has restricted the auditors from providing any services that could
reasonably be seen as functioning in the role of management, auditing their own work or acting as an
advocate role for Canadian Oil Sands. In particular, the external auditor is not to provide bookkeeping
functions, actuarial or appraisal services (other than related to tax services), internal audit, human
resources, or legal services (other than for French translation services). The Audit Committee has defined
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what constitutes audit services, audit related services, tax services and other services. Except in relation
to audit services, amounts over $25,000 require the pre-approval of the Audit Committee. However, all
of the services provided and the amounts paid, regardless of their magnitude, must be disclosed to the
Audit Committee at the Audit Committee meeting immediately following such engagement. If any of the
services (other than audit services) are over $25,000, such services must be pre-approved by the Audit

Committee or the Chair of the Audit Committee.

Officers

There are no direct officers of the Trust. Instead, management of the Trust is exercised by the

Corporation and its directors and officers.

The following table identifies each of the officers of the

Corporation, as at March 15, 2006, their province and country of residence, their current office, and their
principal occupations for the five-year period preceding December 31, 2005.

v

Name and Province and
Country of Residence

Current Office

Five Year History of Principal Occupations

Number of Units held
as of February 22, 2006

C.E. (CHUCK) SHULTZ
Alberta, Canada

MARCEL R. COUTU
Alberta, Canada

ALLEN R. HAGERMAN,
F.CA.
Alberta, Canada

TREVOR R. ROBERTS,
Alberta, Canada

TRUDY M. CURRAN
Alberta, Canada

RYAN M. KUBIK
Alberta, Canada

Chairman of
the Board of Directors

President and Chief Executive

Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Chief Operations Officer

General Counsel and
Corporate Secretary

Treasurer

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Dauntless
Energy Inc. (private oil and gas corporation)

President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Corporation; prior thereto, Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of Gulf Canada Resources
Limited from May 1999 to July 2001, prior thereto,
Director, Finance, Vice President, Finance and,
subsequently, Senior Vice President, International of
TransCanada PipeLines Limited

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
Fording Canadian Coal Trust from March 2003 to
May 2003, Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Fording Inc. from June 2001 to March
2003 and Vice President, Finance and Accounting
and Secretary of Fording Inc. from 1996 to 2001

Vice President, Operations of Suncor, Inc. from 1997
to May 2005

Corporate Secretary of the Corporation from
November 2001 to May 2002; Senior Counsel and
Assistant Corporate Secretary, EnCana Corporation
from April 2002 to September 2002; Staff Legal
Counsel, PanCanadian Energy Corporation from
November 2001 to March 2002; Senior Counsel,
Canadian Pacific Limited from March 1999 to
October 2001; and prior thereto, Associate General
Counsel and Assistant Corporate Secretary,
Canadian Airlines Corporation

Advisor, Corporate Finance, EnCana Corporation
from April 2002 to August 2002 and prior thereto,
Associate Director, Treasury, PanCanadian Energy
Corporation
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Name and Province and Number of Units held

Country of Residence Current Office Five Year History of Principal Occupations as of February 22, 2006
LAUREEN C. DUBOIS Controller Manager, Accounting of the Corporation from 3619
Alberta, Canada November 2002 to January 2004; Senior Accountant,

EnCana Corporation November 2001 to October
2002; Assistant Manager, Group Accounting,
Canadian Pacific Limited from January 2000 to
October 2001 and prior thereto, Senior Associate,
Deloitte and Touche

Notes:
(1) Includes 8,462 Units over which Mr. Coutu exercises control or direction.
(2) Includes 10 Units over which Ms. DuBois exercises control or direction.

As of February 22, 2006, the Directors and Officers of Canadian Oil Sands, as a group, beneficially
own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over 118,984 Units of the Trust, representing less
than one per cent of the issued and outstanding units of the Trust.

FEES PAID TO AUDITORS

Reference is made to the information under the heading "Appointment of Auditor" on page 4 of
Canadian Oil Sands' Management Proxy Circular dated March 10, 2006 for information regarding fees
paid by Canadian Oil Sands to its auditors for the last two completed fiscal years, which information is
incorporated by reference into this AIF.

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed in this Annual Information Form or in a prior information circular, no
"informed person” (as defined in National Instrument 51-102), nor any insider of the Trust or the
Corporation, nor the Trustee, nor any person nominated for election as a director of the Corporation, nor
any associate or affiliate of such persons, has had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any
transaction of the Trust since the commencement of the Trust's last financial year or in any proposed
transaction which has materially affected or would materially affect the Trust or any of its subsidiaries.
Copies of prior information circulars of the Trust may be accessed at the website for the "System for
Electronic Data Analysis and Retrieval" maintained by the Canadian Securities Administrators at
www .sedar.com.

Computershare Trust Company of Canada acts as both Trustee and the transfer agent for the
Units, and receives fees for its services in both capacities. In its capacity as Trustee of the Trust, the
Trustee is paid a reasonable fee in connection with the administration and management of the Trust and is
also reimbursed for all expenses properly incurred, as agreed by the Trustee and the Corporation.

The Trustee, on behalf of the Trust, holds all of the issued and outstanding COSL Shares.
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
There are no legal proceedings to which we are a party or of which any of our property is the

subject, nor are there any proceedings known by us to be contemplated that involves a claim for damages
exceeding ten per cent of our current assets, other than the claims by John S. Rendall against Syncrude
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(Canada), Inc., Suncor Inc., Shell (Canada) Inc., Exxon-Mobil, Inc., Deutsche Bank, AG, Raymond and
Rawl (Exxon), Bob Pitmann, Al Hyndman, Helmar Kopper and Merrill Lynch and the claim by W. Jack
Butler against us, Syncrude (Canada), Inc., Deutsche Morgan Grenfell, Inc., Exxon-Mobil Corporation,
Deutsche Bank, AG and Merrill Lynch, Pierce Fenner and Smith, Inc., both recently dismissed by the
Second Judicial District Court, County of Bernalillio, New Mexico, USA and subsequently appealed by
the Plaintiffs. The total amount of the claims is $21.5 billion (which would be net 7.6 billion to the Trust
if the entire amount was awarded against Syncrude) plus unquantified damages and involves an allegation
that Syncrude (Canada) Inc. and various other defendants caused the bankruptcy of Solv-EX. The claims
involve allegations of breach of contract, fraud, aiding and abetting tortuous conduct, interference with
economic advantage, breach of fiduciary duty, aiding and abetting such breaches, breach of trust,
conspiracy under U.S. racketeering statutes and anti-trust law, intentional infliction of emotional distress
and malicious abuse of process. The claims against Syncrude (Canada) Inc. were dismissed but the
Plaintiffs have appealed such dismissals. The appeals are now before the New Mexico Appeals Court and
a decision is anticipated in 2006.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRARS

Computershare is our trustee, transfer agent and registrar. They may be contacted at 710, 530 —
8" Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta T2P 3S8; phone (403) 267-6800; facsimile (403) 267-6598 and have
offices in Vancouver, Calgary, Toronto, Montreal, and Halifax.

INTEREST OF EXPERTS
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

The Trust's auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Accountants ("PwC"), who
have prepared an independent auditors' report dated January 25, 2006 in respect of the Trust's
consolidated financial statements with accompanying notes as at and for the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2004. PwC has advised that they are independent with respect to the Trust within the meaning
of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Alberta.

GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd.

In July 2005, the Board appointed GLJ as the independent reserves evaluator for Canadian Oil
Sands. The partners and associates of GLJ, as a group, own, directly or indirectly, less than one per cent
of the outstanding Units.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information, including Directors' and Officers’ remuneration and indebtedness,
principal holders of the Trust's securities, options to purchase securities and interest of insiders in material
transactions, where applicable, is contained in the Trust's Management Proxy Circular dated March 10,
2006, which relates to the Annual and Special Meeting of Unitholders to be held on April 25, 2006.
Additional financial information is provided in the Trust's consolidated comparative audited financial
statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2005.

When securities of the Trust are in the course of a distribution pursuant to a short form prospectus or

a preliminary short form prospectus has been filed in respect of a distribution of its securities, copies of the
following documents may be obtained by contacting:
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Canadian Qil Sands Trust Telephone (403) 218-6240
¢/o Canadian Oil Sands Limited Facsimile (403) 218-6210
2500 First Canadian Centre

350 — 7" Avenue S.W.

Calgary, Alberta T2P 3N9

Attention: General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

1) one copy of the Trust's Annual Information Form, together with one copy of any document, or the
pertinent pages of any document, incorporated by reference in the Annual Information Form;

2) one copy of the Trust's comparative consolidated financial statements for its most recently completed
financial year, together with the accompanying auditors' report and one copy of any interim consolidated
financial statements of the Trust filed subsequent to its most recently completed financial year;

3) one copy of the Trust's most recent Management Proxy Circular; and

4) one copy of any other documents that are incorporated by reference into the preliminary short form
prospectus or short form prospectus and are not required to be provided under paragraphs (1), (2) or (3)
above,

At any time, copies of the documents referred to in paragraphs (1) to (4) above may be obtained
upon request from the General Counsel and Corporate Secretary, provided that, if the request is made by a
person who is not a Unitholder of the Trust, payment of a reasonable charge for such copies may be
required.
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Exemption under Rule 12g3-2()

orm 52-109FT1 ~ Certification of Annual Filings

106
arcel ;FﬂCout resident and Chief Executive Officer of Canadian Oil Sands Limited,

Qgger of Ca%%?i$ Oil Sands Trust (the "Trust") certify that:

43/7 243 /9
, e wed the annual filings (as this term is defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-
109\(%gification of Disclosure in Issuers' Annual and Interim Filings) of the Trust for the

period ending December 31, 2005;

Based on my knowledge, the annual filings do not contain any untrue statements of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to
make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it was made,

with respect to the period covered by the annual filings;

Based on my knowledge, the annual financial statements together with the other
financial information included in the annual filings fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Trust, as of the date

and for the periods presented in the annual filings;

The issuer's other certifying officers and | are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures for the issuer, and we have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused them to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance that material
information relating to the issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the periods in

which the annual filings are being prepared; and

evaluated the effectiveness of the issuer's disclosure controls and procedures as
of the end of the period covered by the annual filings and have caused the issuer
to disclose in the annual MD&A our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by the

annual filings based on such evaluation.

Date: February 22
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Exemption under Rule 1293-2(b)

/Form 52-109FT1 - Certification of Annual Filings

-

$ Rf\%}é?/erman, Chief Financial Officer of Canadian Qil Sands Limited, manager of

aQ ©fl Sands Trust (the "Trust") certify that:

1. | have reviewed the annual filings (as this term is defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-
109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers' Annual and Interim Filings) of the Trust for the
period ending December 31, 2005;

2. Based on my knowledge, the annual filings do not contain any untrue statements of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to
make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it was made,
with respect to the period covered by the annual filings;

3. Based on my knowledge, the annual financial statements together with the other
financial information included in the annual filings fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Trust, as of the date
and for the periods presented in the annual filings;

4, The issuer's other certifying officers and | are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures for the issuer, and we have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused them to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance that material
information relating to the issuer, inciuding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the periods in
which the annual filings are being prepared; and

{(b) evaiuated the effectiveness of the issuer's disciosure controls and procedures as
of the end of the period covered by the annual filings and have caused the issuer
to disclose in the annual MD&A our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by the
annual filings based on such evaluation.

Date: February 22, 2006

(e

Allen R, Hagermd#h
Chief Financial Officer

JCdnO urran\Corporat y Quartany Mngncial \SEDAR Filings\2005\Annual sudtedWom 52-109F T 1-annuah-04-CFO doc




Exemption under Rule 12g3-2(b) |
CANADIAN OIL SANDS TRUST
NOTICE OF ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF UNITHOLDERS
to be held on Tuesday, April 25, 2006

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual and Special Meeting (the "Meeting") of the holders of trust units of
Canadian Oil Sands Trust (the "Trust") will be held in the Chambers Room, First Canadian Centre, 350 — 7" Avenue
S.W., Calgary, Alberta on Tuesday, April 25, 2006, at 2:30 p.m. (Calgary time) for the following purposes:

1. to receive the consolidated financial statements of the Trust for the year ended December 31, 2005,
together with the auditor's report thereon;

2. to consider the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the auditor of Canadian Oil Sands Limited
(the "Corporation") and to direct the Trustee to vote the common shares of the Corporation so as to appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the auditor of the Corporation for the ensuing year at a remuneration to be
fixed by the Corporation and approved by the directors thereof;

3. to consider the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the auditor of the Trust for the ensuing year
at a remuneration to be fixed by the Corporation and approved by the directors thereof,

4. to consider the Trustee's nominees for election as directors of the Corporation for the ensuing year, and to
direct the Trustee to vote the common shares of the Corporation so as to elect all such nominees as
directors of the Corporation and to fill any vacancies among the directors of the Corporation that may arise
between the Meeting and the first meeting of Unitholders thereafter that considers the election of directors,
by appointing to any such vacancy a person selected by the board of the Corporation;

5. to consider and, if deemed appropriate, to pass with or without variation, a special resolution, the complete
text of which is set out in the accompanying Management Proxy Circular, approving and authorizing a Unit
split and authorizing amendments to the Trust Indenture which permit that Unit split and which also allow
future Unit splits by the Corporation as deemed appropriate and approved by the directors thereof, all as
more fully described and set forth in the accompanying Management Proxy Circular;

6. to consider and, if deemed appropriate, to pass with or without variation, a special resolution, the complete
text of which is set out in the accompanying Management Proxy Circular, approving and authorizing
certain amendments to the Trust Indenture regarding foreign ownership constraints, all as more fully
described and set forth in the accompanying Management Proxy Circular;

7. to consider and, if deemed appropriate, to pass with or without variation, an ordinary resolution, re-
appointing Computershare Trust Company of Canada as trustee of the Trust for an additional three year
term commencing on the Meeting date and expiring immediately following the annual meeting of
Unitholders in 2009, at a remuneration to be fixed by the Corporation and approved by the directors
thereof; and

8. to transact such other business as may properly be brought before the Meeting or any adjournment or
adjournments thereof.

DATED at Calgary, Alberta on March 10, 2006.

By Order of the Directors of Canadian Oil Sands
Limited on behalf of Canadian Oil Sands Trust
ey
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4

Trudy M. Curran
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

\
\,\
y

Unitholders are referred to the accompanying Management Proxy Circular dated March 10, 2006 for more
detailed information regarding the matters to be considered at the Meeting. Capitalized terms used in this Notice
that are not defined here have the meanings given to such terms in the Management Proxy Circular.



Only persons registered as holders of trust units on the records of the Trust as of the close of business on
March 6, 2006 are entitled to receive notice of, and to vote or act at, the Meeting.

Unitholders who are unable to attend the Meeting in person are requested to date and sign the enclosed
form of proxy and to mail it to, or deposit it with, the Trustee of the Trust, Computershare Trust Company of
Canada, 100 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, M5J 2Y1 (Attention: Proxy Department). In order to be valid
and acted upon at the Meeting, forms of proxy must be received by Computershare Trust Company of
Canada not less than twenty four (24) hours before the time set for the holding of the Meeting or any
adjournment thereof.
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CANADIAN OIL SANDS TRUST
NOTICE OF ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF UNITHOLDERS
to be held on Tuesday, April 25, 2006

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual and Special Meeting (the "Meeting") of the holders of trust units of
Canadian Oil Sands Trust (the "Trust") will be held in the Chambers Room, First Canadian Centre, 350 — 7" Avenue
S.W., Caigary, Alberta on Tuesday, April 25, 2006, at 2:30 p.m. (Calgary time) for the following purposes:

1. to receive the consolidated financial statements of the Trust for the year ended December 31, 2005,
together with the auditor's report thereon;

2. to consider the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the auditor of Canadian Oil Sands Limited
(the "Corporation") and to direct the Trustee to vote the common shares of the Corporation so as to appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the auditor of the Corporation for the ensuing year at a remuneration to be
fixed by the Corporation and approved by the directors thereof;

3. to consider the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the auditor of the Trust for the ensuing year
at a remuneration to be fixed by the Corporation and approved by the directors thereof;

4, to consider the Trustee's nominees for election as directors of the Corporation for the ensuing year, and to
direct the Trustee to vote the common shares of the Corporation so as to elect all such nominees as
directors of the Corporation and to fill any vacancies among the directors of the Corporation that may arise
between the Meeting and the first meeting of Unitholders thereafter that considers the election of directors,
by appointing to any such vacancy a person selected by the board of the Corporation;

5. to consider and, if deemed appropriate, to pass with or without variation, a special resolution, the complete
text of which is set out in the accompanying Management Proxy Circular, approving and authorizing a Unit
split and authorizing amendments to the Trust Indenture which permit that Unit split and which also allow
future Unit splits by the Corporation as deemed appropriate and approved by the directors thereof, all as
more fully described and set forth in the accompanying Management Proxy Circular;

6. to consider and, if deemed appropriate, to pass with or without variation, a special resolution, the complete
text of which is set out in the accompanying Management Proxy Circular, approving and authorizing
certain amendments to the Trust Indenture regarding foreign ownership constraints, all as more fully
described and set forth in the accompanying Management Proxy Circular;

7. to consider and, if deemed appropriate, to pass with or without variation, an ordinary resolution, re-
appointing Computershare Trust Company of Canada as trustee of the Trust for an additional three year
term commencing on the Meeting date and expiring immediately following the annual meeting of
Unitholders in 2009, at a remuneration to be fixed by the Corporation and approved by the directors
thereof; and

8. to transact such other business as may properly be brought before the Meeting or any adjournment or
adjournments thereof.

DATED at Calgary, Alberta on March 10, 2006.

By Order of the Directors of Canadian Oil Sands
Limited on behalf of Canadian Oil Sands Trust

Trudy M. Curran
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Unitholders are referred to the accompanying Management Proxy Circular dated March 10, 2006 for more
detailed information regarding the matters to be considered at the Meeting. Capitalized terms used in this Notice
that are not defined here have the meanings given to such terms in the Management Proxy Circular.
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Only persons registered as holders of trust units on the records of the Trust as of the close of business on
March 6, 2006 are entitled to receive notice of, and to vote or act at, the Meeting.

Unitholders who are unable to attend the Meeting in person are requested to date and sign the enclosed
form of proxy and to mail it to, or deposit it with, the Trustee of the Trust, Computershare Trust Company of
Canada, 100 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, M5J 2Y1 (Attention: Proxy Department). In order to be valid
and acted upon at the Meeting, forms of proxy must be received by Computershare Trust Company of
Canada not less than twenty four (24) hours before the time set for the holding of the Meeting or any
adjournment thereof.

-1y -



CANADIAN OIL SANDS TRUST
2500 First Canadian Centre
350 -7th Avenue S.W.
Calgary, Alberta
T2P 3N9

MANAGEMENT PROXY CIRCULAR

Relating to the Annual and Special Meeting of Unitholders
to be held on Tuesday, April 25, 2006

To assist you in understanding this Circular, we have used the following terms:
"Canadian Oil Sands" or "We'' is the Trust and its subsidiaries.

"CGC" is the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the
Corporation.

"Circular" is this Management Proxy Circular.

"Corporation" is Canadian Oil Sands Limited, which is both the manager of the Trust and a subsidiary of
the Trust.

"Management" is the management of Canadian Oil Sands Limited.
The "Trust" is Canadian Oil Sands Trust.

"Trust Indenture” is the Amended and Restated Trust Indenture dated December 20, 2005, as further
amended.

"Trustee" or "Computershare" is Computershare Trust Company of Canada, the entity appointed as
trustee of the Trust and is also the transfer agent for the Units.

"Units" are the trust units of Canadian Oil Sands Trust.
"You" or "Unitholder' means a person who holds units in the Trust.

All references to $ in this circular are to Canadian dollars unless stated otherwise.

SOLICITATION OF PROXIES
Solicitation of Proxies by Management

This Circular is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies on behalf of the Trustee by
the Management of the Corporation pursuant to the terms of the Management Agreement between the
Corporation and the Trust dated July 5, 2001, as amended, for use at the Annual and Special Meeting (the
"Meeting') of the Unitholders of the Trust to be held on Tuesday, April 25, 2006 at the time and place and
for the purposes set forth in the accompanying Notice of Annual and Special Meeting of Unitholders (the
"Notice of Meeting"), and at any adjournment thereof. In order to be voted at the Meeting or any adjournment
thereof, proxies must be received by Computershare Trust Company of Canada, 100 University Avenue, Toronto,
Ontario, M5J 2Y1 (Attention: Proxy Department), not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the Meeting or
adjournment thereof.




Costs and Manner of Solicitation

Proxies in the enclosed form are solicited by Management. Solicitation of proxies will be primarily by
mail, but directors, officers and employees of the Corporation may, without special compensation, solicit proxies in
person or by telephone, facsimile or other form of electronic communication. We also have retained Valiant Trust
Company ("Valiant") to act as proxy solicitation and information agent to assist in the solicitation of proxies for the
Meeting. We are paying Valiant a fee of $15,000 plus reimbursement of certain out-of-pocket expenses for this
proxy solicitation. The cost of this solicitation of proxies and the preparation and mailing of this Circular will be
borne by the Trust.

APPOINTMENT AND REVOCATION OF PROXY
Appointment of Proxy

If you wish to have your Units voted at the Meeting by proxy, you must submit a properly completed
instrument of proxy to Computershare Trust Company of Canada, 100 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, M5J
2Y1 (Attention: Proxy Department). In order to be valid and acted upon at the Meeting, a properly completed
instrument of proxy must be received by the Trustee not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the time set
for the holding of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

You are only entitled to receive notice of, and to vote or act at, the Meeting or any adjournment thereof if
you were a Unitholder of record at the close of business on March 6, 2006 (the "Record Date"). If you became a
Unitholder after the Record Date, you cannot vote at the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

If you want to appoint a proxy, you must do so in a written document appointing a proxy and the document
must be executed by you or by your duly authorized attorney in writing. If you are a corporation, the document
must be under corporate seal by your duly authorized officer or attorney. An instrument of proxy signed by a person
acting as attorney or in some other representative capacity should expressly reflect such capacity (following his or
her signature) and should be accompanied by the appropriate instrument evidencing his or her qualification and
authority to so act.

The persons designated in the enclosed form of proxy furnished by Management are directors and
officers of the Corporation. If you are entitled to vote at the Meeting, you may appoint a person other than
those named in the enclosed form of proxy to attend and act for and on behalf of you at the Meeting or any
adjournment thereof. To exercise this right, you must insert the name of the person you want to represent
you (who does not need to be a Unitholder) in the blank space provided in the enclosed form of proxy and
submit such form in the manner described above, or submit another appropriate instrument of proxy.

Revocation of Proxy

If you have submitted a form of proxy, you may revoke it at any time prior to the exercise of that proxy by
depositing an instrument in writing executed by you or your attorney or authorized agent, either with Computershare
Trust Company of Canada, 100 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, M3J 2Y1 (Attention: Proxy Department) at
any time up to and including the last business day preceding the date of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof, or
with the Chairman of the Meeting on the day of the Meeting or prior to the commencement of the adjourned
meeting. Upon making either such deposits, your prior proxy is revoked. You may also revoke a previously given
proxy by personally attending the Meeting and voting your Units in person, or in any other manner permitted by
law.

Voting of Proxies and Exercise of Discretion by Proxyholders

On any ballot taken at the Meeting, the nominees named in the enclosed form of proxy will vote or
withhold from voting the Units in respect of which they have been appointed nominee in accordance with the
directions of the Unitholders appointing them. In the absence of such direction, the Units represented by valid
instruments of proxy executed in favour of the Management designees and deposited in the manner described above
will be voted "FOR" all matters identified in the Notice of Meeting.



The enclosed form of proxy gives the nominees named in the proxy form discretionary authority
regarding any amendments or variations of the matters identified in the proxy and Notice of Meeting. The
proxy form also gives the nominees discretion and any authority to act on any other matters that may
properly come before the Meeting or any adjournment thereof. At the time of mailing of this Circular,
neither the Trustee nor Management knows of any such amendments, variations or other matter.

Advice to Beneficial Holders of Units

The information set forth in this section is very important to you if you do not hold Units in your own
name. If you hold Units through a broker, financial institution, trustee, nominee or other intermediary or otherwise
(referred to in this section as "Beneficial Holders"), you should note that only proxies deposited by persons whose
names appear on the records of the Trust as the registered holders of Units will be recognized and acted upon at the
Meeting.

Units that are listed in an account statement provided to you by a broker are probably not registered in your
own name on the records of the Trust. Such Units are more likely to be registered in the name of your broker or an
agent of that broker. In Canada, most such Units are registered in the name of CDS & Co. (the registration name for
The Canadian Depository for Securities Limited, which acts as nominee for many Canadian brokerage firms). Units
held by brokers or other intermediaries on your behalf can only be voted (for or against resolutions) at your
direction. Without specific instructions, brokers and other intermediaries are prohibited from voting Units for their
clients. You should ensure that instructions regarding the voting of your Units are communicated to the appropriate
person by the appropriate time.

Applicable regulatory policy in Canada requires brokers and other intermediaries to seek voting
instructions from you in advance of Unitholder meetings. Each broker or other intermediary has its own mailing
procedures and provides its own return instructions to clients. You should carefully follow these procedures and
instructions to ensure that your Units are voted at the Meeting. In some cases, the form of proxy or voting
instruction form provided to you by or on behalf of your broker or other intermediary is very similar, even identical,
to the enclosed form of proxy being solicited by Management. The purpose of the form of proxy or voting
instruction form provided by or on behalf of a broker or other intermediary, however, is limited to instructing the
registered holder (the broker or other intermediary, or an agent thereof) how to vote on your behalf. Most brokers
now delegate responsibility for obtaining voting instructions from clients to ADP Investor Communications
("ADP"). ADP typically supplies voting instruction forms, mails those forms to you and asks you to return the
forms to ADP or follow specified telephone or internet-based voting procedures. ADP then tabulates the results of
all instructions received and provides appropriate instructions regarding the voting of Units to be represented at the
Meeting. If you receive a voting instruction form from ADP, you cannot use that form to vote your Units
directly at the Meeting, but must instead return the voting instruction form to ADP or complete the telephone
or internet-based voting procedures well in advance of the Meeting to have such Units voted at the Meeting
on your behalf.

Although you may not be recognized directly at the Meeting for the purposes of voting Units registered in
the name of your broker or other intermediary, you may attend the Meeting as proxyholder for the registered holder
and vote your Units in that capacity. 1f you wish to attend the Meeting and indirectly vote your own Units, you must
do so as proxyholder for the registered holder. To do this, you should enter your own name in the blank space on
the form of proxy or voting instruction form provided to you and return the document to your broker or other
intermediary (or the agent of such broker or other intermediary) in accordance with the instructions provided by
such broker, intermediary or agent well in advance of the Meeting.

VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF

Each Unit entitles the holder of the Unit to one vote on all matters coming before the Meeting. Only
Unitholders of record as of the close of business on the Record Date (March 6, 2006) are entitled to receive notice of
the Meeting. As at the date hereof, there are 92,832,690 Units issued and outstanding,.

If you are shown as a Unitholder on the Unitholder list kept by Computershare on the Record Date, you
will be entitled to vote at the Meeting or any adjournment thereof on the basis of one vote for each Unit shown
opposite your name on the Trust's register of Unitholders even if you dispose of your Units after the Record Date.




No person who becomes a Unitholder after the Record Date will be entitled to vote or act at the Meeting or any
adjournment thereof.

The Trustee, on behalf of the Trust, holds all of the issued and outstanding common shares of the
Corporation (the "COSL Shares"). There are no other shares of the Corporation issued and outstanding.

To the knowledge of Computershare, the Corporation, and the Corporation's directors and senior officers:
(a) no person beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises control or direction over, more than 10% of the
issued and outstanding Units; and (b) CDS & Co., a Canadian depository for securities, is the only entity shown on
the Trust's register of Unitholders to be the registered holder of more than 10% of the issued and outstanding Units.
As at February 22, 2006, to the knowledge of the Trustee and the Corporation, the directors and officers of the
Corporation hold, in the aggregate, 118,984 Units, representing less than 1% of the issued and outstanding Units.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The annual consolidated financial statements of the Trust for the fiscal year ended December 31, 20035,
together with the auditor's report thereon, are being sent concurrently to you with this Circular as part of the 2005
Annual Report. No formal action will be taken at the Meeting to approve the financial statements. In accordance
with applicable law, the lead audit partner for the Trust is rotated every five years. The Trust Indenture only
requires that the financial statements be sent to you in advance of the Meeting. If you have questions regarding such
financial statements, you may ask your questions at the Meeting,.

APPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR

The Board recommends that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Accountants, be appointed auditor of
the Trust and the Corporation for the ensuing year at a remuneration to be fixed by the Corporation and approved by
the Corporation's directors. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP was first appointed on April 19, 1996 as the auditor of a
predecessor of the Trust, also named Canadian Oil Sands Trust ("COST"), and was appointed as the auditor of the
Trust and the Corporation's predecessors in July and August 2001. In accordance with applicable law, the lead and
concurring audit partner for the Trust is rotated every five years. The aggregate fees paid to
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (exclusive of GST) in 2004 and 2005 were as follows:

Fees Descriptions 2005 2004
Audit $203,000 $170,000
Audit Related $14,000 $53,000
Tax $167,000 $216,000
All Other Nil Nil

Audit related services primarily related to the provision of comfort letters and compilation reports issued as
the auditor in relation to various debt and equity financings of Canadian Oil Sands. Most of the tax services related
to tax return filings and assessments.

Unless otherwise directed by the Unitholders appointing them proxy, the persons named in the
enclosed form of proxy intend to vote at the Meeting to: (a) approve the reappointment of
PricewaterhouseCaoopers LLP as the auditor of the Trust for the ensuing year; and (b) direct the Trustee to
vote the COSL Shares in favour of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the auditor of the
Corporation for the ensuing year, in each case at a remuneration to be fixed by the Corporation and
approved by the Corporation’'s directors.

Representatives of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will be present at the Meeting and will have the
opportunity to make a statement and to respond to appropriate questions.



ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Corporation currently has a board of directors (the "Board" or "Board of Directors") consisting of eight
members, all of whom but one (the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation) are independent. The
Trustee, as the direct holder of all of the COSL Shares, is the only party entitled to directly cast votes for the election
of directors.

The Board of Directors is elected annually and consists of such number as may be fixed from time to time
by the directors, being not less than five nor more than 10 directors. In addition, the articles of the Corporation
currently allow the Board of Directors of the Corporation to appoint one additional director between meetings of
Unitholders. By resolution of the Board, the number of directors to be elected at the Meeting has been fixed at
eight. The Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee ("CGC") of the Board considered the skills and
attributes necessary or desirable for members of the Board to have in order to effectively govern the Trust given the
nature of the Trust's business and its size in terms of revenues, market capitalization and number of employees as
well as the decision to internalize the marketing department. The CGC then considered the skills and experience as
well as the ages of its current Board members as well as those of various external candidates. The CGC has
historically looked to other Board members and their contacts in the industry to identify potential new candidates but
has also considered using third party search firms in this regard. The Board determined that the current membership
was sufficient to allow the Board to operate in a prudent and effective manner at the current time. Having eight
directors allows delegation of certain matters that require more in-depth oversight and analysis to be handled by
committees of the Board of an appropriate size and composition. However, given the increased focus on financial
reporting and analysis, the additional marketing functions to be assumed by the Corporation by the end of 2006 and
the increased time commitments and responsibilities that recent legislation and legislative proposals have placed on
boards, and on audit committees in particular, the Board may find that an additional director with financial
experience who could serve on both the Board and the Audit Committee may be needed prior to 2007 and, in that
regard, may exercise the Board's right to add one additional director between annual general meetings of
Unitholders. Each of the persons listed below is proposed to be nominated as a director of the Corporation to serve
until the next annual meeting of Unitholders of the Trust or until his or her successor is elected or appointed, and
each has agreed to serve as a director if elected.

Nominees

The eight individuals identified in the table below (the "Nominees") are proposed by the Trustee, on behalf
of the Trust, for election as directors of the Corporation, to serve until the next annual meeting of the shareholders of
the Corporation or until their successors are duly elected or appointed. If any vacancies occur in the slate of such
Nominees because any Nominee is unable or not willing to serve, the discretionary authority conferred by the
enclosed form of proxy will be exercised to grant approval to the Trustee to vote the COSL Shares for the election as
director of such other person or persons as may be nominated by the Trustee. In this regard, the Trustee will
nominate such person or persons as may be selected by the Corporation.

The names of the Nominees, their province and country of residence, their current principal occupations,
the year in which each first became a director of the Corporation or one of its predecessor companies, and the
number of Units beneficially owned or over which control or direction is exercised by each such Nominee as at
February 22, 2006, are as follows:




Year First Number of Units Beneficially Owned

Name and Province Became a or over which Control or Direction is
and Country of Residence Director Current Principal Occupation Independent Exercised as at February 22, 2006
MARCEL R, COUTU 2001 President and Chief Executive Officer, NotP 37,1919
Alberta, Canada Canadian Qil Sands Limited
E. SUSAN EVANS, Q.. 1997 Corporate Director Yes 10,904

Alberta, Canada

THE RIGHT HONOURABLE 2002 Corporate Director and Business Consultant Yes 8468
DONALD F. MAZANKOWSKI®
Alberta, Canada

WAYNE M. NEWHOUSE® 1996 Corporate Director ' Yes 5,200
Alberta, Canada

WALTER B. O'DONOGHUE, Q.C*¥ 1995 Corporate Director Yes 8,480
Alberta, Canada

C.E. (CHUCK) SHULTZ® 1996 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Yes 18,702
Alberta, Canada Dauntless Energy Inc. (private oil and gas
corporation)

WESLEY R. TWISS® 2001 Corporate Director Yes 7,294
Alberta, Canada
JOHN B, ZAOZIRNY, Q.C4 1996 Counsel, McCarthy Tétrault LLP (law firm) Yes 7,000

Alberta, Canada

Notes:

(1) Mr. Coutu is the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and therefore is a non-indepéndent director.
(2)  Includes 8,462 Units over which Mr. Coutu exercises control or direction.

(3)  Member of the Audit Committee.

(4)  Member of the CGC.

(5) - Includes 1,094 Units over which Mr. Twiss exercises control or direction.

The biographies of the current Directors who are standing for renomination are contained on our website at
www.cos-trust.com/corporate information/directors and can also be found in our annual report for 2005.

Unless otherwise directed by the Unitholders appointing them proxy, the persons named in the
enclosed form of proxy intend to vote at the Meeting to direct the Trustee to vote the COSL Shares so as to
elect as directors of the Corporation all of the Nominees identified above, and to fill any vacancies among the
directors of the Corporation that may arise between the Meeting and the first meeting of the Unitholders
thereafter that considers the election of directors, by appointing to any such vacancy a person selected by the
Corporation.

SPECIAL MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED AT THE MEETING
Unit Split
a) Background and Summary of Proposed Amendment

Management proposes seeking Unitholder approval to split the Units on a five-to-one basis and to amend
the Trust Indenture to allow the Board of Directors in the future to affect further Unit splits without seeking
Unitholder approval in advance. Corporations governed by the Canada Business Corporations Act have this ability
embedded in the legislation governing Canadian corporations. As the Trust Act (Alberta), which governs the Trust,
does not have such a provision, the equivalent provision needs to be included in the Trust Indenture. The specifics



of the proposed amendment allowing this split of Units on a five-to-one basis and allowing further splits in the
future are set out on Schedule A attached hereto as Part [ (together, the "Split Amendments").

Management and the Board believe that having a greater number of Units at a reduced price per Unit will
enhance liquidity, increase investor interest in the Trust and our business, and bring the trading price of the Units
into a more accessible range for retail investors. Accordingly, the Board and Management recommend amending
the Trust Indenture to allow for splits of Units at any time that the Board, acting in good faith, deems it prudent to
make such a split. In particular, the Board of Directors and Management believe that the current trading price of the
Units restricts investment by certain individuals and proposes, subject to Unitholder and regulatory approval, to split
the Units on a five-to-one basis.

If approved, all Unitholders on the record date for the split will be issued four additional Units for each
Unit they hold on that date. As a result, you will have five times as many Units after the split is completed. The
Board has set May 3, 2006 (or any earlier or later date necessary to comply with the requirements of any stock
exchange or regulatory authority) as the record date for the unit split (the "Split Date").

If you hold Units registered in your name, please keep your current Unit certificate. Around May 7,
2006 (the "Mailing Date"), Computershare will issue and send you another Unit certificate for the additional Units
you are entitled to after the split.

If your Units are registered in the name of a nominee (a bank, trust company, securities broker, trustee or
other), you do not need to do anything — the additional Units you are entitled to after the split will be added to your
account automatically as of the opening of business three trading days after the Split Date.

Under the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") rules, the Units will begin trading on a post-split basis at the
opening of business on the second trading day preceding the Split Date (e.g. on May 1, 2006 assuming a Split Date
of May 3, 2006).

The split of the Units will not change any of your rights as a Unitholder. After the split, each Unit will
continue to be entitled to one vote and will be fully paid and non-assessable. As a result of the split, there will be
certain consequential amendments to outstanding rights and options to acquire Units and to the Trust's Unit-based
incentive compensation programs to preserve, proportionally, the rights of the holders of outstanding rights and
options and of participants in the stock-based incentive compensation programs.

To determine any gain or loss on Units you dispose of after the Split Date, you will have to proportionately
reduce the adjusted cost of Units held to reflect the increased number of Units held after giving effect to the split.
As an example, if you had 100 Units at an adjusted cost base of $50 each, after the split you would have 500 Units
with an adjusted cost base of $10 each.

The Trust has been advised by outside legal counsel that, under existing Canadian income tax law, and
taking into account all published proposals for its amendment, the proposed split of Units and the amendment to the
Trust Indenture to reflect the split (which increases the number of units by 500%) will not result in taxable income
or any gain or loss to Unitholders. Unitholders may wish to consult their tax advisors to determine the proper
adjusted cost base of their Units after the split.

The Trust has been advised by outside legal counsel that, under existing U.S. federal income tax law, the
proposed split of Units and the amendment to the Trust Indenture to reflect the split will not generally result in
taxable income or in any gain or loss to the Unitholders. The amount paid for (that is, the tax basis of) the existing
Units will generally be allocated proportionately to the total Units held after the split. This results in a tax basis for
each Unit that is 20% of the tax basis of the Units held just before the split. A Unitholder's holding period for Units
received in the split will include the period for which the Unitholder has held his or her existing Units. Other rules
may apply to Unitholders of two or more lots of Units or Unitholders who are subject to special provisions under the
U.S. Internal Revenue Code. Those Unitholders should consult their tax advisors to determine the proper method for
allocating the tax basis and to determine the holding period for each of their Units. The foregoing discussion
addresses only the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the current transaction and does not address the U.S.
federal income tax consequences of other splits that may occur in the future. The foregoing discussion also does not
address the U.S. federal income tax consequences of holding and disposing of Units.




b Unitholder Approval

At the Meeting, Unitholders will be asked to consider and, if thought fit, pass the special resolution set out
below authorizing the Trust to split the outstanding Units on a five-to-one basis and amending the Trust Indenture to
allow the Board of Directors to effect such a split and to authorize and effect further splits in the future, if deemed
advisable: '

"BE IT RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT:

1. The amendments to the Amended and Restated Trust Indenture of the Trust dated as of
December 20, 2005, as amended (the "Trust Indenture") as described in the Management
Proxy Circular of the Trust dated March 10, 2006 under the heading "Special Matters to be
Considered at the Meeting — Unit Split" (hereinafter referred to as the "Split Amendments")
be and are hereby approved and authorized.

2. Computershare Trust Company of Canada (the "Trustee"), as trustee of the Trust, and
Canadian Oil Sands Limited (the "Corporation"), as manager of the Trust, be and are hereby
authorized to make the Split Amendments, in whole or in part, and all such further and
consequential amendments to the Trust Indenture and any other relevant agreements and to
cause all such agreements to be entered into and such further documents to be executed or
amended as they may consider necessary or desirable to give effect to and to fully carry out
the intent of this Special Resolution, in each case at such time or times as the Trustee and the
Corporation shall consider necessary or desirable.

3. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

(a) the Trustee and the Corporation be and are hereby authorized to execute and deliver, at
such time or times as the Trustee and the Corporation shall consider necessary or
advisable, one or more amending agreements to the Trust Indenture, or amended and
restated trust indentures, incorporating the Split Amendments to be implemented at the
time pursuant to this Special Resolution, and the execution and delivery thereof shall
evidence approval of such Split Amendments and the amending agreement or amended
and restated trust indenture pursuant to this Special Resolution; and

(b) any director or officer of the Corporation be and is hereby authorized to execute and
deliver, for and on behalf of the Trust or the Corporation or as may otherwise be required,
such other agreements, instruments or other documents (including an amending
agreement to the Trust Indenture or an amended and restated trust indenture) and take
such other actions as such director or officer may determine to be necessary or advisable
to give effect to and to fully implement and carry out the intent of this Special Resolution
and the matters authorized hereby, such determination to be conclusively evidenced by
the execution and delivery of any such agreements, instruments or other documents or the
taking of any such action.

4. Notwithstanding the passing of this Special Resolution by the Unitholders, the Board of
Directors of the Corporation may at any time and from time to time hereafter revoke this
Special Resolution with respect to all or any of the Split Amendments (or, if some of the Split
Amendments have already been implemented at the time of revocation, all or any of the Split
Amendments that have not been implemented), without further approval of the Unitholders, if
it determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, that such revocation is in the best interests of
the Unitholders.

To be approved, the foregoing special resolution must be passed by the affirmative votes of the holders of
not less than 66%% of the Units represented at the Meeting and voted on a poll upon such resolution. To properly
transact the special business to come before the Meeting, a quorum of two or more persons (either represented in
person or by proxy) must be present representing no less than 20% of the aggregate number of outstanding Units
entitled to vote at the Meeting.



c) Recommendation of the Board

The Board and Management unanimously recommend that Unitholders vote FOR approval of the
special resolution approving the Split Amendment to the Trust Indenture, including the division of the Units on a
five-to-one basis. The persons named in the enclosed Proxy intend to vote FOR this matter unless the Unitholder
instructs otherwise. The Trust has been advised that the directors and senior officers intend to vote units held by
them in favor of this resolution.

Amendment to Foreign Ownership Provisions
a) Background and Summary of Amendments to Trust Indenture

The Trust Indenture currently limits the number of Units that non-residents of Canada may hold to not
greater than 49% of the outstanding Units (the "Ownership Threshold"). While this provision is intended to allow
the Trust to qualify as a mutual fund trust under Canadian federal income tax legislation, the Board of Directors and
Management believe that the Trustee should have the flexibility to permit the number of Units held by non-residents
of Canada to exceed the Ownership Threshold if Canadian legislation or legal advice regarding the ability of the
Trust to be a mutual fund trust without this restriction changes or if the Board or Directors is otherwise satisfied that
the restriction is not necessary in order to remain a mutual fund trust. Accordingly, Management and the Board
propose amending the Trust Indenture to allow the Board of Directors to determine where it is in the best interests of
Unitholders, having considered among other things, legal advice or a change in legislation, to no longer enforce the
Ownership Threshold and instead, upon prior public notice to Unitholders, implement different ownership
restrictions, all so long as the Trust continues to comply with the legislative requirements to qualify as a mutual fund
trust.

The text of the suggested amendments to the Trust Indenture are contained in Part I1 of the Schedule A
attached hereto (the "Ownership Amendments").

b) Unitholder Approval

At the M.eeting, the Unitholders will be asked to approve the following special resolution relating to
approval and authorization of the proposed Ownership Amendments.

BE IT RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT:

1. The amendments to the Amended and Restated Trust Indenture of the Trust dated as of
December 20, 2005, as amended (the "Trust Indenture"), as described in the Management
Proxy Circular of the Trust dated March 10, 2006 under the heading "Special Matters to be
Considered at the Meeting — Amendment to Foreign Ownership Provisions” relating to the

+ Ownership Amendments (as defined in the Management Proxy Circular) be and are hereby
approved and authorized.

2. Computershare Trust Company of Canada (the "Trustee"), as trustee of the Trust, and
Canadian Qil Sands Limited (the "Corporation"), as manager of the Trust, be and are hereby
authorized to make the Ownership Amendments, in whole or in part, and all such further and
consequential amendments to the Trust Indenture and any other relevant agreements and to
cause all such agreements to be entered into and such further documents to be executed or
amended as they may consider necessary or desirable to give effect to and to fully carry out
the intent of this Special Resolution, in each case at such time or times as the Trustee and the
Corporation shall consider necessary or desirable.

3.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

(a) the Trustee and the Corporation be and are hereby authorized to execute and deliver, at
such time or times as the Trustee and the Corporation shall consider necessary or
advisable, one or more amending agreements to the Trust Indenture, or amended and
restated trust indentures, incorporating the Ownership Amendments to be implemented at
the time pursuant to this Special Resolution, and the execution and delivery thereof shall




evidence approval of such Ownership Amendments and the amending agreement or
amended and restated trust indenture pursuant to this Special Resolution; and

(b) any director or officer of the Corporation be and is hereby authorized to execute and
deliver, for and on behalf of the Trust or the Corporation or as may otherwise be required,
such other agreements, instruments or other documents (including an amending
agreement to the Trust Indenture or an amended and restated trust indenture) and take
such other actions as such director or officer may determine to be necessary or advisable
to give effect to and to fully implement and carry out the intent of this Special Resolution
and the matters authorized hereby, such determination to be conclusively evidenced by
the execution and delivery of any such agreements, instruments or other documents or the
taking of any such action.

4. Notwithstanding the passing of this Special Resolution by the Unitholders, the Board of
Directors of the Corporation may at any time and from time to time hereafter revoke this
Special Resolution with respect to all or any of the Ownership Amendments (or, if some of
the Ownership Amendments have already been implemented at the time of revocation, all or
any of the Ownership Amendments that have not been implemented), without further
approval of the Unitholders, if it determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, that such
revocation is in the best interests of the Unitholders.

To be approved, the foregoing special resolution must be passed by the affirmative votes of the holders of
not less than 66%% of the Units represented at the Meeting and voted on a poll upon such resolution. To properly
transact the special business to come before the Meeting, a quorum of two or more persons (either represented in
person or by proxy) must be present representing no less than 20% of the aggregate number of outstanding Units
entitled to vote at the Meeting. In the event that the special resolution is not passed, the Trustee and the
Corporation, as manager of the Trust, may in their discretion proceed with any or all of those of the Ownership
Amendments that can, pursuant to the current terms of the Trust Indenture, be implemented without Unitholder
approval if they consider such action to be in the best interests of the Unitholders.

c) Recommendation of the Board

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that Unitholders vote FOR approval of the special
resolution approving the Ownership Amendments to the Trust Indenture as described above. Unless
otherwise directed by the Unitholder appointing them, the persons named in the enclosed form of proxy
intend to vote, at the Meeting, FOR approval of such special resolution. The Trust has been advised that the
directors and senior officers intend to vote units held by them in favor of this resolution.

Re-appointment of the Trustee
a) Background

Under the Trust'Indenture, Unitholders are required to reappoint the Trustee on the 1th anniversary of the
Unitholder meeting following the creation of the Trust. [f reappointed, the Trustee will hold such until the expiry of
the annual meeting of Unitholders in 2009.

When the Trust was created in October 1995, Montreal Trust Company of Canada was appointed as trustee.
In 2000, Computershare acquired the business operated by Montreal Trust Company and assumed the role as trustee.
In 2005, in anticipation of the review of the trustee role, Management sought proposals from two trust companies,
one of whom was Computershare. Based on the quality of service and level of pricing in the proposals received,
Management and the Board recommend the re-appointment of Computershare Trust Company of Canada as Trustee
for the Trust for the ensuing three years or until their successor is appointed or they are replaced pursuant to the
terms of the Trust Indenture.

Computershare was paid approximately $20,500 in retainer and trustee fees plus an additional $69,000 in
relation to it acting as trustee for the Trust’s DRIP and for the Unitholder Rights Plan as well as reimbursement for
expenses and ancillary fees and charges related to its acting as trustee and transfer agent for the Units for the
financial year ended December 31, 2005. Computershare also acts as trustee of the mining reclamation trust for
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Canadian Oil Sands and as trustee for the issuance of medium term notes by the Corporation. For such additional
services, Computershare was paid approximately $11,130 plus an additional amount of approximately $100 as
reimbursement for expenses in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

b) Unitholder Approval

At the Meeting, the Unitholders will be asked to approve the following ordinary resolution relating to
approval and authorization of the re-appointment of the Trustee.

BE IT RESOLVED AS AN ORDINARY RESOLUTION THAT:

I. In accordance with Section 6.1 of the Trust Indenture, Computershare Trust Company of
Canada ("Computershare") be re-appointed as trustee of Canadian Oil Sands Trust (the
"Trust") to hold such office until the expiry of the annual meeting of Unithholders in 2009 or
until their successor is appointed or they are replaced pursuant to the terms of the Trust
Indenture.

2. Canadian Oil Sands Limited (the "Corporation"), as manager of the Trust, be and is hereby
authorized to make such changes and to execute such documents as are necessary to reflect
the re-appointment of Computershare as trustee and all such further and consequential
amendments to the Trust Indenture and any other relevant agreements and to cause all such
agreements to be entered into and such further documents to be executed or amended as they
may consider necessary or desirable to give effect to and to fully carry out the intent of this
Resolution, in each case at such time or times as the Corporation shall consider necessary or
desirable.

3. Any director or officer of the Corporation be and is hereby authorized to execute and deliver,
for and on behalf of the Trust or the Corporation or as may otherwise be required, such other
agreements, instruments or other documents (including an amending agreement to the Trust
Indenture or an amended and restated trust indenture) and take such other actions as such
director or officer may determine to be necessary or advisable to give effect to and to fully
implement and carry out the intent of this Resolution and the matters authorized hereby, such
determination to be conclusively evidenced by the execution and delivery of any such
agreements, instruments or other documents or the taking of any such action.

To be approved, the foregoing ordinary resolution must be passed by the affirmative votes of the holders of
more than 50% of the Units represented at the Meeting and voted on a poll upon such resolution. To properly
transact the special business to come before the Meeting, a quorum of two or more persons (either represented in
person or by proxy) must be present representing no less than 2% of the aggregate number of outstanding Units
entitled to vote at the Meeting,

c) Recommendation of the Board
The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that Unitholders vote FOR approval of the
resolution approving the re-appointment of Computershare as trustee. Unless otherwise directed by the

Unitholder appointing them, the persons named in the enclosed form of proxy intend to vote, at the Meeting,
FOR approval of such resolution to re-appoint Computershare as trustee.
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Corporate governance relates to the activities of a board of directors, the committees of the board and the
board members who are elected by and are accountable to their constituent securityholders, as well as the evaluation
of the role of the individual members of management who are appointed by the board of directors and who are
charged with the day-to-day management of the issuer. The Trust, as a trust, does not have officers and directors.
Instead, the Trust is governed, for the most part, by the Corporation and the Corporation's board of directors.
References to the "Board” or the "Board of Directors" are to the board of directors of the Corporation.

The Board of Directors is comprised of experienced leaders who share their financial and operational
experience in the oil and gas industry with a view to providing effective stewardship of Canadian Oil Sands. They
bring sound judgment, integrity and independence of thought to the task and are encouraged to speak their minds,
while respecting others, so that different viewpoints can flourish in the process of developing a reasoned conclusion.

The Board continues to believe that effective governance improves the performance of Canadian Oil Sands
and benefits all securityholders. The Board and Management are committed to good corporate governance, bearing
in mind the particular nature of the business of the Trust and its subsidiaries. Our corporate governance practices
satisfy the requirements of National Policy 58-201 and National Instrument 58-101 (together, the "CSA Rules") in
that we have either adopted terms of reference or implemented procedures that meet the governance guidelines
outlined therein. Additionally, the securities regulators have set out specific governance requirements for audit
committees and the independence of such committees in Multilateral Instrument 52-110 (the "Audit Requirements").
Annually, the CGC considers the CSA Rules, the corporate governance guidelines issued by the Canadian Coalition
for Good Governance (the "Coalition") and the practices of certain members of its peer group. The Board of
Directors and Management consider good corporate governance to be central to the efficient and effective operation
of Canadian public issuers. The Board regularly reviews its corporate governance practices in light of developing
requirements and implements changes where appropriate.

Independence of the Board

The Board of Directors functions independently of Management, and retains all powers that are not
expressly delegated to Management. The CGC and the Board have assessed the experience, corporate skills and
corporate relationships of the current directors and believe that, other than Mr. Coutu, who is an officer of the
Corporation, each director is an "independent” director. An "independent director" is a director who is independent
of management and is a person who does not have any direct or indirect material relationship with the issuer which,
in the view of the board of directors of the issuer, could reasonably interfere with the exercise of the member's
independent judgment. All members of the Audit Committee are financially literate and independent in accordance
with the Audit Requirements.

All committees of the Board of Directors are composed entirely of independent directors and in camera
meetings of the independent Board members are held regularly. The composition of the Board, including the
independence of the Chairman and his specified role, ensures that the Board has in place appropriate structures and
procedures to ensure that the Board can function independently of Management.

Other Directorships

Certain directors of the Corporation serve as directors of other issuers. The CGC and Chairman of the
Board monitor the amount of other board memberships for current and proposed directors on an ongoing basis to
ensure the ability of all directors to effectively act in the best interests of the Trust.

The nominees for election as directors of the Corporation that are directors of other public companies or
reporting entities, are as follows: Ms. E. Susan Evans serves on the board of directors of Enbridge Inc.; The Right
Honourable Donald F. Mazankowski serves as a director of the following public companies: ATCO Group, Shaw
Communications Inc., Weyerhaeuser Company, Great West Lifeco, IGM Financial Inc., Power Corporation of
Canada, Power Financial Corporation, and Yellow Pages Group, Mr. Wayne M. Newhouse is a director of
Petrofund Energy Trust and E-T Energy Limited; Mr. Walter B. O'Donoghue, Q.C. is a director of Gentry Resources
Ltd.; Mr. C.E. (Chuck) Shultz is a director of Enbridge Inc. and Newfield Exploration Company; Mr. Wesley R.
Twiss is a director of the following public companies: Hydrogenics Corporation, Keyspan Facilities Income Fund,
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Enbridge Income Fund, EPCOR, and Addax Petroleum Corporation; and Mr. John B. Zaozirmy, Q.C. is a director of
the following public companies: Bankers Petroleum Ltd., Canaccord Capital Inc., Candax Inc., Computer Modelling
Group Ltd., Fording Canadian Coal Trust, High Arctic Energy Income Fund, Ipsco Inc., Pengrowth Corporation,
Petroworld Corporation, Provident Energy Ltd., and Terravest Income Fund.

Board Succession

In 2003, the CGC considered succession planning for Board members and discussed guidelines to assist in
the process of identifying new Board members. To assist in the selection process, the CGC created a profile of ideal
characteristics and qualifications of new nominees which takes into account the Trust's governance framework and
current Board composition. The process undertaken in 2005 is further described under "Election of Directors —
Board Composition"” on page 5 of this Circular.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board of Directors sees its principal role as stewardship of the Trust and its fundamental objective as
the creation of Unitholder value, including the protection and enhancement of the value of the Trust's assets, and
operating with honesty and integrity in the conduct of business. The Board's stewardship responsibility means that it
oversees the conduct of the business and Management, which is responsible for developing long-term strategy and
conducting the Corporation's day-to-day business. Annually, the Board meets at an extended Board session to
review and approve corporate strategy. In 2006, this strategy session is scheduled to occur in Fort McMurray,
Alberta and encompasses visits to the Syncrude site as well as presentations by senior management of Syncrude
Canada Ltd. A similar tour of the Syncrude project occurred in the fall of 2003.

The Board assesses and ensures systems are in place to manage the risks of the Trust's business with the
objective of preserving the Trust's assets and creating Unitholder value. The Board, through the President and Chief
Executive Officer and the senior officers, sets the attitude and disposition of the Trust towards compliance with
applicable laws, financial practices and reporting, and environmental and safety policies.

In fulfilling its primary responsibilities, the Board has oversight responsibility that Canadian Oil Sands has:

e established long-term goals and a strategic planning process, identified the principal risks of Canadian
Oil Sands' business and implemented appropriate systems to monitor and manage those risks;

e established processes to manage and measure Management's, and in particular, the President and Chief
Executive Officer's performance in achieving the Trust's stated objectives and annually develops a
position description in the form of terms of reference and objectives of the President and Chief
Executive Officer;

e reviewed Management’s risk assessments and reviewed Management reports demonstrating
compliance with risk management policies with the view that further risk management procedures
would be adopted with the internalization of the marketing function;

* reviewed compliance by Management of the Code of Business Conduct (the "Code") as well as the
other corporate policies approved by the Board,;

e approved intemal controls and management systems to effectively monitor Canadian Oil Sands'
operations and promote compliance with applicable laws, regulations and policies; and

¢ adopted a communications program for effectively communicating with and receiving feedback from
Unitholders, employees, government authorities, other stakeholders and the public.

The terms of the mandate of the Board as set out in Part A of Schedule "B" to this Circular ensure that
Canadian Oil Sands annually confirms or redetermines its long-term strategy and strategic objectives and sets its
budget and development plan for the ensuing year. This process produces specific annual and longer term goals for
Canadian Oil Sands that are further developed into specific performance objectives for each of the executive officers
of Canadian Oil Sands based upon that executive officer's role at Canadian Oil Sands. Through this process, each
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executive officer (including the President and Chief Executive Officer) individually, and the executive officers as a
whole, are made directly responsible for achieving the annual and medium term goals of Canadian Oil Sands. A
significant portion of the annual compensation of each executive officer is based upon achieving these corporate and
individual goals.

The Board also is required to satisfy itself as to the business and professional integrity of the President and
Chief Executive Officer and other executive ofticers, and those officers' creation of a culture of integrity through
Canadian Oil Sands. The Board monitors compliance with the Code. Canadian Oil Sands has implemented a
number of policies, including a corporate risk policy aimed at identifying risks, and amended its disclosure policies
with a view to enhancing the level of internal disclosure control processes and information management systems.

The Board discharges the responsibilities set out in its mandate either directly or through committees.
Committees of the Board allow directors to focus responsibility and devote necessary resources to a particular issue
or area. The Corporation regularly schedules meetings of both the Board and the committees, and at each regularly
scheduled meeting, in-camera sessions are held to allow full disclosure and discussion of any and all issues by Board
and committee members. Additionally, in 2005, the Board, in conjunction with the CGC, developed terms of
reference which act as position descriptions for the Chair of each committee. There are also terms of reference for
the Chairman of the Board.

The Board of Directors has an Audit Committee and a CGC. The Board of Directors does not have an
Executive Committee. Mr. Shultz is the Chairman of the Board of Directors and is an independent director.

Code of Business Conduct

The Code sets out our basic principle that all directors, officers and employees should act with integrity,
honestly and in compliance with applicable laws. In addition to the Code, the Board has established an internal
policy by which employees and contractors are encouraged to report, either anonymously or not (as the person
wishes), any fraud, improper or illegal conduct or unethical behaviour. Annually, officers, employees and directors
are required to review the Code and the other policies, including the policies relating to maintaining confidential
information and disclosure of material information and either certify their compliance with such policies or identify
any non-compliance by them or anyone else of which they are aware. Any breach of the Code requires disclosure to
the Audit Committee and the Board. Since its inception in 2003, no waivers of the Code have been given and no
breaches have been reported. Since Canadian Oil Sands has a small number of employees, Board members and the
Chairman of the Board, in particular, have personal contact with the employees. In discussions between employees
and the Board, employees are encouraged to have open and frank discussions with the Board or any member of the
Board on any matter of concern.

The Code is applicable to all directors, officers and employees of Canadian Oil Sands, and can be obtained
from our website at www.cos-trust.com, at www.sedar.com or upon request from the General Counsel and
Corporate Secretary at 2500 First Canadian Centre, 350 — 7" Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta T2P 3N9.

Orientation and Continuing Education

We have an orientation and development program for our Board, including a Board reference manual that
outlines the duties and responsibilities of the Board, the committees and each member as a director. This manual is
updated on a regular basis and all Board members are expected to review and be familiar with its contents. In
addition, Canadian Oil Sands has a process to conduct an orientation session with new directors to review the Trust's
business, expectations of directors, current issues and opportunities and corporate goals and objectives. We also
provide directors with opportunities to increase their knowledge and understanding of the business through site visits
of Syncrude or through specific information sessions on relevant topics, such as crude oil marketing, hedging and
civil liability for secondary market disclosure. In addition, the Board is briefed on a regular basis on corporate
governance developments and emerging best practices in corporate governance.

Expectations and responsibilities of directors, including basic duties and responsibilities with respect to

attendance at board meetings and advance review of meeting materials, are conveyed to Board members as part of
the evaluation process and are also communicated in orientation sessions for new Board members.
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Additionally, the Board supports both financially and in overall tone, any director attending external
programs such as the Haskayne School of Business or ICD Directors Education Program, as a means of continuing
the education of directors on their roles and responsibilities as a director. To date, three of the current directors have
completed such a program.

Directors' Unitholding Requirements

To ensure that directors' compensation is aligned with Unitholders' interests, commencing October 2, 2003,
the Board determined that each non-executive director was required to hold five times their annual retainer in Units.
In October of 2005, this ownership requirement was amended to be three times the annual retainer and the value of
the annual limit award. Members have five years from the latter of October 2, 2003 or the date of their appointment
to meet such ownership requirements. As of the date hereof, each non-executive director meets these ownership
requirements.

Board Compensation

In 2004, the CGC directly retained Towers Perrin to determine the compensation for the Board members
for 2005 with a view to targeting the S0™ percentile of the peer group. The Board, through the CGC, periodically
reviews the adequacy and form of compensation for its Directors. The Board considers their commitment,
comparative fees, responsibilities and potential liabilities in determining remuneration.

For the period January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005, the compensation for non-executive members of the
Board was as follows:

Board of Directors"
Chairman of the Board Retainer® $ 110,000

Board Retainer $ 25,000
Board Meeting Fee®™ $ 1,500
Annual Unit Purchases
a) Chairman of the Board, 2,000 Units
b) Other Board members 1,200 Units
Committees of the Board "™
Chairperson of the Audit $ 12,000
Committee Retainer®®
Chairperson of the CGC § 6,000
Retainer®
Audit Committee Retainer $ 6,000
CGC Retainer $ 3,000
Committee Meeting Fee'® $ 1,500
Notes:
@) All retainers and meeting fees were payable quarterly.
2) The Chairman of the Board was paid meeting fees for Board and committee meetings that he attended. He did not receive the
committee retainer for acting as an ex officio on committees of the Board.
3) Attendance by phone treated same as attendance in person.
€)) Members receive re-imbursement for reasonable expenses in attending Board or committee meetings.
5 The committee Chairperson retainers are inclusive of the committee retainer.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, the table below sets out the aggregate amount of fees paid to
each non-executive director in the year. As a member of Management, Mr. Coutu does not receive remuneration
outside of his compensation as President and Chief Executive Officer.
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Director Retainer Unit Purchase® Total Meeting Fees Aggregate Fees Paid
E. Susan Evans, Q.C. $34,000 $112,855 $30,000 $176,855
The Right Honourable
Donald F. Mazankowski $28,000 $113,000 $22,500 $163,500
Wayne M. Newhouse $31,000 $113,000 $21,000 $165,000
Walter B. O'Donoghue, Q.C. $31,000 $112,930 $22,500 $166.430
C.E. (Chuck) Shultz $116,000 $188,237 $31,500 $335,737
Wesley R. Twiss $37,000 $112,930 $21,000 $170,930
John B. Zaozimny, Q.C. $28,000 $112,930 $21,000 $161,930
Note:
[@))] In 2003, the non-executive directors surrendered for cancellation all options previously granted to them. No options are granted to the

non-executive directors. In July of 2005, each non-executive director received 1,200 Units with @ market value of $94.046 per Unit at
the time of receipt as part of the directors' annual compensation. In the case of the Chairman, Mr. Shultz received 2,000 Units (rather
than 1,200 Units) with a market value equivalent of $94.046 per Unit at the time of receipt as part of his annual board compensation
amount. The transaction costs of the purchases have been included in the Unit purchase cost amounts. All Units were purchased in
the secondary market on behalf of the non-executive directors.

Summary of Board and Committee Meetings Held

For the 12-month period ended December 31, 2005, the table below sets out the number of Board and

committee meetings.

Board

Meeting Type

Audit Committee

CGC

Total number of meetings held

Summary of Directors' Attendance

Number with In

Totals Camera Sessions
8 6
6 5
7 7
21 18

For the 12-month period ended December 31, 2005, the following sets forth the attendance of Board

members.

Director

Board Meetings Attended

Committee Meetings Attended

Marcel R. Coutu

E. Susan Evans

Donald F. Mazankowski
Wayne M. Newhouse
Walter B. O'Donoghue
C.E. (Chuck) Shultz
Wesley R. Twiss

John B. Zaozirny

Audit Committee

8of 8
7 of 8
8of8
8of8
8of8
8of 8
8 of 8
7 of 8

120f 13
130f 13

7 of 7
60of6
70f7

130f 13

6of 6
7 of 7

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board of Directors, has oversight responsibility for the Trust's
financial reporting processes and the quality of its financial reporting as well as the evaluation process and reporting
in respect of the reserves of the Trust's subsidiaries. The Audit Committee has formal terms of reference which
describe the objectives, duties and responsibilities as well as the function of the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee meets quarterly with the Trust's auditors, the President and Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
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Officer and General Counsel and Corporate Secretary as well as other representatives of the Corporation's financial
team.

The Audit Committee is comprised of the following four independent directors: E. Susan Evans, Wayne M.
Newhouse, C.E. (Chuck) Shultz and Wesley R. Twiss (Committee Chair).

During 2005, the Audit Committee reviewed with Management and the external auditors prior to
publication, the annual consolidated financial statements, notes thereto and Management's Discussion and Analysis
("MD&A™), the interim financial statements and MD&A, the Annual Information Form and this Circular. This
review included a discussion with the external auditors about matters required to be disclosed under Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles and matters pertaining to professional auditing guidelines and standards in
Canada. The Audit Committee also spent considerable time discussing the internal disclosure process and
procedures at Canadian Oil Sands as well as the policies, procedures and processes being implemented at Syncrude
with a view to Canadian Oil Sands and Syncrude being compliant with the pending financial reporting requirements
that are similar to those commonly known as the "SOX" rules in the United States. I[n addition, as part of its
responsibilities, the Audit Committee:

e reviewed and discussed with Management and the external auditors their respective assessment and
evaluation of Canadian Oil Sands' internal and disclosure controls;

¢ reviewed and discussed with Management any changes in accounting policies, practices or standards
and Management's key estimates and judgements;

¢ reviewed the independence of the external auditors, based on the auditors’ disclosure of its
relationships with Canadian Oil Sands and its compensation, and determined that the external auditors

were independent;

¢ reviewed the performance and qualifications of the external auditors and recommended reappointment
for Unitholders' approval,

e approved the fees payable to the external auditors;

¢ reviewed the overall scope and plans of the annual audit with the external auditors and Management;

¢ met privately with the representatives of the external auditors to discuss the scope of their work, their
relationship with Management and any other issues which the external auditors wished to raise with
the Committee;

¢ reviewed and approved all services provided by the external auditors;

e reviewed with Management the results of the preliminary review by the external auditors of
Management's documentation of internal controls;

e reviewed the results of the procedures for the receipt of complaints regarding accounting or auditing
matters, whereby issues may be submitted confidentially to the Committee;

¢ retained the independent reserve evaluator after reviewing the qualifications and performance of the
external reserves evaluator;

¢ reviewed and approved the terms of engagement of the independent reserve evaluator as well as the
independence of such evaluator, based on the evaluator's disclosure of its relationship with Canadian

0il Sands and other oil sands entities; and

e reviewed the assumptions and criteria used in the independent reserves evaluation for Canadian Oil
Sands.
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The Audit Committee routinely holds in camera sessions with the external auditors, Management and
Committee members as a means of promoting open and independent discussion and analysis of financial and
operational matters that could affect Canadian Oil Sands. The Audit Committee also acts as a "reserves committee"
of the Board. The Board is of the view that the importance of reserve evaluation and disclosure warrants a smaller
group assessing the Trust's reserves in more detail than was prudent or effective to be handled at the Board level.

Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee

The CGC has formal terms of reference, set out in Part C of Schedule "B" hereto, which describe the
objectives, duties and responsibilities of the CGC.

The CGC annually undertakes an evaluation of the senior officers of the Corporation as well as conducting
a full evaluation of the Board, the committees and each director’s performance based on the results of a directors'
annual assessment questionnaire and informal interviews with th€ Chairman of the Board. Interviews are
undertaken by the Chairman and discussions are held regarding the results of the questionnaires with each member
of the Board and the senior officers of the Corporation. The performance of the Chairman of the Board as well as
the chairman of each of the committees are evaluated as part of this annual review process and additional interviews
are conducted by the Chairman of the CGC with other directors in relation to any concerns that a member does not
feel appropriate to be discussed with the Chairman of the Board. As part of such assessment, consideration is given
to the relationships which each member has with other public issuers so as to ensure that no member has a
relationship that would materially interfere with the member's ability to act in the best interest of Canadian Oil
Sands. As part of the ongoing Board assessment process, the CGC and the Board examine, on at least an annual
basis, the terms of reference for each of the Board, the committees, the President and Chief Executive Officer and
the Chairman of the Board. Additionally, the CGC examines the practices and suggests guidelines from a number of
sources including other public issuers in North America, the CSA Rules, the Audit Requirements and the guidelines
suggested by the Coalition.

In 2005, the Chairman of the Board met individually with each Director to discuss the overall effectiveness
and performance of the Board, its committees and each of the Board members. In addition, each Director completed
individual written assessments, the confidentially tabulated results of which were reviewed by the Chairman of the
CGC and the Chairman of the Board who provided feedback to the CGC and the full Board. The Chairman of the
CGC also offered to meet with' each Director if they wished to discuss any aspect of the performance of the
Chairman of the Board.

During 2005, the CGC:

e reviewed and adopted terms of reference for the Chair of the CGC as well as the Chair of the Audit
Committee and ensured that Canadian Oil Sands had the appropriate structure, composition, terms of
reference and membership of each of the Board, the Board commiittees, the Chairman of the Board, the
chairperson of each committee of the Board and the President and Chief Executive Officer;

¢ reviewed the size and composition of the Board to ensure that the current Board membership has the
necessary breadth and diversity of experience and was of an appropriate size to provide for effective
decision making and staffing of Board committees;

e reviewed the compensation structure payable to Board and committee members as well as to officers
and non-officers, retaining the services of Towers Perrin, an outside independent consultant, to advise
on compensation structures and information in regard to the actual compensation paid at comparable
public entities;

e recommended to the Board the nominees to stand for election as directors of the Corporation at the
Annual General and Special Meeting to be held on April 25, 2006;

e conducted annual Board, committee and director assessments, compiled the results and had formal
evaluation processes with the directors;

¢ conducted annual assessments of the senior ofﬁcérs, and determined the impact that such officers and
other staff of Canadian Oil Sands had on the overall performance of the Trust at the end of 2005
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against the target objectives and goals that were set for Canadian Oil Sands and such officers earlier in
2005;

s with the assistance of external compensation consulting firms, re-examined the compensation payable
to the Board of Directors with a view to maintaining a compensation structure which targets payments
consistent with the majority of a comparable peer group for Canadian Oil Sands such that Canadian Oil
Sands can attract and retain the individuals with the appropriate skills and experience to effectively act
as members of the Board of Directors; and

¢ finalized, with the assistance of an independent consulting firm, the parameters of Canadian Oil Sands'
long term incentive plans.

The CGC is comprised of E. Susan Evans, The Right Honourable Donald F. Mazankowski, Walter B.
O'Donoghue (Committee Chair), and John B. Zaozirny. Mr. Shultz attends meetings as a non-voting member.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Chairman of the Board

The principal role of the Chairman of the Board is to manage and provide leadership to the Board of
Directors and to act as a direct liaison between the Board and Management. In addition, the Chairman acts as a
communicator for Board decisions where appropriate. The Chairman is accountable to the Board.

Other duties and responsibilities of the Chairman include:

e providing independent advice and counsel to the President and Chief Executive Officer and other
members of the senior management team;

e ensuring that the directors are properly informed and that sufficient information is provided to enable
the directors to form appropriate judgments; and

e developing and setting the agendas for meetings of the Board, in concert with the President and Chief
Executive Officer and the General Counsel and Corporate Secretary.

In addition, the Chairman of the Board is specifically charged with responsibility for leading and managing
the Board in discharging its responsibilities. Annually, the Chairman and the CGC, acting together, conduct an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board, its committees and the individual directors, that includes the circulation
of a written questionnaire and interviews with each individual Board member. The Chairman then reports his
findings to the CGC and to the full Board. Following discussion by the CGC, the CGC and the Chairman seek
Board approval to implement any recommendations that may result from this process. The Chairman's mandate
directs him to ensure that the directors hold regular discussions without Management present and he presides at such
sessions.

Roles and Responsibilities of the President and Chief Executive Officer

The President and Chief Executive Officer is responsible for leading the development and execution of
Canadian Oil Sands' long-term business strategy and the corporate objectives with a view to creating Unitholder
value. The President and Chief Executive Officer's leadership role also entails being ultimately responsible for all
day-to-day management decisions and for implementing Canadian Oil Sands' long and short term plans. The
President and Chief Executive Officer acts as a direct liaison between the Board and Management of Canadian Qil
Sands and communicates to the Board on behalf of Management. The President and Chief Executive Officer also
communicates on behalf of Canadian Oil Sands to Unitholders, employees, government authorities, other
stakeholders and the public.

Other duties and responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer include:

e assessing, in conjunction with the Chief Financial Officer, the principal risks of Canadian Oil Sands to
ensure that these risks are being monitored and managed;

-19.




e ensuring, in conjunction with the Chief Financial Officer, effective internal controls and management
information systems are in place;

e fostering a corporate culture that promotes ethical practices; and

e abiding by specific internally established control systems and authorities, leading by personal example
and encouraging all employees to conduct their activities in accordance with all applicable laws and
Canadian Oil Sands' standards and policies.

Executive Ownership Guidelines

In 2003, the CGC re-considered and approved Executive Ownership Guidelines applicable to various
officers of Canadian Oil Sands. The following basic accumulation schedule has been adopted:

Executive Level Ownership Requirement
President and Chief Executive Officer 3 times base salary
Chief Financial Officer 2 times base salary
Chief Operations Officer 1.5 times base salary
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary 1.5 times base salary
Treasurer 1.0 times base salary

Executives to whom this policy applies must reach the minimum required level of share ownership within
five years of the later of July 2004 and their date of hire. Ownership requirements also apply to persons becoming
executives, and such individuals are required to reach the required level within five years of the date of his or her
appointment. [n calculating ownership, the aggregate value of Units owned (but not the value of any exercisable
and vested stock options) is used.

Unitholder Communications

Our Unitholder communications program specifically adopts the principles of providing timely, accurate
and efficient disclosure of information concerning Canadian Oil Sands to all Unitholders. In addition to the required
annual, quarterly and timely reporting of information, Canadian Oil Sands regularly makes presentations to industry
analysts and investors. Canadian Oil Sands also meets informally upon request with investors and analysts,
provided however, that in any such meeting, Canadian Qil Sands adheres to all applicable laws relating to selective
disclosure of material information. Canadian Oil Sands' Investor Relations Department responds in a timely manner
to inquiries received from Unitholders, analysts and potential investors. Unitholder inquiries or suggestions are
forwarded to the appropriate person or to senior management. Unitholders may also obtain corporate information on
our external website at www.cos-trust.com.

Submitted by the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee:

Walter B. O'Donoghue (Chairman)
E. Susan Evans

Donald F. Mazankowski

John B. Zaozirny
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STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Current Officers

There are no direct officers of the Trust. Instead, management of the Trust is exercised by the Corporation
and the Corporation's directors and officers. The following table identifies each of the officers (the "Officers") of
the Corporation as at the date hereof, their municipalities of residence, their current office, their principal
occupations for the five year period preceding December 31, 2005, and the number of Units beneficially owned or
over which control or direction is exercised by each such Officer as at February 22, 2606:

Name and Municipality

Number of Units
Beneficially Owned or
over which Control or

Direction is
Exercised as at

of Residence Current Office Five Year History of Principal Occupations February 22, 2006
C.E. (CHUCK) SHULTZ Chairman of the  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Dauntless Energy 18,702
Calgary, Alberta Board Inc. (private oil and gas corporation)
MARCEL R. COUTU Presidentand  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Gulf 37,191
Calgary, Alberta Chief Executive  Canada Resources Limited from May 1999 to July 2001;
Officer prior thereto, Director, Finance, Vice President, Finance and,
subsequently, Senior Vice President, International of
TransCanada Pipelines Limited
ALLEN R, HAGERMAN, FCA Chief Financial ~ Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Fording 10,275
Cochrane, Alberta Officer Canadian Coal Trust from March [, 2003 to May 31, 2003,
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Fording Inc.
from June 1, 2001 to March 1, 2003 and Vice President,
Finance and Accounting and Secretary of Fording Inc. from
1996 to 2001
TREVOR R. ROBERTS Chief Vice President, Operations of Suncor Inc. from 1997 to May 200
Calgary, Alberta Operations 2005
Officer
TRUDY M. CURRAN General Counsel Corporate Secretary of the Corporation from November, 2,580
Calgary, Alberta and Corporate 2001 to May 2002; Senior Counsel and Assistant Corporate
Secretary Secretary, EnCana Corporation from April 2002 to
September 2002; Staff Legal Counsel, PanCanadian Energy
Corporation from November 2001 to March 2002; Senior
Counsel, Canadian Pacific Limited from March 1999 to
October 2001; and prior thereto, Associate General Counsel
and Assistant Corporate Secretary, Canadian Airlines
Corporation
RYAN M. KUBIK Treasurer Advisor, Corporate Finance, EnCana Corporation from April 2,329
Calgary, Alberta 2002 to August 2002 and prior thereto, Associate Director,
Treasury, PanCanadian Energy Corporation
LAUREEN C. DUBOIS Controller Manager, Accounting of the Corporation from November 3619
Calgary, Alberta 2002 to January 2004; Senior Accountant, EnCana
Corporation from November 2001 to October 2002;
Assistant Manager, Group Accounting, Canadian Pacific
Limited from January 2000 to October 2001 and prior
thereto, Senior Associate, Deloitte and Touche
Notes:
(48] Inciudes 8,462 Units over which Mr. Coutu exercises control or direction.
2) Includes 10 Units over which Ms. DuBois exercises control or direction.
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information concerning the total compensation paid or payable in respect of
each of the last three financial years, to the officers of the Corporation (other than Mr. Shultz who is a non-executive
Chairman) (the "Named Executive Officers” or "NEOs") from the period ended December 31, 2005:

Long-Term
Annual Compensation Compensation
Awards Payouts
Securities
Under
Options / Units
Other Annual SARs Subject to All Other
Name and Salary Bonus Compensation Granted Resale LTIP Compensation
Principal Position | Year ) %) $® #) Restrictions | Payouts &)«
MARCEL R. @ , , ,
COUTU" 2005 550,000 1,388,733 nil 51,600 nil nil 143,000
President and 2004 | 491625 | 1,011,100 nil 48,500 nil il 127,823
Chief Executive
Officer 2003 475,000 881,743 nil 55,000 nil nil 107,150
ALLENR. @ : . .
2005 280,000 469,397 nil 17,50 1 1 1,600
'HAGERMAN, ’ 3 : 0 m " 6
FCAD 2004 258,750 337,920 nil 20,400 nil nil 59,625
Chief Financial . . .
Officer 2003 | 145834 132,500 nil 45,000 nil nil 29,583
TREVOR R. 2) . ; :
ROBERTS® 2005 75,000 57,300¢ nil 3,000 nil nil 7,500
Chief Operations 2004 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Officer 2003 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
TRUDY M. . . .
CURRAN? 2005 242,500 351,563% nil 12,200 nil nil 53,460
General Counset 2004 | 222,525 262,693 nil 15,400 il il 48,956
and Corporate
Secretary 2003 | 215,000 218,831 nil 18,000 nil nil 39,622
RYAN M. 2 ; : :
KUBIK® 2005 167,000 195,260 "{1 6,300 nil nil 35,070
Treasurer 2004 155,250 156,611 nil 7,700 nil nil 32,603
2003 150,000 146,497 nil 9,000 nil il 24,830
LAUREEN C. 1) ; . .
55,575 nil
DUBOIS® 2005 101,722 . 2,900 nil nil 9,188
Controller 2004 115,000 68,510 nil 3,500 nil nil 16,100
2003 85,000 49,817 nil nil nil nil 7,933
Notes:
€)) Mr. Coutu was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer on August 24, 2001,
2) Bonuses paid or accrued for payment in respect of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 and includes the bonus for certain officers

foregoing rights to distributions under the 2002 option plan. See Annual Target Bonus discussion below.

(3) Perquisites and other personal benefits received did not exceed the lesser of $50,000 and 10% of the total annual salary and bonuses
for any of the Named Executive Officers in any of the last three fiscal years.

4) On May 1, 2003, the Corporation implemented a savings plan for all employees whereby the Corporation makes monthly
contributions to RRSP and non-RRSP savings accounts administered by an independent service provider for each employee.
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Contributions are made by the Corporation to RRSP and non-RRSP savings accounts for employees in lien of any retirement or
pension program for employees. See "Employment Agreements” below.

(5) Mr. Hagerman was appointed Chief Financial Officer on June 1, 2003.

(6) Mr. Roberts was appointed Chief Operations Officer on September {, 2005 and therefore the compensation for 2005 represents less
than a full year.

N Ms. Curran became an employee of the Corporation on September 16, 2002.

(8) Mr. Kubik was appointed Treasurer on September 1, 2002.

9 Ms. DuBois was appointed Controller effective January 1, 2004. Ms. DuBois commenced maternity leave in July, 2005 and

accordingly her salary and benefits reflect compensation for only part of the year.

Option Grants During the Most Recently Completed Financial Year

Market Value of®
Percent of Total Securities
Securities, Under™”  Options Granted to Underlying Options
Options Granted Employees in Exercise or Base® on the Date of

NEO Name #) Financial Year Price ($/Security) Grant ($/Security) Expiration Date

Marcel R. Coutu 51,600 52% 73.43 73.43 January 27,2012

Allen R. Hagerman 17,500 18% 73.43 73.43 January 27,2012

Trevor R. Roberts 3,000 3% 124,939 124.93 August 31,2012

Trudy M. Curran 12,200 12% 73.43 73.43 January 27, 2012

Ryan M. Kubik 6,300 6% 73.43 73.43 January 27, 2012

Laureen C. DuBois 2,900 3% 73.43 73.43 January 27, 2012

Notes:

n The options were issued by the Trust, entitle the holder thereof to purchase Units on payment of the specific exercise price per Unit
and vest as to one-third on each of the first, second and third anniversary dates from the date of grant.

(2) Based on the weighted average trading price for Units for the five trading days prior to the date of grant in accordance with the plan
documents for all but the options granted to Mr. Roberts. Mr. Roberts was granted options under the new unit option incentive plan
and accordingly the exercise price was based on the weighed average trading price for Units for the trading day immediately prior to
the date of grant.

3 Pursuant to the terms of the 2005 option plan approved by Unitholders on April 25, 2005 (the "2005 option plan"), all options granted

under this plan have the exercise price on the date of grant effectively be reduced by the amount of distributions paid by the Trust in
excess of a set threshold. In 2005, the amount of distributions paid to the Unitholders exceeded the threshold of $2.00 and accordingly
the exercise price of the options granted to Mr. Roberts has decreased by $0.50 as at March 10, 2006. No other officers received a
grant of options under the 2005 option plan in 2005.

Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises During the Most Recently Completed Financial Year and Financial Year
End/SAR Values

Value of Unexercised in-the-

Unexercised Options/SARs at Money Options/SARs at

Securities Acquired Aggregate Value December 31, 2005 (#) December 31, 2005 ($)
NEO Name on Exercise (#) Realized (8) Exercisable/Unexercisable Exercisable/Unexercisable”
Marcel R. Coutu nil n/a 208,832/102,268 $17,950,163/$6,867,279
Allen R. Hagerman nil n/a 36,800/46,100 $3,139,148/$3,299,021
Trevor R. Roberts nil n/a Nil/3,000 Nil/$3,210
Trudy M, Curran nil n/a 37,133/28,467 $3,272,555/$1,976,043
Ryan M. Kubik nil n/a 23,566/14,434 $2,092,588/$998,575
Laureen C. DuBois nil n/a 3,166/5,234 $275,074/$337,679
Note:
n The market value of the Units on the TSX on December 31, 2005 was $126.00.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities remaining

Number of securities to be available for future issuance
issued upon exercise of Weighted-average exercise under equity compensation
outstanding options, price of outstanding options, plans {excluding securities
warrants and rights as at warrants and rights as at reflected in column (a)) as at
December 31, 2005 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2005
Plan Category (a) (b) (¢)
Equity compensation plans approved by
securityholders'” 524,692 $47.19 1,797,000
Equity compensation plans not approved
by securityholders Nil Nil Nil
Total 524,692 $47.19 1,797,000
Note:
(1) As at December 31, 2005, there were 521,692 options issued under the 2002 option plan and 3,000 options issued under the 2005

option plan. All future option grants are to be under the 2005 option plan.

Executive Compensation Strategy

The compensation program for Canadian Oil Sands is based on a comprehensive reward structure that
recognizes and rewards top corporate and individual performance and which also aims to attract and retain the top
talent to manage the business of the Trust with a view to maximizing Unitholder values over the near and long term.
The CGC determined that the aggregate compensation paid to the Corporation's officers should target the 50™
percentile of compensation paid by a comparable public issuer group when the Trust and the individual met the
goals that had been established for the year and up to the 75™ percentile when both the individual and the Trust
substantially exceeded those goals. For the last three years, the CGC has directly retained Towers Perrin to provide
advice on market practise and compensation data for market comparative purposes for its officer compensation. In
that role, Towers Perrin has assisted the CGC in designing a long term incentive plan for the Corporation's officers
and non-officers and has provided advice on market practises for various compensation and human resource policies
with a view to allowing the CGC to determine what a comparable peer group offers to its officers in particular and to
its employees generally. Towers Perrin provides similar information in respect of directors’ compensation. Towers
Perrin has not been retained to provide services for Canadian Oil Sands beyond these director and executive design
and compensation and general employee compensation analysis mandates. The comparable peer group is a
combination of oil and gas and mining corporations and trusts which operate in Canada, primarily in Alberta. The
CGC considers both the other issuers' size according to revenues and market capitalization as well as the nature and
complexity of operations. The officers' compensation is comprised of the elements outlined below:

Annual Base Salary

The annual base salary of each officer is reviewed annually to ensure that it properly reflects a balance of
market conditions, the levels of responsibilities and accountability of each individual, their unique experience, skills
and capability and the level of sustained performance as well as the fiscal resources available to Canadian Oil Sands.
Canadian Qil Sands utilizes the data and research analyses of Towers Perrin to assist in this annual process with an
aim of paying an annual base salary at the 50" percentile of compensation paid by a comparable public issuer peer
group. Canadian Oil Sands recognizes that the current environment in the oil and gas sector has put pressure on
finding and retaining talented, experienced personnel and that such pressure has resulted in increases to the
compensation components being offered in the industry.

Annual Target Bonus
The annual target bonus is designed in light of the Trust’s business strategies and performance targets for a
given year and involves a combination of corporate financial and operational goals and individual goals. Each

officer has a percentage of his or her base salary set as the target bonus, The award is measured against corporate
performance and personal performance. The maximum payout amount is double target. For 2005, the CGC
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established annual target bonuses for each of the Named Executive Officers which included corporate and individual
performance and were based on the following allocation:

Individual: 30%
ROCE: 35%
TSR: 35%

Corporate performance was measured by looking at TSR (total unitholder return) and ROCE (return on
capital employed) targets. The CGC also assessed each officer's performance against the objectives and goals
established for such officer. Each year, these goals and objectives are established in conjunction with the goals and
targets formed as part of the strategic plan for the Trust for that year. In 2005, the Trust exceeded the target for its
ROCE by a margin of over 5% and therefore, a double payout was made in respect of the ROCE component.
Similarly, the Trust achieved total unitholder return equal to 91.38% and exceeded all but one member of its peer
comparator group which included TSX indices and other oil sands and mining operators. This resulted in the TSR
payout component being double the target amount.

Set out below is the percentage change in the yearly total unitholder returns for the Trust since its inception.

Yearly returns
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
COS 46.76% 3.99% 26.59% 54.10% 91.38%

100% - Canadian Oil Sands Trust Yearly Returns'”
90% - /0
. 80% 1 yd
£ 70% -
£ oo /
@  50%
14
> 40% N\ e
| =
3 30% AN pd
> 20% \ / /
10% ¥\/
0% _*; i 1 T T T
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
Note:
1) Includes capital gains plus distributions during a particular year.

In relation to the individual assessment of the President and Chief Executive Officer and the other senior
officers, the CGC and the Board considered how the officers had managed the Trust's business operations and met
the corporate objectives for 2005 and beyond. Management's recommendation not to hedge crude oil prices together
with sales volumes for Canadian Oil Sands resulted in outstanding financial performance for the year. Canadian Oil
Sands' financial position in 2005 was such that, at year end, the Trust had less debt than originally expected and
accordingly could increase distributions earlier than originally planned. The CGC also noted the continued
oversight and management at Syncrude and the steps taken to improve Syncrude's business controls processes,
initiatives chaired by Canadian Oil Sands' senior officers in many instances. In addition, Management, and Mr.
Coutu in particular, was active in meeting with representatives of the federal government to highlight the detrimental
effect that the proposed review of income trusts had on the income trust community. As a result of the submission
by numerous individuals and entities, the federal government announced no change in the taxation of income trusts.
Management's participation in industry groups, such as the Canadian Council of Chief Executive Officers and the
Canadian Association of Income Funds, was instrumental in the identification of the issues in that regard. In
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conclusion, the CGC and the Board felt that the Mr. Coutu and the senior officers’ performance over the year had
met such officers’ objectives. Accordingly, the Board awarded Mr. Coutu one and one half target bonus on the
personal component. The other officers ranged between a target payout and double target payout.

In addition to the foregoing, as part of the restructuring of the compensation structure for the Corporation in
2003, additional cash bonus payments to certain of the Named Executive Officers are made annually to reflect such
officers having accepted employment with the Corporation pre-2003 on the basis of a long term incentive plan
which would allow the individual to realize the value of the distributions paid on Units during the period that such
options were held by the individual. Since that component of the long term incentive plan was eliminated in 2002
and no equivalent program was established as part of the compensation plan in 2003, the Board elected to provide an
annual bonus payment for each of the three years following the grant of options to the individual based on the
individual's contributions to the Corporation during the year. This cash award is based on the amount of
distributions which would have been realized by the individual had the options held by such individual been entitled
to receive the distributions per Unit made during the year. The maximum amount payable for these bonuses is the
amount that would have been received if the individual held the options as Units and had actually received the
distributions in the year. Once such three year term is completed, no further bonus awards of that nature will be
granted. With the approval and adoption of a new unit option incentive plan in mid-2005, no such distribution
payments are made in relation to options granted after June 1, 2005.

Long Term Incentives

The Trust continues to use the options granted under its option plan to align the interests of employees with
those of its Unitholders. Under such plan, certain employees, including the Named Executive Officers, are provided
an annual grant of options based on the individual’s performance and on market criteria as to the overall total
compensation that such employee should receive to achieve the 50" percentile of the compensation paid to
individuals at equivalent positions at comparable public issuers. The CGC assesses this information and determines
the appropriate percentage of the individual officer’s annual base salary to be awarded in the form of options. In
making the option awards for 2005, the CGC considered some of the components of the compensation previously
received by the Named Executive Officers, including prior option grants. Starting in 2006, the Long Term Incentive
Plan for the officers is comprised partially in value as option grants under the 2005 Option Plan and partially in
value as Performance Awards under the Performance Unit Incentive Plan.

(a) Summary of 2002 Option Plan

The options granted in 2005 to all the Named Executive Officers (other than Mr. Roberts) were granted
under the terms of the unit option and distribution equivalent plan (the "2002 Option Plan") that was approved by
Unitholders in 2002. Under the terms of the 2002 Option Plan, (a) the aggregate number of Units reserved for
issuance to any one person under the 2002 Option Plan, or any other Unit incentive plan of the Trust, shall not at any
time exceed 5% of the total number of Units then outstanding; (b) the number of Units reserved for issuance to
insiders under the 2002 Option Plan will not exceed 10% of the number of Units then outstanding; (c) the Trust and
the Corporation, collectively, will not issue to insiders, within a one-year period, that number of Units exceeding
10% of the number of Units then outstanding; and (d) the Trust and the Corporation, collectively, will not issue to
any one insider and such insider's associates, within a one-year period, that number of Units exceeding 5% of the
number of Units then outstanding.

The 2002 Option Plan provides that: (a) the exercise price of the options shall not be at a discount to the
market price which is defined as the weighted average trading price of the Units on the Toronto Stock Exchange on
the five (5) trading days preceding the date of the grant and shall not be adjusted without approval by the
Unitholders; (b) unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors at the time of grant, the options will expire
on the seventh anniversary of the date of grant but, in any event, no option may be exercised more than ten (10)
years after it is granted; (c) unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors at the time of grant, options
granted under the 2002 Option Plan shall be subject to a three (3) year vesting period with one-third vesting on each
of the first three anniversary dates; and (d) a holder of options may elect to surrender the vested options to the Trust
in exchange for an amount equal to thé excess of the fair market value of the options (based on the weighted average
trading price of the Units on the exchange during the five (5) trading days preceding the date of surrender or the
price pursuant to an offer made for all of the issued and outstanding Units, whichever is greater) over the exercise *
price for each such option and such election shall be subject to acceptance or rejection by the Trust, through the
Corporation; however, if the Trust does not accept the surrender, the notice of surrender shall be deemed to be
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withdrawn and the options in respect of which such notice was provided shall again become subject to their original
terms as if such notice of surrender had not been provided.

The 2002 Option Plan also provides that in the event of a "Change of Control", as defined therein, all
outstanding options that have been granted under the 2002 Option Plan will become vested and exercisable in full.
In addition, the Incentive Plan provides that the exercise period and vesting period may be shortened upon certain
events of retirement, disability, death, termination for cause and termination without cause, all as defined in the 2002
Option Plan.

Subsequent to June 1, 2005, no further options will be issued under this 2002 Option Plan.
(b) Summary of 2005 Option Plan

The options issued after June 1, 2005 and all options issued in 2006 are pursuant to the 2005 option plan.
At the Annual and Special Meeting of Unitholders held on April 25, 2005, Unitholders approved the 2005 option
plan. The maximum number of Units issuable under the 2005 option plan is 2% of the issued and outstanding Units.
In addition, the 2005 option plan restricts the aggregate number of Units reserved for issuance to any one optionee
under such plan, together with all other unit compensation arrangements of Canadian Oil Sands involving the
issuance of Units from treasury from exceeding 5% of the issued and outstanding Units. In addition, no more than
5% of the issued and outstanding Units may be reserved at any time for insiders under the combination of the 2005
option plan and all other share compensation arrangements of Canadian Oil Sands involving the issuance of Units
from treasury. The Units in respect of which options are not exercised prior to their expiry or cancellation shall be
available for subsequent options grants.

The 2005 option plan provides that: (a) unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors at the time
of grant, the options will expire on the seventh anniversary of the date of grant (but, in any event, no option may be
exercised more than ten (10) years after it is granted) unless terminated earlier upon the holder ceasing to be an
eligible participant in accordance with the terms of the 2005 option plan; and (b) unless otherwise determined by the
Board of Directors at the time of grant, options granted under the 2005 option plan are subject to a three (3) year
vesting period with one-third vesting on each of the first three anniversary dates.

The 2005 option plan is administered by the Board of Directors or, at the Board's discretion, by the CGC.
Options may be granted and issued only as and if determined and recommended by the Board of Directors or the
CGC, as the case may be. The Board of Directors and the CGC will have discretion to determine from time to time
which officers, employees or consultants of the Corporation would be eligible to participate in the 2005 option plan,
some of whose participation is subject to regulatory approvals. Non-executive directors are not entitled to
participate in the 2003 option plan.

The 2005 option plan also provides that, in the event of a "Change of Control" (as defined in the 2005
option plan), all outstanding options that have been granted under the 2005 option plan will become vested and
exercisable in full. In addition, the 2005 option plan provides that the exercise period and vesting period may be
shortened upon certain events such as disability, death, termination for cause and termination without cause, all as
more clearly defined in the 2005 option plan. In addition, in certain circumstances, the Board has discretion to
provide for accelerated vesting of options and in other circumstances there will be automatic acceleration of vesting.

The exercise price of options shall not be less than the "weighted average trading price" of the Units on the
TSX for the trading day immediately prior to the date of grant. To the extent that distributions exceed a set
threshold (the "Distribution Threshold"), (which was $2.00 per Unit per year in 2005), the exercise price for the
options shall be reduced by the lesser of the amount of the distributions in the year and the decline, if any, in the
trading price of the Units since the date of the option grant. Through this mechanism, the optionholder effectively is
able to participate, subject to the Distribution Threshold, in distributions. Under the terms of the 2005 option plan,
the Board of Directors may adjust this Distribution Threshold each year. In 2006, the Distribution Threshold has
been set at $4.00 per Unit for options issued in 2006. The 2005 option plan provides that any repricing of the
option, other than the decrease described above for distributions, requires the prior approval of Unitholders.

If the outstanding Units are increased, decreased, changed into or exchanged for a different number or kind

of Units or securities of Canadian Oil Sands through re-organization, merger, re-capitalization, re-classification,
stock dividend, subdivision or consolidation, an appropriate and proportionate adjustment shall be made by the
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Board, in its discretion, in the number or kind of unit optioned and the exercise price per unit, as regards previously
granted and unexercised options. No options granted pursuant to the 2005 option plan may be assigned or
transferred by an optionee.

Employment Agreements

The Corporation has entered into employment agreements with the President and Chief Executive Officer;
the Chief Financial Officer; the Chief Operations Officer; the General Counsel and Corporate Secretary; and the
Treasurer (the "Designated Officers"). Under the employment agreement of each Designated Officer (other than the
President and Chief Executive Officer), if a "change of control" occurs and there is a "constructive dismissal" within
365 days of the change of control, the Designated Officer shall have the right to terminate his or her employment
with the Corporation at any time within 180 days of the constructive dismissal by giving 30 days' written notice. In
such case, the Designated Officer shall be entitled to a severance payment and outplacement services. If the
Corporation terminates the employment agreement at any time within 365 days following a change of control
otherwise than for cause, it will become obligated to pay a cash amount equal to two times the Designated Officer's
annual base salary, annual target bonus and value of benefits and perquisites and to provide for the costs of
professional outplacement services up to a combined maximum cost of $25,000 for a maximum period of six
months following termination of employment. A trigger of the change of control provisions under the employment
agreements also triggers an immediate vesting of all issued and outstanding options held by the particular
Designated Officer.

In the employment agreement for the President and Chief Executive Officer, in the event of a "change of
control” or "constructive dismissal”, Mr. Coutu shall have the right to terminate his employment with the
Corporation at any time within 180 days thereafter upon 30 days' prior written notice, in which case he shall be
entitled to the same severance payment and outplacement services as would be payable by the Corporation in the
event that it terminated Mr. Coutu's employment without cause. In the case of the President and Chief Executive
Officer, if the Corporation terminates his employment agreement at any time otherwise than for cause, the
Corporation will become obligated to pay to Mr. Coutu a cash amount equal to 2.5 times his annual base salary,
annual target bonus and the value of his health and dental benefits and savings contributions, and to provide for the
costs of professional outplacement services up to a combined maximum cost of $25,000 for a maximum period of
six months following termination of employment.

Each of the employment agreements generally define a "change of control” to include: (a) the sale to a
person not affiliated with the Trust or the Corporation, or their subsidiaries, of assets having a value greater than
50% of the fair market value of the consolidated assets of such parties prior to such sale; and (b) any change in the
holding of Units or COSL Units by a person not affiliated with the Trust or the Corporation as a result of which such
person, jointly or in concert with others, is in a position to exercise effective control of the Trust or the Corporation.
A person or group of persons holding more than 30% of the outstanding Units, or units of other securities which
would entitle such person(s) to cast at least 30% of the votes attaching to all units of the Trust that may be cast for
the election of directors of the Corporation are deemed to be in a position to exercise effective control of the Trust or
the Corporation (unless such person(s) holds such Units or other securities in the ordinary course of business as an
investment manager and is not using such holding to exercise effective control). The employment agreements also
define "constructive dismissal" to include: a material decrease in the title, position, responsibilities, powers or
reporting relationships of the executive; a reduction in the annual base compensation salary; a requirement to
relocate to another city; or any material reduction in the value of the employment benefits (other than the annual
target bonus).

Each Designated Officers' remuneration under the individual employment agreements consists of an annual
base salary plus an annual bonus, long term incentives, health and dental benefits and savings plan contributions. In
addition, the Designated Officers receive certain perquisites and other benefits (such as parking), which have an
annual aggregate value of less than 10% of their respective annual salary.

Submitted by the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee:

Walter B. O'Donoghue (Chairman)
E. Susan Evans

Donald F. Mazankowski

John B. Zaozirny
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The Units are listed and posted for trading on the TSX under the trading symbol "COS.UN". The following
line graph and table assume a $100 investment on December 31, 2000, and compare the change in the cumulative
total return on the Units over the five-year period ending December 31, 2005 with the cumulative total return of
each of the S&P/TSX Composite [ndex and the S&P/TSX Energy Trust Index (assuming, in each case, reinvestment
of all dividends and distributions) over the same period:

]
CANADIAN OIL SANDS TOTAL RETURN INDEX 1
(December 31, 2000 to December 31, 2005) f
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/——A == Canadian QOil Sands Trust = ® = S&P TSX Compasite ===ill===S&P/TSX Energy Trust Index J
Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
Canadian Oil Sands Trust " 100 147 153 193 298 570
S&P/TSX Composite [ndex 100 87 77 97 111 138
S&P/TSX Energy Trust Index 100 112 133 193 251 374
Notes:
(h Based on the cumulative return on trust units of Athabasca Oil Sands Trust ("AOST"), the predecessor to the Trust, being the entity

that survived the merger of Canadian Qil Sands Trust and AOST to form the Trust on July S, 2001, for the period preceding the
merger, and the cumulative return on the Units of the Trust for the period following the merger.

-29 .




INTEREST OF INFORMED PERSONS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed in this Circular or in a prior information circular of the Trust, no "informed person"
(as defined in National Instrument 51-102), nor any person nominated for election as a director of the Corporation,
nor any of their respective associates or affiliates, has had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction
of the Trust since January 1, 2005 or in any proposed transaction which has materially affected or would materially
affect Canadian Oil Sands. Copies of prior information circulars of the Trust may be accessed through the internet
via the "System for Electronic Data Analysis and Retrieval" (SEDAR) maintained by the Canadian Securities
Administrators at www.sedar.com.

Computershare Trust Company of Canada acts as both Trustee and the registrar and transfer agent for the
Units, and receives fees for its services in both capacities. In its capacity as Trustee of the Trust, the Trustee is paid
a reasonable fee in connection with the administration and management of the Trust and is also reimbursed for all
expenses properly incurred, as agreed by the Trustee and the Corporation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Management Agreement

The Trust has no directors, officers or employees. [nstead, pursuant to the provisions of the Trust Indenture
and the Management Agreement, the Corporation provides management services to the Trust. Under the
Management Agreement, in each quarter the Corporation is to be paid an amount equal to the sum of the following:
(a) a fixed fee of $125,000 per quarter; (b) all amounts payable by the Corporation to EnCana pursuant to the
Marketing Agreement (see below); and (c) all other out-of-pocket and third party fees, costs and expenses
reasonably incurred by the Corporation in carrying out its obligations or duties under the Management Agreement.
Marketing Agreement

Pursuant to the Marketing Services Agreement dated as of July 5, 2001 between EnCana and the
Corporation, as amended (the "Marketing Agreement”), EnCana markets all of the Syncrude Sweet Blend and other
marketable products obtained from oil sands or produced in association therewith attributable to the Trust's interests
in the Syncrude Joint Venture ("Syncrude Products").

EnCana receives the following fees for providing such marketing services:

(© $0.05 for each barrel of Syncrude Sweet Blend marketed and sold on or after February 1, 2003;

(d) $0.055 for each barrel of crude bitumen or other liquid crude products sold by the barrel; and

(e) a reasonable fee in respect of all other oil sands products.

There is a minimum monthly fee of approximately $33,333 payable to EnCana for these marketing services
in respect of the aggregate working interest in Syncrude now held by the Trust through its subsidiaries. EnCana also
is entitled under the Marketing Agreement to be reimbursed for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and costs. In

addition, EnCana markets the products derived from the limited partnership in which the Trust holds a 75% interest.

The term of the Marketing Agreement ends June 30, 2006. We have given notice to EnCana that we will
not be renewing the Marketing Agreement and instead plan to internalize the marketing function at the Corporation.

EFFECTIVE DATE

Unless otherwise specified, the information set forth in this Circular is given as of March 10, 2006.
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INQUIRIES/ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Inquiries may be directed to the proxy solicitation and information agent, Valiant Trust Company, as
follows:

Valiant Trust Company
310, 606 — 4th Street SW
Calgary, Alberta T2P 1T1

Telephone: (403) 233-2801

Fax: (403) 233-2857

E-mail: inquiries@valianttrust.com
Toll-Free: 1-866-313-1872

Additional information relating to the Trust is available through the internet via SEDAR at www.sedar.com
or on the Trust's website at www.cos-trust.com. Copies of the Trust's financial statements and management's
discussion and analysis may be obtained by contacting the Trustee at 710, 530 — 8% Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta
T2P 3S8; phone (403) 267-6800; facsimile (403) 267-6598 or the Corporation's Director, Investor Relations by mail,
email or phone at 2500 First Canadian Centre, 350 — 7" Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta T2P 3N9; email —
investor_relations@cos-trust.com; phone (403) 218-6220; facsimile (403) 218-6201. Financial information
regarding the Trust is provided in the Trust's comparative consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2005, which may be found at www.cos-trust.com or at www.sedar.com.
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SCHEDULE A

Proposed Amendments to Amended and Restated Trust Indenture

Part 1 — Split Amendments

The following are excerpts showing the proposed changes to the Trust Indenture as a result of the proposal outlined
under "Special Matters...Unit Split".

3.1(c)

3.1(d)

The aggregate number of Trust Units which mav-be-is authorized and jpay be issued hereunder is Hinited-te

< ¥ s-to-geguire The issued and outstanding Trust Units may be \\1hdmdﬁ,d or consolidated
by the Mvmd”u at anv time or from time to time on notice to, but without the consent or approval of, the
Unitholders,

A new Section 3.7 and 8.2(b) will be added as follows:

3.7

No Fractional Trust Units

8.2(b)

(@) Eractions-of-Trast-Linits-shall-vot-be-issted:Sublect to paragraph (b) below and except pursuant to
distributionsa distribution of additional Trust Units to all Unitholders pursuant to Section 5.6 or as
a consequence of a consolidation under Section 3.9, fractions of Trust Units shall not be issued.

b) In the event that a fraction of a Trust Unit that would, but for this Section 3.7 be issuable to or held
by a Unitholder as a consequence of a subdivision or consolidation of the issued and outstanding
Trust Units as provided in subsection 1.1, the fractional interest shall be cancelled and the
Unitholder who would otherwise be entitled to receive a fractional Trust Unit, will be entitled to
receive, in lieu thereof, a cash amount obtained by multiplving such flaction by the closing trading
price (or if there was not trade, the average of the last bid and last ask prices) of the Trust Units on
the effective date of the subdivision or consolidation on the principal stock exchange on which the
Trust Units are listed or, if not so listed, such other value as the Manager shall reasonably
determine.

ysubdividing or consolidating the issued and outstanding Trust Units as provided in subsection 1.1,

Section 10.7(b)(iv) will be deleted to remove the reference to a subdivision or consolidation of Trust Units requiring
the approval of Unitholders by Special Resolution.

There will be consequential cross reference changes to reflect the foregoing amendments to the Trust Indenture.

Part 1l - Ownership Amendments

Section 3.10 of the Trust Indenture shall be amended by inserting "(a) Subject to Subsection 3.10(b) below", before
the current Section 3.10 and then inserting after Section 3.10 the following:

H(b)

It is in the best interest of Unitholders that the Trust always qualify as a "mutual fund trust” under the
Income Tax Act. Accordingly, in order to ensure the maintenance of such status, the Trustee or the Manager
may, from time to time, obtain an opinion of Counsel confirming whether the Trust, at the date thereof or
following a proposed transaction or event, qualifies or will qualify as a "mutual fund trust" under the
Income Tax Act. In the event that the Board of Directors of the Manager obtain an opinion of Counsel that
either circumstances or legislative changes have made it apparent that the Trust need not maintain the 49%
limitation set forth in Section 3.10(a) above in order for the Trust to continue to be a mutual fund trust, then



the Board, on written notice to Unitholders, either by way of press release or mailing to Unitholders, revoke
Section 3.10(a) and instead rely upon the following:

(@)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

If at any time the board of directors of the Manager determines, in its sole discretion and with or
without an opinion of Counsel, or becomes aware, that the Trust's status as a "mutual fund trust"
under the /ncome Tax Act is in jeopardy, then forthwith after such determination the Manager shall
take such steps as are necessary or desirable to ensure that the Trust continues to qualify as a
mutual fund trust, which may include determining that the Trust is not maintained primarily for
the benefit of Non-Residents and imposing and enforcing such ownership restrictions as may be
deemed necessary, in its sole discretion, for the Trust to qualify as a "mutual fund trust” under the
Income Tax Act.

It shall be the sole responsibility of the Manager to monitor the holdings by Non-Residents. The
Manager may, at any time and from time to time, in its sole discretion, request that the Trustee
make reasonable efforts, as practicable in the circumstances, to obtain declarations as to beneficial
ownership under Section 7.11, perform residency searches of Unitholder and beneficial Unitholder
mailing address lists and take such other steps specified by the Manager, at the cost of the Trust, to
determine or estimate as best as possible the residence of the beneficial owners of Trust Units.

If at any time the board of directors of the Manager, in its sole discretion, determines that it is in
the best interest of the Trust, the Manager may:

(A) require the Trustee to refuse to accept a subscription for Trust Units from, or issue or
register a transfer of Trust Units to, a person unless the person provides a declaration to
the Manager pursuant to Section 7.11 that the Trust Units to be issued or transferred to
such person will not when issued or transferred be beneficially owned by a Non-
Resident;

(B) to the extent practicable in the circumstances, send a natice to registered holders of Trust
Units which are beneficially owned by Non-Residents, chosen in inverse order to the
order of acquisition or registration of such Trust Units beneficially owned by Non-
Residents or in such other manner as the Manager may consider equitable and
practicable, requiring them to sell their Trust Units which are beneficially owned by Non-
Residents or a specified portion thereof within a specified period of not less than 60 days.
If the Unitholders receiving such notice have not sold the specified number of such Trust
Units or provided the Manager with satisfactory evidence that such Trust Units are not
beneficially owned by Non-Residents within such period, the Manager may, on behalf of
such registered Unitholder, sell such Trust Units and, in the interim, suspend the voting
and distribution rights attached to such Trust Units and make any distribution in respect
of such Trust Units by depositing such amount in a separate bank account in a Canadian
chartered bank (net of any applicable taxes). Any sale shall be made on any stock
exchange on which the Trust Units are then listed and, upon such sale, the affected
holders shall cease to be holders of Trust Units so disposed of and their rights shall be
limited to receiving the net proceeds of sale, and any distribution in respect thereof
deposited as aforesaid, net of applicable taxes and costs of sale, upon surrender of the
certificates representing such Trust Units; and

(9)] take such other actions as the board of directors of the Manager determines, in its sole
discretion, are appropriate in the circumstances to reduce or limit the number of Trust
Units held by Non-Residents to ensure that the Trust is not maintained primarily for the
benefit of Non-Residents.

None of the Trust, the Trustee or the Manager shall:

(A) have any liability for amounts received pursuant to sales of Trust Units made pursuant to
Section 3.10(c)(ii);
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(B)

©

D)
(E)

be bound to do or take any proceeding or action with respect to this Section 3.10 by
virtue of the powers conferred on it under this Trust Indenture;

be deemed to have notice of any violation of this Section 3.10 unless and until it has been
given written notice of such violation and shall be required to act only as required by this
Trust Indenture and upon an indemnity satisfactory to such party being provided by the
Trust;

be required to actively monitor the Non-Resident holdings of the Trust; or

be lable for any violation of the Non-Resident ownership restriction imposed by the
Manager from time to time that may occur during the term of the Trust.

It is acknowledged that none of the Trust, the Trustee or the Manager can monitor the Non-
Resident holders of the Trust Units given that many of the Trust Units are registered in the name
of depositories and other non-beneficial holders. Each of the Trust, the Trustee and the Manager
are entitled to rely on CDS participant lists, ADP geographic breakdowns and other information
received by them from the Transfer Agent in assessing the Non-Resident ownership of the Trust,
notwithstanding that such information may be incomplete or out-of-date."
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SCHEDULE B

L PURPOSE
These terms of reference are prepared to assist the Board and management in
clarifying responsibilities between the Board and management. The fundamental
responsibility of the Board of Directors is to appoint a competent senior
management team and to oversee the management of the business, with a view to
maximizing unitholder value and ensuring corporate conduct in an ethical and
legal manner via an appropriate system of corporate governance and internal
control process and procedures. The Board of Directors is responsible for the
stewardship of Canadian Oil Sands Limited (the "Corporation") and Canadian Oil
Sands Trust (the "Trust").
IL. CONSTITUTION, COMPOSITION AND DEFINITIONS

A. The Board shall be composed of not fewer than three directors, and not
more than the maximum number of directors allowed by the articles of the
Trust's subsidiaries. The specific number of directors shall be set by the
Board each year. The Board shall be comprised of a majority of
independent directors who are free from any direct or indirect relationship
that, in the Board's view, would or could reasonably interfere with the
exercise of his or her independent judgement.

B. The Board shall meet at least four times each year. The Chairman may
call additional meetings as required. In addition, a meeting may be called
by the President and Chief Executive Officer, any member of any Board
or committee of the Board or as otherwise provided by law.

C. The Board shall have the right to determine who shall and who shall not
be present at any time during a Board meeting. The President and Chief
Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the General Counsel
and Corporate Secretary of the Corporation are expected to be available to
attend the Board meetings or portions thereof.

D. The members of the Board shall be appointed following unitholders
approval, by the applicable shareholder of the Trust's subsidiaries. Where
a vacancy occurs at any time in the membership of the Board, the Board
may fill it. In addition, in accordance with COSL's articles and by-laws, a
majority of the Board may appoint one (1) additional director to the Board
between unitholder meetings.

Effective: February 22, 2006 Page 1
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I11.

The Board shall be given access to senior management of the Trust's
subsidiaries and documents as required to fulfill its responsibilities and
shall be provided with the resources necessary to carry out its
responsibilities.

The Chairman of the Board shall not have a casting vote in addition to his
or her regular vote.

The secretary to the Board shall be either the Corporate Secretary or his or
her delegate.

Board meetings may be held in person, by video conference, by means of
telephone or by a combination of the foregoing.

Notice of the time and place of each meeting shall be given in writing, or
by facsimile to each member of the Board at least 48 hours prior to the
time fixed for such meeting. Any member may, in any manner, waive
notice of the meeting. Attendance of a member at a meeting shall
constitute waiver of notice of the meeting except where a member attends
the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any
business on the grounds that the meeting was not lawfully called.

A majority of members, present in person or by videoconference,
telephone or combination thereof, shall constitute a quorum.

All members of the Board are expected to allow sufficient time to review
meeting materials and be prepared for Board meetings. Members are
expected to attend most, if not all, Board meetings.

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

A.

Managing the Affairs of the Board

The Board operates by delegating certain of its authorities, including
spending authorizations, to committees of the Board and to management
and by reserving certain powers to itself. The Board is responsible for
managing its own affairs, including:

1) planning its composition and size;
ii) selecting its Chair;

iii) nominating candidates for election to the Board;

Effective: February 22, 2006 Page 2
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appointing committees and approving their respective mandates
and the limits of authority delegated to each committee; and

approving and directing the implementation of corporate
governance practices and procedures aimed at having independent,
informed oversight by Board members of management and
management's conduct of the business of the Trust and its
subsidiaries, including the approval of the terms of reference for
the Board and its subcommittees. In conjunctions with the
Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee, the Board
will annually assess its performance and that of its subcommittees.

B. Management and Human Resources

The Board has the responsibility for:

i)

iii)

the appointment of and succession planning relating to the
President and Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"), establishing
objectives of the CEO and assessing the CEO against such
objectives, monitoring CEO performance generally and approving
the CEO's compensation. The Board may delegate the
implementation of specific objectives or the finalization of
remuneration relating to the CEO to a committee of the Board;

determining the appointment and termination of senior
management and reviewing the recommendations or
determinations made by the Corporate Governance and
Compensation Committee relating to the recruitment, training,
development, assessment and compensation of senior
management;

overseeing management's compliance with any code of business
conduct or ethics policies that may be adopted by the Board from
time to time for the Trust and its subsidiaries; and

to the extent feasible, satisfying the Board as to the integrity of the
CEO and other executive officers and that the CEO and other
executives create a culture of integrity throughout the organization.

Effective: February 22, 2006
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C. Strategy and Plans

The Board has the responsibility to:

1) adopt a strategic planning process and, at least annually, approve
the Trust's strategic- plan which takes into account, among other
things, the opportunities and risks of the business;

i) approve annual capital and operating budgets;

iit) oversee the performance of the Trust against the strategic and
operating plans; and

1v) approve material divestitures and acquisitions, the determination of
materiality to be established by the Board and revised from time to
time.

D. Financial, Risk Management and Corporate Issues

The Board has the responsibility to:

1) review and oversee management, and with input from the Audit
Committee, in developing systems and processes to monitor the
principal risks of the Trust's business and specifically, to direct
management to identify the principal risks of the Trust's business
and to implement appropriate systems to monitor and manage
these risks. In particular, the Board will review policies and
practices with respect to trading and hedging activities and
consider the results of any reviews of these areas by the external
auditors or third party consultants as well as the controls relating to
the use of trading and hedging activities as they relate to the
significant business risks and uncertainties for the Trust and its
subsidiaries;

ii) review insurance coverage of significant business risks and
uncertainties;

iit) with input from the Audit Committee of the Board, take reasonable
steps, in conjunction with management, to direct the
implementation and integrity of the Trust's internal control and
management information systems;

iv) declare distributions;

V) establish limits of authority delegated to management; and

Effective: February 22, 2006 Page 4
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vi)

review and approve the annual financial statements and
management discussion and analysis for the Trust and its
subsidiaries and to either review and approve, or delegate to the
Audit Committee to review and approve, the unaudited interim
financial statements and management discussion and analysis for
the Trust and its subsidiaries.

E. Compliance Reporting and Corporate Communications

The Board has the responsibility to direct management to:

y

iii)

Vi)

vii)

implement appropriate communication processes and measures
with unitholders and other stakeholders and financial, regulatory
and other recipients;

report the financial performance of the Trust to unitholders, other
security holders and regulators on a timely and regular basis and in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

through the Audit Committee, oversee and direct the evaluation of
the oil and gas reserves of the Trust and its subsidiaries and to
monitor the disclosure regarding such reserves. The Board shall
approve the reports to be filed with the applicable securities
commissions regarding the reserves of the Trust and its
subsidiaries;

report in a timely fashion developments that have a significant and
material impact on the Trust;

report annually to unitholders on the Board's stewardship for the
preceding year (the Annual Report or Management Information
Circular);

| approve the holding and date of unitholder meetings; and

engage, where necessary, external advisors and experts in assisting
the Board determining any risks or major issues facing the Trust or
its subsidiaries or the Board.

F. Non-delegable Matters

The Board may not delegate the following matters:

)

submission of items to unitholders for approval;

Effective: February 22, 2006
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 TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE BOARD

i) the declaration of dividends by COSL or distributions by the Trust;

iii)  the approval of a management proxy circular, annual financial
statements or the adoption, repeal or amendments of by-laws;

iv) redemption of shares of COSL or of units by the Trust; and

V) the review and approval of the Trust's statement of reserves and
other oil and gas information applicable securities legislation.

G. Use of Committees

The Board may direct any committee of the Board to provide input and
recommendations on any of the foregoing matters. In addition, where
permitted by law and where appropriate, the Board may delegate certain
duties and responsibilities to a committee of the Board.

IV. REVIEW

The Board will review these terms of reference at least annually or, where
circumstances warrant, at such shorter interval as is necessary, to determine if
further additions, deletions or other amendments are required.

Effective: February 22, 2006 Page 6
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I PURPOSE

A.

The primary function of the Audit Committee (the "Committee") is to
assist the Board of Directors of Canadian Qil Sands Limited ("COSL") in
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities by reviewing:

i) the financial information that will be provided to the unitholders of
Canadian Oil Sands Trust (the "Trust") and the public;

ii) the systems of internal controls that management and the Board
have established, including monitoring the integrity of the controls
regarding financial reporting and accounting compliance; and

iil) all audit processes.

Primary responsibility for the financial reporting, information systems,
risk management and internal controls of the Trust, COSL and the other
subsidiaries of the Trust is vested in management and is overseen by the
Board.

The Committee shall monitor the independence and performance of the
external auditors of the Trust, COSL and the other subsidiaries of the
Trust.

The Committee shall oversee and manage the overall process relating to
the reporting of the reserves of the Trust and its subsidiaries.

II. CONSTITUTION, COMPOSITION AND DEFINITIONS

A.

The Committee shall be composed of not fewer than three directors, none
of whom shall be officers or employees of COSL. The Committee shall
only be comprised of "independent" directors. An "independent" director
is a director who is free from any direct or indirect relationship with
COSL or the Trust and its subsidiaries that, in the Board's view, would or
could reasonably interfere with the exercise of his or her independent
judgement. A member must be "independent" within the meaning
ascribed thereto in Multilateral Instrument 52-110, as amended. All
members of the Committee shall be financially literate, as determined by
the Board of Directors, and at least one member shall have experience in
the oil and gas industry. Committee members will include only duly
elected directors.

The Committee shall ensure that management advises the external auditors
of the names of the Committee members and provides notice of and

Effective: October 25, 2005 page 7
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invites, where appropriate, the external auditors to attend meetings of the
Committee. The Committee shall ensure that the external auditors are
heard at those meetings on matters relating to the auditor's duties.

C. The Committee shall meet with the external auditors at least quarterly and
otherwise as it deems appropriate to consider any matter that the
Committee or the external auditors determine should be brought to the
attention of the Board or unitholders.

D. The Committee shall meet at least four times each year. The Chairman
may call additional meetings as required. In addition, a meeting may be
called by the non-executive Chairman of the Board, the President & Chief
Executive Officer, any member of the Committee or by the external
auditors.

E. The Committee shall have the right to determine who shall and who shall
not be present at any time during a Committee meeting. The President &
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of COSL are
expected to be available to attend the Committee's meetings or portions
thereof.

F. The Board shall appoint members to the Committee. Where a vacancy
occurs at any time in the membership of the Committee, the Board may
fill it. A majority of the Board may remove any member of the
Committee at any time. If a member of the Committee ceases to be a
Board member, then such individual shall automatically cease to be a
member of the Committee.

G. The Committee shall be given access to senior management of COSL and
all documents as required to fulfill its responsibilities and shall be
provided with the resources necessary to carry out its responsibilities.

H. The Committee shall have the right to:

i) engage independent counsel and other advisors as it determines
necessary to carry out its duties;

il) to establish and pay the compensation for any advisors employed
by the Committee; and

ii) to communicate directly with the external auditors and, if
applicable, internal auditors.

L. The Committee provides open venues of communication among
management, employees, external auditors and the Board.

Effective: October 25, 2005 page 8
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I1I.

The non-executive Chairman of the Board shall be a non-voting member
of the Committee unless he is a member of the Committee in which case
he shall have the same voting rights as any other member of the
Committee.

The secretary to the Committee shall be either the Corporate Secretary or
his/her delegate.

Committee meetings may be held in person, by video conference, by
means of telephone or by a combination of the foregoing.

Notice of the time and place of each meeting may be given orally, or in
writing (including by electronic means) or by facsimile to each member of
the Committee at least 48 hours prior to the time fixed for such meeting.
Notice shall also be given to the external auditors. Any member and the
external auditors may, in any manner, waive notice of the meeting.
Attendance of a member or the external auditors at a meeting shall
constitute waiver of notice of the meeting except where a member or the
external auditors attend the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to
the transaction of any business on the grounds that the meeting was not
lawfully called.

A majority of members, present in person or by videoconference, by
means of telephone or combination thereof, shall constitute a quorum.

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Subject to the powers and duties of the Board and without limiting the members'
duties as Board members, the Committee will perform the following duties:

A.

Financial Statements and Other Financial Information

The Committee will review and consider all financial information that will
be made publicly available. This includes:

i) reviewing and recommending approval of the annual financial
statements and management's discussion and analysis with regard
to the Trust, COSL and other subsidiaries of the Trust, as
applicable, and report to the Board before the statements are
approved by the Board;

i) reviewing and approving the quarterly unaudited financial
statements and management's discussion and analysis with regard
to the Trust, COSL, and other subsidiaries of the Trust, as

Effective: October 25, 2005 page 9
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“"" TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

iii)

vi)

vii)

viii)

Xi)

Xii)

applicable, and approving the release of such financial statements
and interim management's discussion and analysis to the public
together with the press releases thereon;

reviewing and authorizing for release any earnings release to the
public;

reviewing and recommending to the Board for approval, the
financial content of the annual report and any material reports
required by government or regulatory authorities;

reviewing and recommending for approval by the Board the
Annual Information Form of the Trust and COSL;

reviewing and recommending to the Board for approval any
prospectus or offering memorandum;

reviewing and discussing the appropriateness of accounting
policies and financial reporting practices used by the Trust, COSL
and/or other subsidiaries of the Trust;

reviewing and discussing any significant proposed changes in
financial reporting and accounting policies and practices to be
adopted by the Trust, COSL and/or other subsidiaries of the Trust;

reviewing and discussing any new or pending developments in
accounting and reporting standards that may matperially affect the
Trust, COSL and/or other subsidiaries of the Trust;

reviewing and assessing the appropriateness of management's key
estimates and judgments that may be material to financial
reporting;

reviewing and discussing with management the use of "pro forma"

or non-GAAP financial information and earnings guidance

contained in news releases, any other public disclosure or any
filings with the securities regulators and considering whether the
information is consistent with the information contained in the
financial statements of the Trust or COSL; and

reviewing and reassess annually that procedures are in place
regarding the review of any other corporate disclosure derived or
extracted from financial statements is being properly handled.

Effective: October 25, 2005

page 10
B-10



B. Financial Risk Management, Internal Control and Disclosure Control
Systems

The Audit Committee will review and obtain reasonable assurance that the
financial risk management, internal control and disclosure control systems
are operating effectively to produce accurate, appropriate and timely
management of financial risks and financial information. This includes:

1) review, at least annually, the risk management controls and
policies of the Trust, COSL and other subsidiaries of the Trust as
such relate to financial matters and accounting, it being recognized
that the Board is responsible for the review of the overall risk
management affecting the Trust, COSL and other subsidiaries of
the Trust;

i) obtain reasonable assurance from management or external sources
as deemed appropriate that the disclosure control systems are
reliable and the systems of disclosure and internal controls are
properly designed and effectively implemented through
discussions with and reports from management, the internal
auditor, if such position exists, and the external auditor, as deemed
appropriate by the Committee;

i) review management steps to implement and maintain appropriate
internal control procedures including a review of policies;

iv) monitor compliance with statutory and regulatory obligations; and

V) establish procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of
complaints received by the Trust or COSL regarding accounting,
internal accounting controls or auditing matters and establish
procedure so that the confidential, anonymous submission by
employee regarding questionable accounting matters are handled
appropriately.

For greater certainty, the Audit Committee will review and assess the
internal controls and disclosure controls as part of the certification process
regarding financial statements and financial disclosure. However, the
review and overall assessment of risk management and control processes
related to non-financial matters shall remain with the Board.

C. External Audit

The external auditors shall report directly to the Audit Committee. The
Committee will oversee, and review the planning and results of external
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audit activities and the ongoing relationship with the external auditors.
This includes:

i)

vi)

review, assess the performance and recommend to the Board, for
unitholder approval, the appointment, retention and compensation
of the external auditors;

review the annual external audit plan;

meet with the external auditors to discuss quarterly and annual
financial statements of the Trust, COSL, and other subsidiaries of
the Trust, as applicable, and the auditors' reports thereon;

review and advise the Board with respect to the planning, conduct
and reporting of the annual audit, including but not limited to:

a) any difficulties encountered, or restriction imposed by
management, during the annual audit;

b) critical accounting policies and estimates and alternatives
to such policies and estimates;

c) any significant accounting or financial reporting issue;

d) the auditors' evaluation of the system of disclosure and
internal controls, procedures and documentation for the
Trust, COSL and other subsidiaries of the Trust;

e) the post audit or management letter containing any findings
or recommendation of the external auditors, including
management's response thereto and the subsequent follow-
up to any identified disclosure or internal control
weaknesses; and

f) any other material matters the external auditors bring to the
Committee's attention;

review and pre-approve the non-audit services to be provided by
the external auditors' firm or its affiliates (including estimated
fees), and consider the impact on the independence of the external
audit; where circumstances warrant, this pre-approval may be
delegated to the Chair of the Audit Committee;

meet periodically, and at least quarterly, with the external auditors
without management present;

Effective: October 25, 2005
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meet periodically, and at least quarterly, with management,
without the external auditors present;

review any decision by COSL to hire employees or former
employees of the Trust's or COSL's current or former external
auditors; and

discuss and review with the external auditor, all relationships such
auditor has with the Trust and COSL as part of the assessment of
the independence of the external auditor, as well as the external
auditor's qualification and performance and the results of any
internal reviews of the external audit firm as regards to any
findings of inadequacies or concerns raised by external governance
or regulating bodies.

D. Reserves

The Committee will constitute the committee of the Board responsible for
the oversight of the determination of and public disclosure regarding oil
and gas reserves of the Trust. In particular, the Committee will:

)

based on management's recommendation and having considered
the expertise of the proposed firm and responsible individuals as
well as their independence, appoint an independent qualified
evaluator to report on reserves. The Committee will review the
reappointment or change in appointment of the evaluator at least
annually;

review procedures relating to the disclosure of information on oil
and gas activities and reserves;

review the process of providing information to the evaluator and
consider the adequacy of such procedures;

meet with management and the evaluator, both collectively and
independently to determine if:

a) any restrictions affecting the ability to give an unqualified
reserve report; and

b) review the reserves data and the evaluator's report;

consider and discuss with management and the external evaluator,
the material assumptions and operating parameters used in creating
the reserve report; and

Effective: October 25, 2005
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iif)

vi)

vii)

-~ TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

recommend to the Board the approval of the filing of the reserves
data and required forms.

review and approve any material changes to the corporate structure
related to tax planning as proposed by management for the Trust
and its subsidiaries; and

review all material tax issues.

review material litigation as such impacts on financial reporting;

review policies and procedures for the review and approval of
directors' and officers' expenses and perquisites, including the use
of corporate assets, and consider the results of any review of these
areas by an internal audit function, if available, or by the external
auditors or a third party consultant, as the Committee deems
applicable;

review and approve a summary of the Committee's composition
and responsibilities as well as summary of any audit, audit-related
and other services by the external auditors for inclusion in the
public disclosure documentation of the Trust and COSL, including
without limitation, any such disclosure contained in a management
proxy circular;

review any related party transactions between the Trust or any
subsidiary of the Trust, including COSL and the directors and
officers of COSL;

review any legal and regulatory matters that may have a material
impact on the interim or annual financial statements that are
brought to the attention of any member of the Committee or the
Board;

conduct or authorize investigation into any matters within the
Committee's scope of responsibilities. The Committee shall be
empowered to retain independent counsel, accountants or others to
assist it in the conduct of any investigation; and

approve the appointment, re-assignment or removal of the Chief
Financial Officer of the Corporation, subject to the

Effective: October 25, 2005
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recommendation of the Corporate Governance and Compensation
Committee and the final approval of the Board.

IV. ACCOUNTABILITY

The Committee shall report its discussions to the Board by either distributing the
minutes of its meetings or a written summary of such discussions or by oral report
at the next Board meeting. Any sensitive materials shall be kept by the Corporate
Secretary and/or the Chairman of the Committee.

V. REVIEW

The Committee shall review these terms of reference each quarter or, where
circumstances warrant, at such short interval as the Committee deems appropriate
or necessary, to determine if further additions, deletions or other amendments are
required.

Effective: October 25, 2005 page 15
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TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

I. PURPOSE

A.

The primary function of the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee
(the "Committee") is to assist the Board in carrying out its responsibilities by
reviewing corporate governance, nomination and compensation issues and
making recommendations to the Board as appropriate.

I CONSTITUTION, COMPOSITION AND DEFINITIONS

A.

The Committee shall consist of not less than three nor more than six Directors, all
of whom shall qualify as an independent Director. An "independent Director" is a
Director who is free from any direct or indirect relationship that would or could
reasonably interfere with the exercise of his or her independent judgment.
Committee members will include only duly elected Directors. At the request of
the Committee, certain members of senior management of Canadian Oil Sands
Limited ("COSL™) and others may attend Committee meetings on an ad hoc or a
regular basis.

Members of the Committee shall be appointed at a meeting of the Board, typically
held in April (effective after election of Directors at the annual meeting of
unitholders), provided that any member may be removed or replaced at any time
by the Board and shall, in any event, cease to be a member of the Committee upon
ceasing to be a member of the Board. The Chairman of the Board shall be an ex
officio member of the Committee.

Where a vacancy occurs at any time in the membership of the Committee, the
Board may fill it.

The Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee will recommend an
unrelated Director to act as Chairman of the Committee to the Board for approval.
The Board shall appoint the Chairman of the Committee. If the Chairman of the
Committee is not present at any meeting of the Committee, one of the other
members of the Committee present at the meeting shall be chosen to preside by a
majority of the members of the Committee present at such meeting.

The Chairman presiding at any meeting of the Committee shall not have a casting
vote in addition to his or her regular vote.

The Committee shall meet at least quarterly at the call of the Chairman. In
addition, a meeting may be called by the non-executive Board Chairman, the
President and Chief Executive Officer, or any member of the Committee.

Effective: October 25, 2005 Page 16
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~TERMS OF REFE

1L’

Committee meetings may be held in person, by video conference, by means of
telephone or by a combination of any of the foregoing.

Notice of the time and place of each meeting may be given orally, or in writing
(including by electronic means), or by facsimile to each member of the
Committee at least 48 hours prior to the time fixed for such meeting.

A member may in any manner waive notice of the meeting. Attendance of a
member at a meeting shall constitute waiver of notice of the meeting except
where a member attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the
transaction of any business on the grounds that the meeting was not lawfully
called.

A majority of Committee members, present in person, by videoconference, by
telephone or by any combination thereof shall constitute a quorum. In addition, if
an ex officio, non-voting member's presence is required to attain a quorum of the
Committee, then the said member shall be allowed to cast a vote at the meeting.

The President and Chief Executive Officer and the General Counsel and
Corporate Secretary are expected to be available to attend meetings or portions
thereof.

The Committee may, by specific invitation, have other resource persons in -
attendance. The Committee shall have the right to determine who shall and who
shall not be present at any time during a meeting of the Committee. Directors,
who are not members of the Committee, may attend Committee meetings, on an
ad hoc basis, upon prior consultation and approval by the Committee Chairman or
by a majority of the Committee.

A summary of Committee meetings shall be given orally or in writing by the
Chairman or his designate to all members of the Board of Directors at the
subsequent Board meeting following any meeting of the Committee.

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Subject to the powers and duties of the Board, the Committee is expected to:

(a)
(b)

Act in an advisory capacity to the Board.
Recommend to the Board for approval:

1) Directors' renumeration; and

Effective: October 25, 2005 Page 17
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i) Remuneration for the non-executive Chairman of the Board, including any
retainer, meeting fees and any securities or purchases of units in the
secondary market.

(c) Recommend suitable candidates for nomination for election as Directors.

1) Formulate criteria for candidates, having considered the competencies and
skills that the Board, as a whole, and the relevant committees of the Board
should possess given the nature of the business of the Corporation and its
affiliates;

ii) Canvas current Board members for suggestions for candidates and, where
appropriate to do so, engage external consultants to assist in compiling
lists of potential candidates;

iit) Develop a list of potential candidates, as required,;

iv) Give consideration to an appropriate size for the Board for the ensuing
year with a view to facilitating effective decision-making; and

V) Recommend to the Board proposed nominees for election to the Board at
the next annual meeting of unitholders and to fill any vacancies in the
intervening period.

(d) Review the recommendation of the non-executive Board Chairman and the
President and Chief Executive Officer with respect to Committee membership and
recommend to the Board the assignment of members to each Committee of the
Board.

(e) In connection with the Board, establish corporate goals and objectives and review
performance of the CEO relative to the corporate objectives and strategies as well
as the specific annual objectives of the CEO with a view to discussing such
analysis with the Board and recommending compensation components for the
CEO to the Board.

® Recommend to the Board for approval:

i) Remuneration of the President and Chief Executive Officer, including
salary, bonus, options and any other incentive plan;

it) Appointment of corporate officers;

iil) Reservation of units under the unit option and distribution equivalent plan
or any other long term incentive plan (the "LTIP"),

Effective: October 25, 2005 Page 18
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S TERMS OFVREFERENCE OF THE CORPORATE GO
o "COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

iv) Amendment of the LTIP; and
v) Annual compensation budget for staff of COSL and its subsidiaries.
(2 Approve, grant (where applicable) and report to the Board:

1) Statement of Executive Compensation to be included in the annual
reporting by Canadian Qil Sands Trust (the "Trust") to its unitholders;

ii) Number of options or units granted pursuant to the LTIP;

1ii) Salaries, target bonus awards, other incentive awards and options the
officers (subject in the case to those pertaining to the President and Chief
Executive Officer having been previously approved in concept by the
Board) of COSL and its subsidiaries, if any;

iv) Implementation of or changes to compensation and benefits policies; and

V) Purchases of units of the Trust in the secondary market as part of the
compensation package for employees of COSL.

(h) Review the succession planning process for the officers and approve such
succession planning (other than in the case of the President and Chief Executive
Officer whose successor must be approved by the Board) and approve the training
and development of the officers as part of such succession planning process.

(1) Review on a periodic basis the terms of reference of the committees of the Board
and make recommendations, as deemed appropriate, with respect to such terms of
reference.

) In conjunction with the Chairman of the Board, review the relationship between

management and the Board and make recommendations with respect to such
relationship where and when it is deemed appropriate.

k) In conjunction with the Chairman of the Board, consider the effectiveness of the
Board, as a whole, the committees of the Board and the contribution of individual
members.

O Generally discuss recommendations regarding corporate governance and
compensation of other staff members with the President and Chief Executive
Officer before making recommendations to the Board, except where the
Committee deems it inappropriate or not in the best interests of the Trust and/or
COSL to do so.

Effective: October 23, 2005 Page 19
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Iv.

- " : TERMS OF REF ERENCE OF THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

(m) Be available as a forum for addressing the concerns of individual Directors.

(n)  Review and approve annually, for disclosure to unitholders, a report that describes
the Trust's corporate governance practices.

(0) Review, from time to time, the retirement age, if any, for directors.

(p) From time to time, consider, recommend and bring forward to the Board of
Directors, any corporate governance issues for review, discussion or action by the
Board or a committee thereof.

(@)  Ensure that any issues relating to governance that are identified by the Directors
are raised with management.

(r) Determine the most appropriate orientation and education program of new Board
and Board committee members and the continued development of existing
members of the Board.

The Committee, upon approval by a majority of the members of the Committee, may
engage and compensate outside resources if deemed advisable.

REVIEW

The Committee shall review these terms of reference annually or, where circumstances
warrant, at such shorter intervals as is necessary, to determine if further additions,
deletions or other amendments are required.

The duties and responsibilities of a member of the Committee are in addition to those
duties set out for a member of the Board of Directors.
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‘ Exemption under Rule 12¢3-2(b)

Canadian Oil Sands

FORM OF PROXY

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED BY THE MANAGER OF CANADIAN OIL SANDS TRUST AND WILL BE USED AT
THE ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF UNITHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, APRIL 25, 2006

The undersigned holder of trust units (“Units") of Canadian Oil Sands Trust (the "Trust") hereby appoints C.E.
(Chuck) Shultz, Chairman of the Board of Canadian Oil Sands Limited ("COSL"), or Marcel R. Coutu, President and Chief
Executive Officer of COSL, or instead of either of them, , as
the nominee of the undersigned, to attend and act for and on behalf of the undersigned at the annual and special meeting (the
"Meeting") of the Unitholders of the Trust to be held on Tuesday, April 25, 2006 at 2:30 p.m. (Calgary time) in the Chambers
Room, First Canadian Centre, 350 — 7" Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, and at any adjournment thereof, and at every poll
which may be taken in consequence thereof, and to vote the Units registered in the name of the undersigned, with the same
powers that the undersigned would have if the undersigned was personally present at the Meeting or such adjournment thereof.
Without limiting the generality of the authorization and power hereby given, the undersigned hereby revokes any proxy
previously given and directs the nominee appointed hereunder to vote the Units as follows, and the trustee of the Trust (the
"Trustee") shall, where applicable, in turn vote the common shares of COSL in accordance with the decision of the
Unitholders:

1. Directing the Trustee to vote the common shares of COSL so as to appoint [ 1 FOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the auditor of COSL for the ensuing year
at a remuneration to be fixed by COSL and approved by the directors [ ] WITHHOLD FROM VOTING

thereof;,
2. Appointing PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the auditor of the Trust for the { ] FOR

ensuing year at a remuneration to be fixed by COSL and approved by the

directors thereof; [ ] WITHHOLD FROM VOTING
3. Directing the Trustee to vote the common shares of COSL so as to elect as [ 1 FOR

directors of COSL all of the nominees of the Trust, as described and set

forth in the Management Proxy Circular of the Trust dated March 10, 2006, [ ] WITHHOLD FROM VOTING
and to fill any vacancies among the directors of COSL that may arise .

between the Meeting and the first meeting of the Unitholders thereafter that

considers the election of directors, by appointing to any such vacancy a

person selected by COSL;

4. Approving the special resolution approving and authorizing a Unit split and [ 1 FOR
authorizing amendments to the Trust Indenture which permit that Unit split
and which also allow future Unit splits, as described and set forth in the [ 7 AGAINST
Management Proxy Circular of the Trust dated March 10, 2006;

5. Approving the special resolution approving and authorizing certain [] FOR
amendments to the Trust Indenture regarding foreign ownership constraints,
as described and set forth in the Management Proxy Circular of the Trust [ ] AGAINST
dated March 10, 2006;

6. Approving the ordinary resolution re-appointing Computershare Trust [ ] FOR
Company of Canada as trustee of the Trust for an additional three year term
commencing on the Meeting date and expiring immediately following the [ 1 AGAINST
annual meeting of Unitholders in 2009, at a remuneration to be fixed by the
Corporation and approved by the directors of the Corporation; and

7. On any other business that may properly come before the Meeting or any adjournment or adjournments thereof, in
such manner as the proxyholder may determine in his or her discretion.



This form of proxy confers on the nominees named herein discretionary authority with respect to amendments or
variations of those matters identified in the accompanying Notice of Annual and Special Meeting of Unitholders (the "Notice
of Meeting'") dated March 10, 2006 or any other matters that may properly come before the Meeting or any adjournments
thereof. This proxy also authorizes the Trustee to replace any nominee identified above for election as a director of COSL if
such nominee is unable or not willing to serve as a director. As at March 10, 2006, neither the Trustee nor COSL knows of any
such amendments, other matters or anticipated replacements.

The Units represented by this proxy will be voted on the matters listed above and identified in the Notice of
Meeting in such manner as the Unitholder giving this proxy may have specified by marking an "X" in the spaces
provided above for that purpose. If no choice is specified hereon as to the manner in which the Units represented by
this proxy are to be voted with respect to any matter listed above and identified in the Notice of Meeting, then all such
Units will be voted "FOR'' each such matter.

A Unitholder entitled to vote at the Meeting has the right to appoint a person (who need not be a Unitholder) to
attend and act for and on behalf of such Unitholder at the Meeting other than the persons designated as nominees in
this form of proxy. To exercise this right, the Unitholder should insert in the name of such person in the blank space
provided above.

This proxy is solicited on behalf of the Trustee by the management of COSL pursuant to the terms of the
Management Agreement dated July 5, 2001 between the Trust and COSL, as amended.

To be effective, proxies must be received by Computershare Trust Company of Canada, 100 University
Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, MSJ 2Y1 (Attention: Proxy Department) not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the
time set for the holding of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof. Proxies may be revoked at any time prior to their
use.

DATED this day of , 2006.

Name of Unitholder (please print)

Signature of Unitholder (or duly authorized person)

NOTES:

1. This proxy must be executed by the Unitholder or by his or her attorney duly authorized in writing or, if the Unitholder is a corporation,
under its corporate seal by a duly authorized officer or attorney thereof indicating the capacity under which such officer or attorney is
signing.

2. Proxies not dated in the space provided will be deemed to bear the date on which the accompanying Management Proxy Circular was
mailed to Unitholders.

3. The name of the Unitholder must appear exactly as it is shown on the affixed label. If Units are held jointly, any one of the joint owners
may sign.

4. If Units are registered in the name of an executor, administrator, trustee or similar holder, such holder must set out his or her full title
and sign the proxy exactly as registered. If Units are registered in the name of a deceased or other Unitholder, the Unitholder’s name
must be printed in the space provided, the proxy must sign below the Unitholder signature and evidence of authority to sign on behalf of
the Unitholder must be attached to the proxy.




Exemption under Rule 12g3-2(b)

FORM 51-101F3
REPORT OF
MANAGEMENT AND DIRECTORS
ON RESERVES DATA AND OTHER INFORMATION

1. Terms to which a meaning is ascribed in N/ 57-101 have the same meaning in this form.
This report is also made in accordance with the terms of an order dated March 12, 2004
issued under the Mutual Reliance Review System.

2. Management of Canadian Oil Sands Limited ("COSL"), as manager of Canadian Oil
Sands Trust (the "Trust") is responsible for the preparation and disclosure of information
with respect to the oil and gas activities in accordance with securities regulatory
requirements of the Trust and of COSL. This information includes reserves data, which
consist of the following:

(a) 0] proved and proved plus probable oil and gas reserves estimated as at
December 31, 2005 using forecast prices and costs; and

(i) the related estimated future net revenues; and

(b) (i) proved oil and gas reserves estimated as at December 31, 2005 using
constant prices and costs; and

(it) the related estimated future net revenues.

An independent qualified reserves evaluator reviewed and evaluated the Trust's
reserves data. The report of the independent qualified reserves evaluator as presented
will be filed with securities regulatory authorities concurrently with this report.

The Audit Committee of the Board of directors of COSL, acting as the reserves
committee of the Board of Directors has:

(a) reviewed the procedures for providing information to the independent qualified
reserves evaluator;

(b) met with the independent qualified reserves evaluator to determine whether any
restrictions affected the ability of the independent qualified reserves evaluator to
report without reservation on the reserves; and

(c) reviewed the reserves data with management and the independent qualified
reserves evaluator.

The Audit Committee of the Board of directors has reviewed the procedures for
assembling and reporting other information associated with oil and gas activities and has
reviewed that information with the management. The Board of directors has, on the
recommendation of the Audit Committee, approved:

(a) the content and filing with securities regulatory authorities of the reserves data
and other oil and gas information;

JACEn0 $\CumaniegeiR 2005Fom 51-101F).doc




(b) the filing of the report of the independent qualified reserves evaluator on the
reserves data; and

(c) the content and filing of this report.

Because the reserves data are based on judgements regarding future events, actual
results will vary and the variations may be material.

CANADIAN OIL SANDS LIMITED, on its
behalf and as Manager of CANADIAN OIL
SANDS TRUST

"signed” ‘signed”

Marcel R. Coutu Allen R. Hagerman
President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
"signed” "signed”

Wayne M. Newhouse Wesley R. Twiss
Director Director

March 15, 2006
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Exemption under Rule 12¢3-2(b)

REPORT ON RESERVES DATA
BY
INDEPENDENT QUALIFIED
RESERVES EVALUATOR

To the board of directors of Canadian Oil Sands Limited (the "Corporation"):

1. We have prepared an evaluation of the subsidiary interests of Canadian Oil Sands Trust
(the “Trust™) as at December 31, 2005. The reserves data consist of the following:

(@ @ proved and proved plus probable oil and gas reserves estimated as at
December 31, 2005, using forecast prices and costs; and

(i1) the related estimated future net revenue; and

® @ proved oil and gas reserves estimated as at December 31, 2005, using
constant prices and costs; and

(i1) the related estimated future net revenue.

2. The reserves data are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the reserves data based on our evaluation.

We carried out our evaluation in accordance with standards set out in the Canadian Oil
and Gas Evaluation Handbook (the "COGE Handbook") prepared jointly by the Society
of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers (Calgary Chapter) and the Canadian Institute of
Mining, Metallurgy & Petroleum (Petroleum Society).

3. Those standards require that we plan and perform an evaluation to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the reserves data are free of material misstatement. An evaluation
also includes assessing whether the reserves data are-in accordance with principles and
definitions in the COGE Handbook.

4. The following table sets forth the estimated future net revenue (before deduction of
income taxes) attributed to proved plus probable reserves, estimated using forecast prices
and costs and calculated using a discount rate of 10 percent, included in the reserves data
of the Trust evaluated by us for the year ended December 31, 2005, and identifies the
respective portions thereof that we have audited, evaluated and reviewed and reported on
to the Corporation’s board of directors:

Location of

Reserves
(Country or
Description and Foreign Net Present Value of Future Net Revenue
Preparation Date of Geographic (before income taxes, 10% discount rate, million dollars)
Evaluation Report Area) Audited Evaluated Reviewed Total
February 6, 2006 Canada 0 $9,902 0 $9,902

GL] Petroleum Consuttants
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5. In our opinion, the reserves data respectively evaluated by us have, in all material
respects, been determined and are in accordance with the COGE Handbook.

6. We have no responsibility to update this evaluation for events and circumstances
occurring after the preparation dates.

7. Because the reserves data are based on judgements regarding future events, actual results
will vary and the variations may be material.

Executed as to our report referred-to above:

GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd., Calgary, Alberta, Canada Dated: February 14, 2006

ORIGINALLY SIGNED BY

James H. Willmon, P. Eng.
VP Corporate Evaluations

GLJ Petroleun Consuitants




Exemption under Rule 12g3-2(b)

Canadian Qil Sands Trust

Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio

For the Twelve Months ended December 31, 2005

(in thousands of dollars, except Interest coverage ratio)

: Actual
Net income $ 831,000
Tax (8,000)
Interest on debt 103,500
Net income before interest and taxes $ 926,500
Interest on debt $ 103,500
interest coverage- earnings 9.0

™ Excludes amortization of deferred financing charges of approximately $3.0 million, which is included in
Interest, net on the consolidated financial statements.
@ Includes interest rate swap amounts which have reduced interest expense by approximately $2.6 million.



Canadian Oil Sands Limited

Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio

For the Twelve Months ended December 31, 2005

(in thousands of dollars, except Interest coverage ratio)

Actual
Net income © $ 113,203
Tax (8,007)
Interest on debt " @ 147,062
Deferred Trust Royalty 537,402
Net income before interest, taxes, & Deferred Trust Royalty $ 789,660
Interest on debt 147,062
Interest coverage- earnings 5.4

" Excludes amortization of deferred financing charges of approximately $3.0 miflion, which is included in
Interest expense on the financial statements.

@ |ncludes interest rate swap amounts which have reduced interest expense by approximately $2.6 million.
® Net of Deferred Trust Royalty provision.
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ADVISORY- in the interest of providing Unitholders and potential investors of Canadian Oil Sands Trust (the
“Trust” or “Canadian Oil Sands") with information regarding the Trust, including management's assessment of
the Trust's future production and cost estimates, plans and operations, certain statements throughout this annual
report contain “forward-tooking statements” under applicable securities law. Forward-looking statements in this
annual report include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to: the expected growth opportunities that
the Trust had through its expansion of the current interest in Syncrude or through external opportunities; the antic-
ipated cost, completion, and start-up date for Stage 3; the expectation that crude oil prices will remain high and
that this will result in higher funds from operations which may be used for distribution payments; the extent and

value of Syncrude’s reserves and resources; the quality of Syncrude’s leases and bitumen in place in those leases;

the ability to improve the base operations at Syncrude; future increases in any distributions; the ability to mitigate
and prevent operational risks such as dyke failures, explosions in upgrading units or other similar events; the esti-
mated costs relating to asset retirement obligations; the view that Stage 3 will increase production and sales, there-
by increasing free cash flow; the timing regarding reaching the Trust's net debt target; the need for future hedg-

ing; the return achieved from sales of Syncrude Sweet Premium; the expected price for crude

il and natural gas
in 2006; the expected reduction in sulphur emissions from the Syncrude emission reduction project; the actual
taxes paid in the future by Canadian Oil Sands; the expected production level at Syncrude in 2006; the expected
timing and associated production impact of coker and other unit turnarounds; the expected revenues, operating
costs and funds from operations for 2006; the anticipated impact that certain factors such as natural gas and oil
prices, foreign exchange and operating costs have on the Trust's funds from operations and net income; and the
expected capital expenditures in 2006 and beyond. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements, as there can be no assurance that the plans, intentions or expectations upon which they are
based will occur. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve numerous assumptions, known and
unknown risks and uncertainties, both general and specific, that contribute to the possibility that the predictions,
forecasts, projections and other forward-looking statements will not occur. Although the Trust believes that the
expectations represented by such forward-looking statements are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such
expectations will prove to be correct. Some of the risks and other factors which could cause results to differ mate-
rially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements contained in this annual report include, but are not
limited to: labour shortages and the productivity achieved from labour in the Fort McMurray area; the impact of
technology on operations and processes and how new complex technology may not perform as expected; the
supply and demand metrics for oil and natural gas; general economic, business and market conditions; regulato-
ry changes; and such other risks and uncertainties described from time to time in the reports and filings made with
securities regulatory authorities by the Trust, including those outlined in the management’s discussion and analy-
sis in this annual report and the assumptions outlined in the guidance for 2006 being true. You are cautioned that
the foregoing list of important factors is not exhaustive. Furthermore, the forward-looking statements contained
in this annual report are made as of the date of this annual report, and the Trust does not undertake any obliga-
tion to update publicly or to revise any of the included forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new

information, future events or otherwise.

The forward-looking statements contained in this annual report are expressly qualified by this cautionary state-
ment. Unless otherwise specified, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars, all references to “dol-

lars™ or “$" are to Canadian dollars and all references to “US$" are to United States dollars.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES
In this annual report, we refer to net income before unrealized foreign exchange and future income taxes. This
is a measurement that is not defined by Canadian generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). The
Trust also reports funds from operations and free cash flow on both a total and per Unit basis, which are meas-
ures that do not have any standardized meaning under Canadian GAAP. Funds from operations is calculated
on the Trust's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash from operating activities before changes in work-
ing capital. Free cash flow is calculated as funds from operations less capital expenditures and reclamation trust
contributions in the period. In the opinion of Canadian Oil Sands’ management, funds from operations is a
key performance indicator of the Trust's ability to generate cash to fund capital expenditures, while free cash
flow is a key indicator of the Trust's ability to repay debt and.pay m_mE,.c::o:m. The net income before unre-
alized foreign exchange and future income taxes, the #:ﬂ..wi:mm from owmnm“ ons and free cash flow may not

be directly comparable to similar measures presented by otfer no.ivm:mm.m or trusts.
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HIGHLIGHTS

2005 2004 % change
FINANCIAL ($ millions, except per Unit amounts)
Revenues, after transportation and marketing expense 1,967 1,352 45
Per Unit 21.40 15.18 41
Net income 831 509 63
Per Unit - basic 9.04 572 58
Per Unit - diluted 9.01 572 58
Funds from operations 1,005 576 74
Per Unit 10.93 6.47 69
Unitholder distributions 184 180 2
Per Unit 2.00 2.00 -
RATIOS
Net debt to total capital (%) 33 39 -15
Return on average Unitholders’ equity (%) 28 21 33
Return on average productive capital employed (%) 37 21 76
Return on average capital employed (%) 19 13 46
OPERATIONS
Syncrude Sweet Blend sales volumes
Total (millions of bbls) 27.7 31.0 -11
Daily average (bbls) 75,994 84,575 -10
Operating costs ($/bbl) 26.34 19.40 36
Capital expenditures ($ millions) 800 942 -15
Average selling price ($/bb!, after hedging) 70.91 43.68 62
West Texas Intermediate ($U.S./bbl) 56.70 41.47 37
Average foreign exchange rate ($U.5./$Cdn) 0.83 0.77 8
UNIT INFORMATION
Closing price on December 31 ($/Unit) 126.00 67.61 86
Weighted-average Trust units (millions) 91.9 89.0 3

HIGHLIGHTS 2005
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TOTAL UNITHOLDER RETURNS 2005

WESTERN OIL SANDS

CANADIAN OIL SANDS
S&P/TSX OIL & GAS
EXPLORATION &
PRODUCTION INDEX
SUNCOR

S&P/TSX CAPPED
ENERGY TRUST INDEX
FORDING

75

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

CANADIAN OIL SANDS BENCHMARKS ITS TOTAL ANNUAL RETURN PERFORMANCE TO THREE
OTHER MINING COMPANIES, two of which operate in the oil sands sector, and two market indices. Our
total return in 2005 was 91 per cent and since 1996, our average annual return was 33 per cent.

6 CANADIAN OIL SANDS TRUST 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

Stage 3 production to begin mid-2006

Our 2006 outlook includes production from our Stage 3 project, which is scheduled to come
on-stream mid-year. Stage 3 is one of the largest and most complicated mega-projects in the
world, and | congratulate Syncrude on the completion of construction. Syncrude has delivered
infrastructure that will leverage our resource base for decades to come, increasing productive
capacity from roughly 250,000 to 350,000 barrels per day, gross to the project. This was a chal-
lenging project that took several years to complete and we look forward to reaping the rewards
of this investment. Syncrude also should be commended for maintaining a world-class safety
record throughout the construction.

Our track record of meeting objectives

The Stage 3 project has framed much of Canadian Oil Sands' strategy since the project was
approved in 2001. As many investors will recall, we reduced the quarterly distribution from $0.75
per Unit to $0.50 in 2001 because we felt we could maintain the lower level while we funded
this large, multi-year capital program. Our other objectives were to preserve an investment grade
credit rating and to minimize Unitholder dilution. | am pleased that we have delivered on all of
those objectives. We maintained the $0.50 per Unit distribution, raising it to $1.00 once the end
of the project was in sight and the significant financial requirements were behind us. We
preserved our investment grade credit rating, even as we increased debt to help fund the expan-
sion. And finally, we issued only $144 million of new equity, excluding our distribution reinvest-
ment plan, minimizing dilution of our historic Unitholders.

The Trust’s future objectives

With the construction and financing of Stage 3 largely behind us, our focus is on the following
objectives:

(1) Successfully bring the Stage 3 expansion on-line and achieve full design capacity as
quickly as possible

We are on track for Stage 3 production to come on-stream by mid-2006. There will be a period
of fine-tuning the new equipment during which production rates may fluctuate but ultimately
should average 350,000 barrels per day gross to Syncrude. This average production rate includes
outages for turnarounds and maintenance and as such, production will at times fall befow the
average while at other times exceed it. Given that all Stage 3 units are anticipated to be oper-
ating and there is no major turnaround work planned following the turnaround of Coker 8-1 in
the first quarter, production should exceed this daily average at various times during the second
half of 2006.
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ABOUT 6,500 HIGHLY SKILLED CONTRACTOR PERSONNEL AND 25 MILLION FIELD LABOUR HOURS WERE

r

REQUIRED TO COMPLETE CONSTRUCTION OF SYNCRUDE'S STAGE 3 UPGRADER EXPANSION.
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MARCEL COUTU
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OFFICER

Marcel has more than 25 years of experience in
the resource and energy sector, primarily focused
in corporate finance. Prior to joining Canadian
Oil Sands, he was Chief Financial Officer of Gulf
Canada and held senior executive positions at
TransCanada Pipelines. Marcel holds an H.B.Sc.
and an MBA, and is a member of the Association
of Professional Engineers, Geologists and
Geophysicists, and the IBA.

ALLEN HAGERMAN, FCA

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Allen has more than 25 years of experience in the
financial management of energy companies.
Prior to Canadian Oil Sands, he was Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Fording
Canadian Coal Trust and held senior positions at
Hudson's Bay Oil and Gas and Home Oil. Allen is
a chartered accountant, holds an MBA, and has
completed the Institute of Corporate Directors,

Corporate Governance program and is accredited

as a certified director under that program.
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is due until payout and the royalty rate then moves to 25 per cent of project net cash flow (after
capital but before financing costs). We expect to be paying the higher rate in early 2006. We feel
the structure is fair because it allows us to recover our investment and is then tied to the project's
profitability. Even at the higher royalty rate, based on today's crude prices, we expect to be gener-
ating healthy operating margins.

On the impact of lower oil prices

Our revenues are generated from the sale of a single high-quality crude oil, however, lower oil
prices do reduce our capacity to finance operations and the amount available for cash distribu-
tions to Unitholders. Once we begin to approach full payout of our free cash flow - funds from
operations less capital expenditures and reclamation trust contributions — our distributions may
more closely reflect changes in crude oil prices — up or down.

We also believe that a change in crude oil prices is the main factor affecting our Unit price,

notwithstanding any other significant developments in our business. We offer a long-term crude
oil investment opportunity for investors who believe in strong long-term crude oil prices.

We manage our capital structure to provide a prudent balance of debt and equity. We believe that a
strong balance sheet is a cost effective method of protecting against fluctuations in crude oil prices,
and we are currently aiming for net debt to cash flow coverage of about two times against a poten-
tial low US$30 per barrel oil price environment.

On the upside, lower oil prices may create opportunities. Our strong balance sheet positions us
to capitalize on these opportunities when they arise. The downside, obviously, is the impact lower
oil prices could have on Unit prices, which could reduce our financing capacity during such cycles.

On risk management

We are fundamentally exposed to crude oil prices with our long-life crude oil reserves. Typically
our investors are attracted to an investment in Canadian Oil Sands Trust for that particular
exposure, and we generally do not intend to take it away by hedging. We may, however, hedge
our crude oil production periodically to reduce cash flow risk during expansions or other growth
and financing circumstances.

We also are exposed to the price of natural gas as the hydrogen and energy source required by
Syncrude's operations. Importantly though, natural gas prices historically are closely linked to
crude oil prices and we are far less sensitive to changes in natural gas prices — about one eighth
as sensitive — as we are to changes in crude oil prices. We may hedge our natural gas consump-
tion if and when we see a good opportunity to do so, as we have done in the past.
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RYAN KUBIK
TREASURER

Ryan has more than 10 years of corporate finance
experience. Prior to Canadian Oil Sands, he held
progressively senior finance positions  with
EnCana Corporation, PanCanadian Energy and
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Ryan holds Chartered
Accountant and Chartered Financial Analyst desig-

nations as well as a Bachelor of Commerce Degree.

LAUREEN DUBOIS

CONTROLLER

Laureen has 9 years of accounting experience and
prior to Canadian Oil Sands, she worked in
various accounting positions with EnCana
Corporation and Canadian Pacific Limited.
Laureen holds a Chartered Accountant designa-

tion and a Bachelor of Commerce degree (with

distinction) from the University of Saskatchewan.
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On internalizing the marketing program

Our five-year marketing contract with EnCana will expire at the end of June 2006 and, for a
number of reasons, this is a good time for us to take control of marketing our Syncrude produc-
tion. In many ways it has been a natural evolution: the asset is growing and Canadian Qil Sands
is growing right along with it. Furthermore, the markets are changing — new supply is being
added, new pipelines, new refinery customers and refinery re-configurations, and new feedstock
choices for refiners. It is an ideal time for us to have a direct hand in influencing that landscape.

Establishing our own marketing ability result in more direct control over our marketing
processes, a better understanding of our customers’ needs, and enhancement of our connection
with rapidly changing market dynamics. We expect these insights will assist us in making better
long-term strategic decisions about markets and products, both for our Syncrude product and as

we consider further capital investments in oil sands.

On the challenges of growth over the next 10 years

The oil sands sector is expected to expand tremendously with a number of new projects slated
for the area. Consequently, the demand for fabour to construct these projects is expected to
grow, peaking during 2007 to 2009. We are in a fortunate position to have constructed our
Stage 3 expansion during a lower demand period compared to the near-term forecast.

Nevertheless, we plan to continue to grow, which is not dissimilar to the competition; however we
believe we are in a better position to do so. We have a larger operational workforce and we can draw
on them in a way that a greenfield operation cannot. Syncrude Canada is in a position to attract
people because it offers experience, one of the safest work environments, a close proximity to Fort
McMurray and competitive wages in a non-unionized setting. In addition to some 4,000 operations
s construction workforce peaked at about 6,500 people last year,
so there is a vast pool of people who are familiar with our project and our approach. Finally, our next
growth stage is more modest and flexible.

',

personnel on site, Syncrude Canada

On foreign ownership

We strongly believe the current requirement for mutual fund income trusts to maintain non-resi-
dent ownership below 50 per cent does not recognize the reality of today’s capital markets and
is not practical to manage. Businesses need access to global capital markets to grow, which is in
the best interest of investors and national economies. We believe the Federal Government appre-
ciates this situation, and we are continuing to seek relief from this non-resident ownership
requirement for our Unitholders.
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STAGE 3 EXPANSION

In early 2006, Syncrude finished construction on its Stage 3 project, a massive expansion of its
facilities that began in late 2001. The project is on schedule to come on-line by mid-2006. it is
designed to increase productive capacity to 350,000 barrels per day, or 124,000 barrels per day
net to the Trust, reaffirming Syncrude's position as the largest producer from Canada’s oil sands.
Start-up of many of the new and revamped units began in 2005 and we are pleased with their
early performance.

The most capital intensive component of the project was the expansion of our Mildred Lake
upgrading facility, which featured construction of a third fluid coker and ancillary facilities. Syncrude
has been using fluid coking as its primary technology for upgrading bitumen since operations began
in 1978, and today Syncrude is recognized as the world leader in fluid coking. Bringing on new
bitumen supply to feed the upgrader was also part of Stage 3. A second mining train at Syncrude’s
Aurora North mine, Syncrude’s best quality mine, came into operation in October 2003.

NORTH MINE
Truck and Shovel

@ (two mining trains)

Stage 3's total investment is estimated at $8.4 billion, or $3 billion net to the Trust, as at
February 22, 2006. When we announced the project in early 2001, we estimated the total cost
at $4.1 billion. Execution of the project, however, proved more challenging than we had antic-
ipated, leading to schedule delays and cost escalation. The challenges we encountered
included: a difficulty in sourcing engineering design capacity, which delayed construction of
some of the modules and upset their delivery schedule; lack of Syncrude or owner personnel
managing the project and encouraging more accountability for results; integrating the expan-
sion within an existing, operating faci

ity; and lower productivity than was originally fore-
casted. The lower productivity largely reflects the growing shortage of skilled construction
labour within the Fort McMurray area and the supervisory staff for that labour. This problem
may persist and indeed worsen over the next few years with the growing number of capital
projects expected in the area.

AURORA NORTH
Truck and Shovel

(one mining train)
AURORA NORTH
Truck and Shovel

&3
% (two mining trains)
Q AURORA NORTH
. Q Truck and Shovel
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Oil Sands Process: STAGE 1 & 2 \ % \ RN - 3
1 Mining, ore sizing and slurry preparation (existing) ) AR _ Lol 4
2 Utilit -
3 Primary extraction STAGE 3 _ ) J 5
4 Secondary extraction/froth treatment (2006) 6
5 Primary upgrading (cokers)
6 Hydrogen plants (3 existing, 1 in Stage 3) STAGE 3* v 7
7 Secondary upgrading debottlenecking : s
8 Tank farm (2012)
* Preliminary; requires Syncrude owner approval mﬁww\_mmw*
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MINE QUALITY COMPARISONS

THE QUALITY OF SYNCRUDE'S MINES IS AMONG THE BEST WITH LOW TOTAL VOLUME TO BITUMEN
IN PLACE RATIOS (“TV/BIP"). This ratio measures the total volume of material (dirt, sand and
bitumen) relative to the volume of bitumen in place. Itis determined by the stripping ratio (the
amount of waste that must be removed to access the bitumen deposit) and the ore grade {rich-
ness of the deposit). Syncrude’s Aurora North and South mines — the future of Syncrude’s oper-
ations — have excellent quality characteristics, which should enhance the economics of the

Syncrude project.
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WE BELIEVE THAT THE QUALITY AND LOCATION OF SYNCRUDE'S LEASES PROVIDE THE PROJECT
WITH A DISTINCT ADVANTAGE. All of Syncrude's reported reserves are mineable and are located
in the “sweet spot” of the Athabasca oil sands deposit. Only about 20 per cent of the oil sands
deposits in the Athabasca region of Alberta — outlined in the map above — are close enough to
the surface to be recoverable through mining. The rest of the resource requires in-situ methods
of recovery, the success of which depends on the quality of the reservoir and correspondingly,
recovery rates and costs have been variable. In general, in-situ bitumen recovery rates are in the

40 to 60 per cent range whereas the recoveries for a mining operation are up o 90 per cent.
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As at December 31, 2005 (billions of barrels of S58) Syncrude Canadian Oil Sands’
Proven Reserves * 29 1.0
- Proven & Probable Reserves ? 5.0 1.8
Total Resources (includes proven & probable reserves) 9 3

' The Trust, through its operating subsidiaries, holds a 35.49 per cent interest in the Syncrude project.

? Based on independent reserves evaluation by GLJ Petroleum Consultants effective December 31, 2005 and prepared in accordance
with National Instrument 51-101.
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Syncrude’s safety performance saves it $0.20 in Workers' Compensation Board rates for every
$100 in payroll compared to the industry average.

Safety values, beliefs and attitudes are the key to any manufacturing operation. Great perform-
ance comes from a carefully planned approach and a strong management system. It also comes
from a disciplined approach and the commitment of everyone invoived in the operation. World-
class safety performance not only results in fewer people being hurt less often and less severely,
but also creates the environment for success in many other key dimensions of manufacturing
excellence, namely, maintenance and reliability, quality, and cost performance. In other words,
safety is an industry bellwether that must be successfully accomplished before other industry-
leading performance benchmarks can be achieved.

In terms of the environment, Syncrude is committed to remaining a feader in the profitable,
sustainable development of Athabasca’s oil sands. Syncrude is making enormous strides in the
key areas of land reclamation, water usage and emissions. In 2005, Syncrude reclaimed over
300 hectares of land, bringing total permanent land reclaimed to more than 4,000 hectares.
More than four million trees and shrubs have been planted. Syncrude has reclaimed 22 per cent
of total land disturbed at Mildred Lake and its Aurora North Mine, even though Aurora has been
in production only since 2000.

In the area of water management, Syncrude has reduced its raw water imports from the
Athabasca River by over 25 per cent since 2002 due to various conservation efforts. Syncrude
consumes about half of its water license limit and recycles 80 to 90 per cent of its process water.

Reducing emissions is another key focus area for Syncrude. Through improvements in energy
consumption and processes, greenhouse gas emissions per barrel of production are expected to
decline by 23 per cent over the 1988 to 2010 period. Syncrude also is taking action to reduce
total sulphur dioxide emissions by 60 per cent from current levels, even while crude oil produc-
tion is expected to substantially increase. Furthermore, the move to produce the higher quality
SSP blend will enable downstream refineries to more easily produce cleaner burning, environ-
mentally-friendly petroleum products.

For more information on Syncrude’'s 2005 Environment, Health, Safety and Social Performance,
please see their 2005 Sustainability Report, which will be available from the Trust in June 2006.
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ABOUT OUR BOARD

C.E. (CHUCK) sSHULTZ

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Dauntless Energy Inc.
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Mr. Shultz is the Chair and Chief Executive Officer of Dauntless Energy Inc. (private oil and gas company)
which he formed in 1995. Prior to that, from 1990 to 1995, Mr. Shultz served as President and Chief
Executive Officer of Gulf Canada Resources Limited (oil and gas company). He is a director of Enbridge
Inc. (public pipeline company) and of Newfield Exploration (public oil and gas company). He also is a
director of several private companies, including Glencoe Exploration, Matrix Solutions and Tasman
Exploration, and sits on the Siemens Canada Advisory Board. He has completed the Institute of Corporate
Directors, Corporate Governance program and is accredited as a cel

ed director under that program.

MARCEL R. COUTU

President and Chief Executive Officer, Canadian Oil Sands Limited

Prior to Mr. Coutu becoming the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation in 2001, he
was Chief Financial Officer of Gulf Canada Resources Limited from May 1999 to July 2001. Prior thereto
he was Director, Finance; Vice President, Finance; and, subsequently, Senior Vice President, international
of TransCanada PipeLines Limited. Mr. Coutu has completed the Institute of Corporate Directors,
Corporate Governance program and is a member of the Association of Professional Engineers, Geologists
and Geophysicists.

E. SUSAN EVANS

Corporate Director

Mrs. Evans has served in the oil industry for 25 years, initially in private practice with Bennett Jones LLP
and subsequently with Encor Inc. (public oil and gas company) as Vice President, Law & Corporate Affairs
and Corporate Secretary. Since her retirement in 1993, she has served as a Director of several public
companies including Home Oil Company, Anderson Exploration Inc. and Athabasca Oil Sands Limited.
Mrs. Evans was also a Commissioner of the Alberta Financial Review Commission, Chair of the Audit
Committee for the Province of Alberta, Chair of the Alberta Judicial Compensation Commission and
Director of the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation in Ottawa. She currently serves on the Board of
Directors of Enbridge Inc. (public pipeline company).

THE RIGHT HONOURABLE DONALD F. MAZANKOWSKI

Corporate Director and Business Consultant

Rt. Hon. Donald F. Mazankowski is a recipient of the Order of Canada and a director of a
number of major Canadian corporations, including ATCO, Great West LifeCo, IGM Financial Incarporated,
Power Corporation of Canada, Power Financial Corporation, Shaw Communications Inc., Weyerhauser
Co., and Yellow Pages Iincome Fund. Mr. Mazankowski is also a senior advisor to Gowling, LaFleur
Henderson LLP, Barristers and Solicitors. Mr. Mazankowski enjoyed a distinguished 25-year career as a
Member of Parliament of Canada from 1968 to 1993 and held several senior Cabinet positions including
Deputy Prime Minister from 1986 to 1993, Minister of Finance from 1991 to 1993 and President of the
Privy Council from 1986 to 1991. Mr. Mazankowski was also Minister of Agriculture, Minister responsible
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C.E. (CHUCK) SHULYZ Chairman

MARCEL R. COUTU Director E. SUSAN EVANS Director

The Right Honourable
DONALD F. MAZANKOWSKI

Director

At Canadian Oil Sands, the principal objectives are enhancing Unitholder value and
operating with integrity and honesty. The Board of Directors and management of
Canadian Oil Sands believe that effective governance ultimately improves the
performance of the Trust, and therefore benefits ali Unitholders.
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BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

Canadian Oil Sands Trust is an open-ended investment trust that generates income from its oil
sands investment in the Syncrude Joint Venture (*Syncrude”). The Trust's 35.49 per cent Syncrude
ownership is the largest interest and the only pure public investment vehicle in the joint venture.

Syncrude has been in operation for 27 years and has a proved and probable reserve base that
should support production at an estimated annual capacity of 128 million barrels for over 35
years. Syncrude is operated and administered by Syncrude Canada Ltd. (“Syncrude Canada")
on behalf of eight joint venture owners, two of whom are subsidiaries of the Trust. It operates
the largest oil sands facility in the world and produces crude oil through the mining of oil sands
from ore deposits in the Athabasca region of Northern Alberta. Currently, Syncrude operates in
its Base, North and Aurora North mines, which represent its proved reserves of approximately
on barrels, or 1.0 billion barrels net to the Trust. When combined with a lease that has
not yet been developed, referred to as Aurora South, the estimate of Syncrude’s proved plus
probable reserves is 5.0 billion barrels, 1.8 billion barrels net to the Trust. Syncrude's total
resource base of approximately 9 billion barrels also encompasses other leases.

In addition to operating large oil sands mines, Syncrude operates bitumen extraction plants and
an upgrading complex that processes bitumen into a light sweet crude oil. Syncrude’s trademark
product is a high quality, light, sweet synthetic blend, referred to as “Syncrude Sweet Biend”
("SSB")™, which has an average gravity of about 32° API and less than 0.2 per cent sulphur
content. Each joint venture owner receives its share of SSB production in kind and is responsible
for its own marketing activities. SSB is transported by pipeline to refineries throughout most of
Canada and the United States.

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

While Syncrude Canada is responsible for the daily operations of the joint venture, a
Management Committee and other various committees of Syncrude Canada’s Board of Directors,
staffed by the joint venture owners, oversee and approve significant Syncrude expenditures and
long-term strategies. Officers of Canadian Oil Sands Limited (“COSL"), the Trust's operating
subsidiary which manages its 35.49 per cent interest in Syncrude, participate in the governance
of Syncrude’s operations and expansion plans through key roles on the Syncrude Management
Committee and the Syncrude Canada Board. In particular, officers of COSL chair Syncrude
Canada'’s Board of Directors, the Audit and Pension Committee, the Business Controls Project
Steering Committee and the CEO Committee, and Syncrude's Management Committee.

Canadian Oil Sands is responsible for financing its share of Syncrude’s operations, expansions, and
its own administrative costs. Sources of financing include funds from operations, generated from
the sale of its SSB production and, as required, debt and equity financing. Funds from operations
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is calculated on the Trust's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash from operating activities
before changes in working capital. In management's opinion, funds from operations is a key
performance indicator of the Trust's ability to generate cash to fund capital expenditures. Free cash
flow, which is calculated as funds from operations less capital expenditures and mining reclama-
tion trust contributions, is a key indicator of the Trust's ability to repay debt and pay distributions.

Funds from operations is highly dependent on the net selling price received for our 55B, produc-
tion volumes, and the operating costs of producing SSB. The price we receive for our SSB product
historically has correlated closely to the U.S. West Texas Intermediate (“WTI") benchmark oit
price, and is also impacted by movements in U.S./Canadian foreign exchange rates. Crude oil
prices can be volatile, reflecting world events and supply and demand fundamentals.

Production volumes reflect the capacity of the Syncrude facility and reliability of its operations. A
proved plus probable reserve life estimated at over 35 years, based on a 128-miillion-barrel annual
productive capacity, provides a secure, reliable source of bitumen for the production of S5B. The
process of mining, extracting and upgrading bitumen is a highly technical and complex manufac-
turing operation requiring regular maintenance of the various operating units, which can affect
production volumes, and consequently, revenues. Production volumes have a significant impact on
per barrel operating costs as a large proportion of the costs are fixed and if the plant is not oper-
ating, repair costs typically are also being incurred. One of the most significant production costs is
natural gas; accordingly, operating costs are also sensitive to changes in natural gas prices. On a
per barrel of SSB basis, the current operations consume approximately 0.85 gigajoules for each
barrel of SSB produced.

In addition to funding sustaining capital expenditures, our funds generated from operations are
used fo repay debt, pay distributions to our Unitholders, and to partially finance acquisitions or
our share of Syncrude's expansion projects.
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In each of 2005 and 2004, the financial resufts of Canadian Oil Sands reflect a 35.49 per cent
working interest in the Syncrude Joint Venture. As a result of having acquired from EnCana
Corporation a 10 per cent Syncrude working interest in February 2003 and another 3.75 per cent
working interest in July 2003, our 2003 operating results reflect an average working interest
ownership in Syncrude of 31.92 per cent.

Revenues, after transportation and marketing expense, reflect the realized price received from
sales of our SSB crude oil, net of transportation and marketing costs, and crude oil and foreign
currency hedging gains and losses. in 2005, we realized a net selling price after hedging of $70.91
per barrel, an increase of $27.23 and $32.68 per barrel over the price realized in each of 2004 and
2003, respectively. The increase reflects the substantial rise in WTI, which averaged US$56.70 per
barrel, US$41.47 per barrel, and US$30.99 per barrel in each of 2005, 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively. The Trust benefited from full exposure to this market price in 2005 as management discon-
tinued crude oil hedging. In 2005 the Trust also realized an improved price differential relative to
Canadian dollar WTI on our selling price compared to the previous two years.

The strong 2005 sales price was somewhat offset by a stronger Canadian dollar relative to the U.S.
currency as well as lower production in 2005 relative to 2004. The Canadian dollar strengthened
significantly over the three year period, averaging $0.83, $0.77, and $0.71 against the U.S. dollar
in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. Sales volumes, which differ from our share of Syncrude’s
production volumes primarily as a result of in-transit pipeline volumes, averaged 75,994 barrels per
day in 2005 compared to 84,575 barrels per day in 2004, and 66,793 barrels per day in 2003. An
advanced and extended Coker 8-2 turnaround, sulphur plant pump problems, maintenance
activity on the heavy gas oil hydrotreaters, and the vacuum distillation unit shutdown and
throughput restrictions all served to reduce 2005 production. By comparison, no coker turnaround
was required in 2004 and Syncrude achieved a yearly production record. Syncrude production in
2003 was impacted by two coker turnarounds, with production similar to 2005, however a smaller
Syncrude working interest ownership in 2003 resulted in lower sales volumes relative to 2005.

Overall, the increase in 2005 net revenues resulted in higher net income and funds from opera-
tions compared to 2004 and 2003, both on a total and per Unit basis. Net income in 2005 rose
to $831 million, or $9.04 per Unit, from $509 million, or $5.72 per Unit in 2004 and $310 million,
or $3.89 per Unit in 2003. Funds from operations totalled $1,005 million, or $10.93 per Unit, in
2005 for increases of 75 per cent and 368 per cent from 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The net revenue increase was partially offset by operating costs, which rose to $731 million in
2005 from $601 million and $515 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively, mainly as a result of
higher natural gas prices. Non-production costs, primarily related to Stage 3 commissioning activ-
ities, and interest expense from Stage 3 financing also increased in 2005 relative to the previous
two years. Depreciation, depletion, and accretion expense (“DD&A™) rose in 2005, reflecting
higher estimated future development costs and an accretion expense adjustment related to the
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initial adoption of the asset retirement obligation standard at January 1, 2004. Non-cash foreign
exchange gains on U.S. dollar denominated debt were lower in 2005 as the Canadian dollar
strengthened more in 2004 and 2003, resulting in larger gains in each of those years. Finally, a
small future income tax expense was recorded in 2005 compared to the recoveries in each of
2004 and 2003.

Total assets continued to increase significantly in 2005 compared to 2004 as Stage 3 construction
advanced. Our share of Syncrude's capital expenditures, largely related to the Stage 3 capital
program, increased capital assets in 2005 by approximately $800 million and by $942 million in
2004. Accounts receivable rose as at December 31, 2005 due to higher SSB sales prices compared
to December 31, 2004. As well, higher 2005 year-end inventory levels, which reflect linefill
purchases and higher consumables inventory as the Syncrude operation expands, increased total
g the additional
13.75 per cent working interest, which increased capital assets by approximately $1.9 billion.

assets in 2005. Total assests grew substantially in 2003 as a result of acq

Total other long-term financial liabilities rose substantially at the end of 2005 compared to the
2004 and 2003 year-ends, mainly due to an increase in the asset retirement obligation (*ARO")
in 2005. The Trust and each of the other Syncrude owners are liable for their share of ongoing
environmental obligations for the uitimate reclamation of the Syncrude Joint Venture. The ARO
represents the present value estimate of Canadian Oil Sands' share of these costs, which as at
December 31, 2005 increased to $148 million from $44 million at December 31, 2004.

Syncrude’s undiscounted estimate of the total cash flows required to settle the Trust's share of the
obligation rose to $525 million at December 31, 2005 from $275 million at December 31, 2004.
This increase is mainly the result of revised assumptions regarding the volume of reclamation mate-
rial required and the costs associated with storing and handling the additional material. Cost esca-
lation associated with revegetation, landforming, and additional regional drainage requirements
also contributed significantly to the estimate increase. Discounting the incremental cash flows at a
5.28 per cent credit adjusted risk free rate resulted in a $66 million increase to the ARO. In addi-
tion, adjustments of $27 million and $10 million, respectively, were recorded to correct accretion
expense on the ARO over the period January 1, 1996 to December 31, 2005 and correct prop-
erty, plant, and equipment balances on the January 1, 2004 adoption of the new CICA standard.
While the majority of these adjustments relate to periods prior to the January 1, 2004 adoption of
the new ARO accounting standard, the entire amount was reflected in 2005 as it is not significant.

Net debt at December 31, 2005 fell slightly from December 31, 2004 as funds from operations
in 2005 were more than sufficient to cover capital expenditures and distributions, and a stronger
Canadian dollar reduced the carrying value of our U.S. dollar denominated long-term debt. The
higher 2005 and 2004 year-end net debt levels compared to 2003 reflect the additional debt
issued to fund our share of Syncrude's capital expenditure program.




(%3 SISATYNY ANY NOISSNDSIG LINIWIDYNVYIW

Y9 €€L Sl LLL 9L Jun Jad suonesado wouy spung
8'6/S 9iTi v'LGL 0'gql gLyl suonesado woly spun4
LG ve'L 20T zZLL 8L'L paIniq ‘Hun Jad swodur 39N
[42] veEl 90'C [4" 8Lt Jiseg ‘pun 4ad swooul N
7606 Leel /1’681 0’86 v eoL 2Wodul 12N
0'TGE'L V' EEE £'65€ 8'0v€ G'8LE asuadxa Gunasew pue uolepodsurI} JB3E ‘SENUBARY
[enuuy 18] 0 0 LO

¥00Z
£6°01 98'C 96'¢ 60'E 20l Jun +ad suoeiado woiy spun4
8'v00'L (60 4°T4 0'v9ot 8°€8¢C 0't6 suoljesado wouy spung
L0'6 /81 4% 74 LET 790 pa1njia ‘wun Jad swodul 9N
v0'6 88’1 €LY 8€¢C 90 J1seqg ‘pun Jad awodul J1aN
0'L€8 9Ll 08¢ 9'8LT 984 SWOdUI 19N
6'996'L £6LG €19 zeer L EVE asuadxa Juiesiew pue uoieHOdsURL YR 'SINUIASY
[enuuy vO €0 4} LO

S00Z (syunowe Jun Jad 3dedxs ‘suoiu §)

JO SI3SN N3G IAA "UOISIDIP JUSWISIAUL S I0ISIAUL UB UO dudnju Juedyudis e aaey o} payadxa
2q Ajqeuoseal pjnom ey} SaUBIPISANS S} PUB ISNI] Sy} 4O SsauIsng 3y} 0} Sune[as LOIFRLIONN
Aue 99 0} UOIFEWLIOUI [BUSIEW SIBPISUOD SPUBS IO UBIPBUERD) "YRAW SIL} JO SUOND3S Suimo|joy
3y} ul Jayuny paurejdxa aie HOOT PUB GOOZ USIMIIQ SHNS3I. [BIDUBUY Ul SSOUBLEBA |RLISYRN

Japenb $00z awes ayl 0} aaiejal siseq Jun Jad pue [e101 e y1oq uo suoneriado wouy spuny pue
JWIODUI 13U J19MO| PIMOYS ‘UMOPINYS 12300 3y} 40 1edwt 3yl Yim 'G00¢ 40 Japenb isiy oyt Aluo
"$00Z 03 paredwod GOz Ul siseq Hun Jad pue {10} B U0 SUORERISAO WY SPUNY PUB SWOdUI }8U
Joydiy ur Bugynsas ‘siapenb 2aiyl 15| SY1 O YOBI UI S)SOD PISBIIDUl JSH0 UBL] SI0W SANUIASI
19U Jaydiy ayy JanamoH ‘pouad eyl wy paprodas juswisnipe ue Juidsyar ooz o Japenb
yunoy 243 Ut 1aySiy sem asuadxa uo13a1ddB Iym ‘spun uoisuedxa ¢ afels voissituwod o3 ueSaq
apnIduAs se ‘siouenb asay3 ise| ayy ul Apenonued ‘pooz 03 pasedwod GOOT 40 JauEND Yoed u)
13481y a19m S350d uondNPoId-uoN ‘siapenb payy pue 151y BY3 U1 3500 punoreuiny pue sadud sed
jeanyeu Jaydiy Sudayas "0z 01 pasedwod GOz 40 Jepenb yoes ul 1aydiy asom 53500 FuipessdQO

00z ui Aep uad sjpaueq 000'gs Ajrewixoidde o3 paredwod ‘gooz ut
Aep Jad sjaueq 000 7L ¢ Ajprewixoidde padesaae uonpnpoid apniduAs “piodas uononpoid Apeak e
195 IPNIDUAS PUB $OOT Ul SPUNOIBUINY 13500 OU 249M 319y} 'uosuedwod Ag "uoidnposd Funpal
Ajuediiugis ‘punoseusny 12303 pauue|d B O UOISUIIXS PUR JUSLIIIUBAPR 3} padioy siiedal

SLINSTY AYILAVNO 40 AIVYININNS

jueid uagoipAy pauuejdun se sagnoyp Suigelado Aq pazuadeieyd sem GOOZ JO sopenb 1say
3yl +00¢ ul spouad awes sy} 03 pasedwod GoOZ 40 siauenb payy pue puodas ayy ul uoronpoad
19MO] pUB IR|IOp 'S’ 9y} 0} aAnejal sejjop ueipeur) 1auons e Aq payedmiw Ajeiped alem
spedwi 9s8y] H00z 0} pasedwiod GOOZ Ul |LAA JB|JOP UBIPEUED O} S[BIUBISHIP panosduw pue
2oud Suyjas pagpayun ‘taydiy ayj 3oapas asuadxa Supadpew pue uonepodsues) Jaye sanuaal
pasealdu) H00Z 0} 2AEA1 sanseaw [epueuly Suiaoidw pamoys GOOZ 40 siaprenb aaiy) s8] ay L

‘SUOIIPUOD tayream Aq paousnyul AQuedijusis s AJjeuosess siyj Ing ‘sasi puewap Sunesy
se syjuow Jajuim ul 1aydiy AjedidAy ase saoud sed [eanjen ‘spuas) 10 susened Ayjeuoseas ajqe
-4 Apidsip jou op os[e sjpAa] uoanpoid a10ja1ay) 1IN0 op sadeno pauueidun pue ‘pPajNPaLRSs
Aj91e4N208 9q SAeMmiE J0UUED SUMOPINYS HUN 4O Fuiun) 10BXa ay] JaAdMOH Uapenb puodas 10 1541
243 4o syuow Fuuds sy Ul 1Nd20 0} PaNPaYds AjjedidA} ale SBIHIAIDE PUNOIBLLNG PUB SDUBUSJUIBYY
‘Apeuosess juedyudis pakeidsip jou sey pue Anuenb pue ipasd 03 ynoyip st uonenba
siy1 Jo rduw ayy ‘seoud Juyjas syoaye (10 apnid 1oy aduefeq puetuap/Addns ayi ajiyaa "uogonpoud
03 a|geuen Aysy ase s3s00 Juiesado jaueq sad ‘yons se pue ‘paxy e s3s02 Sunesado jo uon
-Jodoud o3| v .mm,u:a sed |eanyeu pue ‘s3s00 Gunyesado pun ‘uonodnpoud 'saoud jlo apnuo ul suoeny
-ony Ag Ajurews pasned ase suoflesado Wwoly Spuny pue ‘awiodul 39U ‘SaNUIA3S U) SaoueLeA AsenD

SLINSIY AT¥ILEVNO 40 AYYIWWNS



our financial results consider critical information to be that which explains the Trust's funds from
operations and free cash flow, which is available for distribution to Unitholders, for reinvestment
in growth through expansions or acquisitions, or for repayment of debt. We endeavour to iden-
tify and provide in our MD&A, financial statements, and guidance documents on a timely basis
and in an understandable form, the factors that impact our funds from operations and free cash
flow, namely: crude oil prices, production volumes, our SSB sales price relative to WTI prices,
hedging impacts, costs of operations, financing costs, capital and other relevant costs.

REVIEW OF CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Canadian Oil Sands reported record results in 2005, outperforming prior year's net income and
funds from operations on both a total and per Unit basis. Net income in 2005 rose to $831
million, or $9.04 per Unit, from $509 million, or $5.72 per Unit, in 2004. Funds from operations
increased 75 per cent to $1,005 million, or $10.93 per Unit, from $576 million, or $6.47 per Unit
in 2005 and 2004, respectively. The improved financial results reflect a higher, fully unhedged
2005 realized SSB selling price compared to 2004, partially mitigated by a 10 per cent decrease
in sales volumes. Higher net revenues in 2005 were also partially offset by increases in operating
costs, non-production costs, and DD&A compared to 2004 as well as lower foreign exchange

gains and future income tax recoveries than 2004, as shown in the table below. Funds from oper-
ations were impacted by the same factors, excluding DD&A, unrealized foreign exchange gains,
and future income taxes as they are non-cash items.

($ per bbl) 2005 2004 $ Change
Average realized selling price, after hedging 70.91 43.68 27.23
Operating costs (26.34) (19.40) (6.94)
Crown ﬂov\m_:mm 071 (0.58) (0.13)
Netback 43.86 23.70 20.16
Non-production cost (3.06) (1.55) (1.51)
Administration and insurance (0.73) (0.58) (0.15)
Interest, net (3.74) (3.08) (0.66)
Depletion, depreciation and accretion (7.13) (5.55) (1.58)
Foreign exchange gain 1.05 2.57 (1.52)
Current and future income tax (0.29) 0.94 (1.23)
(13.90) (7.25) (6.65)

Net income per barrel 29.96 16.45 13.51
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Net income before unrealized foreign exchange (gains) losses and future income tax expense
(recoveries), which management believes is a better measure of operational performance than
net income, was $796 million, or $8.66 per Unit in 2005, an improvement of $403 million, or
$4.39 per Unit compared to the prior year. The table below reconciles this measure to net income.

($ millions) 2005 2004 $ Change
Net income per GAAP 831.0 509.2 321.8
Deduct:
Unrealized foreign exchange gains
on long-term debt (35.6) (89.2) 53.6
Future income tax expense (recovery) 0.4 (27.3) 27.7

Net income before unrealized foreign
exchange and future income taxes 795.8 392.7 403.1

The net income before unrealized foreign exchange and future income taxes reflected in the
previous table is a measurement that is not defined by Canadian generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples (“GAAP"). The Trust also reports funds from operations, free cash flow, and Unitholder distri-
butions on both a total and per Unit basis, which are measures that do not have any standardized
meaning under Canadian GAAP. Funds from operations are calculated on the Trust's consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash from operating activities before changes in working capital. Free
cash flow is calculated as funds from operations less capital expenditures and reclamation trust
contributions in the period. In management’s opinion, funds from operations is a key performance
indicator of the Trust's ability to generate cash to fund capital expenditures, while free cash flow is
a key indicator of the Trust's ability to repay debt and pay distributions. The net income before
foreign exchange and future income taxes in the previous table and the Trust's funds from opera-
tions may not be directly comparable to similar measures presented by other companies or trusts.
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REALIZED PRICE COMPARED TO CANADIAN DOLLAR WTI

coN $
PER BBL
80 Il AVERAGE WT) PRICE
[JcANADIAN OIL SANDS' AVERAGE REALIZED
PRICE AT SYNCRUDE PLANT GATE
B — (BEFORE HEDGING & AFTER TRANSPORTATION
70 AND MARKETING EXPENSE)

60

50

40

30
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Our 2005 revenues fully reflected the higher 2005 crude oil price environment relative to 2004 as
we had no crude oil price hedges in place. In contrast, 2004 revenues were reduced by $274 million,
or $8.86 per barrel, as a result of crude oil hedging losses. Overall, total hedging activities,
including currency hedges, contributed $23 million, or $0.83 per barrel to our revenues and funds
from operations in 2005, compared to a crude oil and currency hedge reduction in revenues and
funds from operations of $261 million, or $8.44 per barrel in 2004. Our crude oil and foreign
currency hedging activity is more fully discussed in the Risk Management section of this MD&A.

7.09 19.25

16.69
14.94 14 61 15.16

4.43 424
354

238

o1 02 03 04 05 o1 02 03 04 05

PURCHASED ENERGY PRODUCTION COSTS
COSTS BEFORE ($ PER BBL)
HEDGING ($ rer 88L)
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Operating costs

Operating costs increased to $731 million, or $26.34 per barrel in 2005, compared to $601 million,
or $19.40 per barrel in 2004. The 2005 increase resulted mainly from higher purchased energy
costs, turnaround costs and Syncrude incentive compensation costs.

The foilowing table breaks down unit operating costs into its major components and shows
bitumen costs on both a per barrel of bitumen and per barrel of SSB produced basis. This allows
investors to better compare Syncrude’s unit costs to other oil sands producers. As there are no
definitions of what constitutes operating costs, different cost accounting and capitalization treat-
ments are used among producers.

2005 2005 2004 2004
$ per bbl $ per bbi $ per bbl $ per bbl
Bitumen SSB Bitumen SSB
Bitumen Costs
Overburden removal 1.82 1.78
Bitumen production 7.39 6.12
Purchased energy * 3.18 1.89
12.39 14.95 9.79 11.58
Upgrading Costs 2
Bitumen processing and upgrading 3.93 3.27
Turnaround and catalysts 2.53 0.71
Purchased energy * 3.25 2.00
9.71 5.98
Other and research 1.93 1.05
Change in treated and untreated inventory (0.46) 0.05
Syncrude reported operating costs 26.13 18.66
Canadian Qil Sands adjustments * 0.21 0.74
Total operating costs 26.34 19.40
Syncrude production volumes 258 214 282 238

(thousands of barrels per day)

' Bitumen costs relate to the removal of overburden, oil sands mining, bitumen extraction and tailings dyke construction and disposal
costs. The costs are expressed on a per barre of bitumen production basis and converted to a per barrel of SSB based on the yield
of SSB from the processing and upgrading of bitumen. All overburden stripping costs are expensed in the period incurred.

* Upgrading costs include the production and ongoing maintenance costs associated with processing and upgrading of bitumen to
SSB. It also includes the costs of major refining equipment turnarounds and catalyst replacement, which are expensed.

* Natural gas costs averaged $8.40 per GJ and $6.28 per GJ in 2005 and 2004, respectively.

* Canadian Oil Sands" adjustments mainly pertain to Syncrude-related pension costs, property insurance costs, site restoration costs,
as well as the inventory impact of moving from production to sales as Syncrude reports per barrel costs based on production volumes
and we report based on sales volumes.
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Crown royalties expense

Crown royalties were slightly higher in 2005 than 2004 mostly as a result of the increase in
gross revenues. Crown royalties expense continued to reflect the one per cent of gross
revenue royalty rate in each of 2005 and 2004. Under Alberta's generic Qil Sand Royalty,
the Crown royalty is calculated as the greater of one per cent of plant gate revenue before
hedging or 25 per cent of plant gate revenue before hedging, less Syncrude operating, non-
production and capital costs. As Syncrude nears the end of its Stage 3 expansion and capital
expenditures are reduced, we expect to begin incurring royalties at the higher 25 per cent
rate early in 2006.
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Administration

Administration expense rose by $4 million in 2005 to $12 million compared to 2004, primarily
reflecting increased salaries and benefits resulting from higher short-term incentive compensation
and additional employees at Canadian Oil Sands.

36 CANADIAN OIL SANDS TRUST 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

Interest expense, net

($ millions) 2005 2004 $ Change % Change
Interest expense 106.5 98.9 7.6 8
Interest income and other (2.7) (3.6) 0.9 (25)
Interest expense, net 103.8 95.3 8.5 9

Net interest expense increased by $9 million to $104 million in 2005 compared to 2004, primarily
reflecting higher average debt levels as a result of spending on our Stage 3 expansion program.

Depreciation, depletion and accretion expense

($ millions) 2005 2004 $ Change % Change
Depreciation and depletion 168.5 170.3 (1.8) n
Accretion expense 29.2 1.6 276 1,725

197.7 171.9 258 15

We depreciate and deplete our production assets and future development costs on a unit-of-
production basis, based on proved plus probable reserves as National instrument 51-101
provides that the total of proved plus probable reserves is the most likely estimate of an entity's
reserve base.

Excluding accretion expense, depreciation and depletion (“D&D") expense decreased $2 million
in 2005 compared to 2004. Production in 2005 was approximately three million barrels lower
than 2004, more than offsetting the rise in the effective D&D rate to $6.08 per barrel in 2005
from $5.50 per barrel in 2004. The higher 2005 D&D rate reflects estimates of the Trust's future
development costs as provided for in the Trust’s December 31, 2004 independent reserves report.

Subsequent to December 31, 2005 Canadian Oil Sands' 2005 reserve report was completed by
independent reserve evaluators. The reserve report resulted in no significant revisions in our
reserve base with proved plus probable reserves totalling 1.8 billion barrels. We estimate the 2006
D&D rate will rise to approximately $7.25 per barrel, or approximately $257 million in D&D
expense, based on our 2006 production outlook of 35.5 m

n barrels net to the Trust. Increased
costs on the Stage 3 expansion, higher estimated costs for the Syncrude emission reduction
project, and higher levels of sustaining capital are the main factors contributing to the D&D rate
increase. The Trust's December 31, 2005 independent reserves report is outlined in the
Trust’s Annual Information Form and can be found at www.sedar.com, or on our web site at
Www.cos-trust.com.
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As circumstances change and new information becomes available, the reserves data could
change. After having independent reserve reports completed for years 2000, 2003, 2004,
and 2005 our proved reserves overall have not changed significantly in the last five years,
with the exception of adding a pro rata increase to our reserve base related to the additional
13.75 per cent working interest acquisition in 2003. However, future actual results could
vary greatly from our estimates, which could cause material changes in our unit-of-produc-
tion DD&A rates and asset impairment tests, all of which use the reserves and/or future net
cash flows in the respective calculations. If proved plus probable reserves were 10 per cent
lower, DD&A expense would have been approximately $19 million higher in 2005. Our
impairment test is based on proved reserves, and had such reserves been 10 per cent lower,
there still would not have been any impairment as of December 31, 2005.

Canadian Oil Sands records its asset retirement obligation and corresponding asset based on
the estimated discounted fair value of its 35.49 per cent share of Syncrude’s future cash flows
that will be required for reclamation of each of Syncrude’s mine sites. In determining the fair
value, Canadian Qil Sands must estimate the amount of the future cash payments, the timing
of when those payments will be required, and then apply an appropriate credit-adjusted risk
free rate. Given the long reserve fife of Syncrude’s leases, the reclamation expenditures will be
made over approximately the next 60 years, and it is difficult to estimate the timing and
amount of the reclamation payments that will be required as they will occur far into the future.

Any changes in the anticipated timing or the amount of the payments subsequent to the
initial obligation being recorded results in a change to our asset retirement obligation and
corresponding asset. Such changes will impact the accretion of the obligation and the
depreciation of the asset and will correspondingly impact net income. The asset retirement
obligation is more fully described in Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Canadian Oil Sands accrues its obligations for Syncrude Canada’s post-employment bene-
fits utilizing actuarial and other assumptions to estimate the projected benefit obligation,
the return on plan assets, and the expense accrual related to the current period. The basic
assumptions utilized are outlined in Note 5(a) to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, actuarial gains and losses are deferred and amortized into income over the
expected average remaining service lives of employees, which was estimated to be
13 years. Actual costs related to Syncrude Canada’s employee benefit plans could vary
greatly from the amounts accrued for the pension obligation and the plan assets. If
Canadian Oil Sands had recognized the actuarial losses immediately into income, pension
and other post-employment expense would have increased from $28 million to approxi-
mately $71 million in 2005. In addition, the accrued benefit liability on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet would have increased from $99 million to $250 million. Canadian Oil Sands
does not have a pension plan for its own employees. Therefore, all of the employee future
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benefits liabilities and expenditures relate to its working interest share of Syncrude Canada's
pension benefit plan and post-employment plan obligations.

d

=

Canadian Oil Sands must estimate its future tax liability at the end of each reporting period
based on estimates of temporary differences, when those temporary differences are
expecled to reverse, and the tax rates at which they will reverse. However, actual tax rates
at which the temporary differences will reverse and the amount of the temporary differ-
ences may differ from our estimates, which may result in material changes in our future
income tax liability and future income tax expense or recovery. While these changes may
impact net income, we do not believe there will be any impact on the future cash taxes
Canadian Oil Sands will pay.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

There were no significant changes to the Trust’s accounting policies during the 2005 calendar
year.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

We do not anticipate any significant changes to our accounting policies in 2006 as a result of new
accounting pronouncements which have been issued. While there have been changes proposed
by the Accounting Standards Board (the “AcSB") to the calculations of diluted net income per
Unit for the 2006 year, as at February 22, 2006, the amendments have not been finalized. We
do not expect there ta be any material impact on our diluted net income per Unit results if the
changes do come into effect as the Trust has few options outstanding relative to its total Units.

On December 9, 2004 the CICA issued EIC-150 “Determi ing Whether an Arrangement
Contains a Lease", which was effective for the Trust as of January 1, 2005 for new contracts,
arrangements, or amendments to existing contracts entered into after that date. Recording of
long-term pipeline transportation contracts had the most significant potential to change under
EIC-150, but after evaluation, the contracts were not deemed to be capital leases. As a result,
there were no changes to the Trust's accounting.

On April 1, 2005 the AcSB issued new CICA Handbook Sections 1530 Comprehensive Income,
3855 Financial Instruments — Recognition and Measurement and Section 3865 Hedges. The
adoption date for said changes will be January 1, 2007 for Canadian Oil Sands. The standards
prescribe the timing and measurement that an entity must utilize to recognize a financial instru-
ment in the financial statements. Canadian Oil Sands is in the process of assessing the financial
and presentation impact of these changes but does not anticipate any significant changes.
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tions, combined with draws on our operating credit facilities, were used to fund an increase in
working capital requirements, primarily resulting from higher SSB sales prices.
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A significant component of our financing plan for the Stage 3 Syncrude expansion is the DRIP as
it enables the Trust to raise new equity at a relatively low cost with no dilution to Unitholders, given
their ability to participate, and it supports the Trust’s ability to maintain distribution levels during
the expansion period. DRIP participation increased to 43 per cent in 2005 from approximately 33
per cent in the prior year, and generated about $99 million in new equity through the issuance of
1.1 million Units, compared with approximately $60 million and 1.3 million Units in 2004. Since
inception of the DRIP in 2002, the issuance of 4.6 million Units has generated $239 million.

The Trust's DRIP helps to accelerate debt reduction and the Trust currently intends to maintain
the DRIP in its present form until at least the target net debt level is achieved. The DRIP has been
an important component in the Trust's financing plan for the Stage 3 expansion and may play a
role in the Trust's future financing plans.

The Trust's financing strategy remains unchanged with a clear focus on debt reduction towards a net
debt target of about $1.2 billion. Based on our 2006 outlook, disclosed in detail fater in this report,
we anticipate that the net debt target will be reached by the end of 2006. The Stage 3 project is
nearing completion, and while the overall cost continues to trend higher, we believe the magnitude
of potential cost increases has narrowed substantially. Additional sales from Stage 3 production are
expected in mid-2006 and should result in significant free cash flow to support our finance plan.
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Capital expenditures

In 2005, capital expenditures totalled $800 million compared to $942 million in 2004. Stage 3
continued to comprise the majority of expenditures, amounting to abaut 70 per cent and 75 per
cent of the 2005 and 2004 totals, respectively. As at December 31, 2005, construction on the
Upgrader Expansion was more than 98 per cent complete and the Syncrude Joint Venture had
expended approximately $8.1 billion of the total $8.4 billion estimated Stage 3 project cost,
which includes $0.7 billion for the Aurora 2 Mining Train completed in late 2003. Net to Canadian
Oil Sands, the total cost for Stage 3 is equivalent to approximately $3.0 billion, with $2.9 billion
expended to the end of 2005.

The Trust also incurred $142 million of capital expenditures in 2005 related to the South West
Quadrant Replacement (“SWQR") project compared to approximately $133 million in 2004. The
SWQR is designed to replace bitumen production from the dragline and bucket-wheel operations
in the southwest quadrant of the Base Mine, which is expected to be exhausted in mid-2006. The
SWQR was largely completed in December 2005.

Syncrude has increased its estimate for the Syncrude emissions reduction project to $772 million,
or approximately $274 million net to the Trust. The project was originally announced on May 21,
2003 at a projected cost of $400 million gross to Syncrude. That estimate was made prior to the
completion of detailed technology feasibility and engineering studies. Those studies are now
complete and project scope is fixed. The new estimate includes the latest engineering and
construction information, including contingencies and escalation.

The emissions reduction project is expected to significantly reduce total sulphur dioxide emissions
as well as other emissions, such as particulate matter and metals. It will involve retrofitting sulphur
reduction technology into the operation of Syncrude's two existing cokers. Procurement and
construction expenditures are scheduled to occur post 2005 following completion of the Stage 3
expansion and extend into 2009 to tie-in with equipment turnaround schedules. The new coker
that is part of the Stage 3 Upgrader Expansion already includes a sulphur dioxide reduction unit.
These measures are expected to reduce sulphur dioxide emissions by up to 60 per cent from
today's approved levels of 250 tonnes per day. The resulting sulphur dioxide emissions are also
expected to fall below new maximum emission levels that will take effect following the comple-
tion of the Syncrude emissions reduction program.

Our annual capital expenditure forecast for 2006 is $303 million, which is approximately $497 million
lower than the annual capital expenditures incurred in 2005. The decrease reflects the lower
capital expenditures of the Stage 3 project and completion of the SWQR. Our capital expendi-
ture forecast is discussed more fully in the Outlook section of this MD&A. In addition to our other
contractual obligations, the table below outlines the purchase commitments we have in place
related to Stage 3, the Syncrude emission reduction program, and other projects.
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Commodity price risk

Crude oil price risk

We employed crude oil hedging as a risk mitigation strategy for our Stage 3 financing plan in
2004 and prior years. Our cash flows are impacted by changes in both the U.S. dollar denomi-
nated crude oil prices and U.S./Canadian foreign exchange rates. As a result, from time to time
management has hedged both elements to reduce revenue and cash flow volatility to the Trust.
These elements can be hedged separately with U.S. dollar WTI crude oil hedges and foreign
currency hedges, which are outlined in the Foreign Currency Risk section of the Risk
Management discussions in this MD&A, or by combining both elements with Canadian dollar oil
price hedging transactions. We have used both strategies.

As Canadian Qil Sands did not have any 2005 crude oil price hedges, revenues were not impacted
by crude oil hedging gains or losses and benefited fully from strong WTI prices. In comparison,
crude oil hedging losses of $274 million, or $8.86 per barrel, were incurred in 2004. We had
hedged 39,000 barrels per day, or approximately 43 per cent of our production in 2004 to assist
in mitigating our financing risk associated with Stage 3 funding. The Trust's financing risk for the
Stage 3 expansion has been reduced with the expansion nearing completion, the Trust's strong
balance sheet, and continuing strength in energy prices. Therefore, as at February 22, 2006 and
based on current expectations, the Trust remains unhedged on its crude oil price exposure. The
Trust may hedge its crude oil production in the future depending on the business environment
and our growth opportunities.

Effective January 1, 2004, Canadian Oil Sands adopted AcG-13 related to hedging relationships.
Under the new guideline, our crude oil hedge positions qualified for hedge accounting and there-
fore there was no impact on our financial results for these positions as a result of the new guideline.

In the past few years there have been increases to the supply of synthetic crude oil from various
other oil sands projects, and several additional projects are being contemplated. If and when these
other projects are completed, there will be a significant increase in the supply of synthetic crude oil
in the market. There is no guarantee there will be sufficient demand to absorb the increased supply
without eroding the selling price, which could result in a deterioration of the price differential that
Canadian Oil Sands may realize compared to benchmark prices such as WTI. Also, prices may
decline to such an extent that our share of Syncrude’s production is no longer economically viable.
In response to growing volumes of synthetic crude oil and Syncrude's own expanding volumes
following the Stage 3 completion, we likely will have to expand our markets to achieve the premium
price we expect for our quality product. When Stage 3 is complete, a new aromatic saturation unit
will be used to further upgrade our entire production into SSP. We expect this higher quality blend
to be more attractive to refineries, which should enhance our price per barrel relative to SSB.
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Also, the use of light sweet synthetics as a blend stock for bitumen to produce "synbit” is seen
as a potential growing new market for SSB. Currently, heavy crude oil producers are shipping
bitumen to U.S. refineries by adding condensate, which is expensive and in limited supply. Synbit,
which is similar to medium sour crude, has developed as an alternative.

Natural gas price risk

Purchased natural gas is a significant component of the bitumen production and upgrading
processes. Increases in natural gas prices therefore introduce the risk of significantly higher oper-
ating costs. To the extent crude oil prices and natural gas prices move together on a stable energy
equivalent basis, natural gas price risk is mitigated as the Trust is significantly more levered to oil
price increases. The main risk involves a de-linking of crude oil and natural gas price movements,
such that gas prices are significantly higher than oil on an energy equivalent basis. The de-linking
of crude oil and natural gas prices does occur, but historically these situations tend to be relatively
short-term. The Trust has previously used natural gas hedge positions to mitigate this risk and will
continue to assess the strategy as a means to manage operating cost increases. No natural gas
hedges were utilized in 2005 or 2004, and as at February 22, 2006 we have no natural gas
hedges in place.

Foreign currency risk

Our results are affected by fluctuations in the U.S./Canadian currency exchange rates as we
generate revenue from oil sales based on a U.S. dollar WTI benchmark price. This revenue expo-
sure is partially offset by interest costs in U.S. dollars on our U.S.-denominated debt, and our
share of Syncrude's U.S. dollar vendor payments. When our U.S. Senior Notes mature, we will
have exposure to U.S. exchange rates on the repayment of the notes. We have reduced our
currency exchange risk by entering into contracts that fix our exchange rate in future years. At
the present time we do not intend to increase our currency hedge positions. The details of our
foreign currency contracts are more fully described in Note 15(a) of the consolidated financial
statements. The existing positions are as follows:

2006 2007
U.S. dollars hedged ($ millions) $60.0 $20.0
Average U.S. dollar exchange rate $0.669 $0.692

Canadian Oil Sands' revenues in 2005 include foreign currency hedging gains of $23 miilion, or
$0.83 per barrel, compared to gains of $13 million, or $0.42 per barrel in 2004. The Canadian
dollar averaged $0.83 and $0.77 U.S./Cdn in 2005 and 2004, respectively. There was no impact
to our 2004 results due to adopting AcG-13 since our foreign currency hedges continue to qualify

as hedges under the new guidelines.
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an event causing a loss or interruption of production, such as a fire or explosion at the operating
facilities. The BI insurance is subject to a 60 day self-retention period. Course-of-construction and
start-up delay insurance coverage of approximately $210 million and $160 million, respectively,
also have been purchased as part of the Stage 3 expansion.

We also face risks associated with other oil sands producers such as competition for skilled labour,
limited resources in the Fort McMurray area where Syncrude and the other producers operate, or
higher costs for products and services to operate Syncrude’s facilities as a result of increased
demand. In addition to paying its employees and contract staff competitive industry compensa-
tion, Syncrude Canada has a reputation as an innovative and socially responsible company
committed to the environment and dedicated to its employees, the Aboriginal Peoples, and the
communities of northern Alberta. We believe these qualities assist in retaining skilled labour.
Syncrude is also considering an employee retention program which, if successful, will result in
cash payments, but may provide savings associated with an experienced workforce. To deal with
the increased demands on the infrastructure, such as housing, Syncrude cooperates, where they
are able to, with other industry participants to share resources, such as camps.

Worldwide demand for commodities has increased activity in the mining sector, introducing a risk
of constrained supplies for key operating components. The strong mining sector is currently
resulting in a shortage of off-road tires. While the tire shortage has been identified as a produc-
tion and cost risk for 2006 and 2007, Syncrude has implemented various measures aimed at
reducing tire damage and increasing tire life in order to more effi iently manage their supply.
While we do not currently expect the shortage to impact our current 2006 production outlook,
the ability to achieve higher levels of production may be limited by tire supply constraints.

Syncrude joint venture ownership

The Syncrude Project is a joint venture that is currently owned by eight participants, two of whom
are subsidiaries of Canadian Oil Sands. Each Syncrude participant's working interest is equal to its
pro rata interest in the Syncrude Project. Major capital decisions for new projects require unanimity
of the owners, while other matters require only the approval of a majority and three owners.

Historically, the Trust's subsidiaries and the other joint venture owners have sought consensus of all
the owners on all matters. There can be no assurance that unanimous agreement will be reached
on major capital programs and that the staged expansion will be executed as currently planned.

Pipeline transportation and delivery infrastructure

All of our Syncrude production is transported to Edmonton, Alberta through the Athabasca Qil
Sands Pipeline Limited (“AOSPL") system. Disruptions in service on this system could adversely
affect our crude oil sales and cash flows. The AOSPL system feeds into various other crude oil
pipelines that are used to deliver our SSB product to refinery customers throughout Canada and
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the United States. Interruptions in the availability of these pipeline systems may limit the ability
to deliver production volumes and could adversely impact sales volumes or the prices received for
our product. These interruptions may be caused by the inability of the pipeline to operate, or they
can be related to capacity constraints if the supply of feedstock into the system exceeds the infra-
structure capacity. While we believe long-term take-away capacity will exceed production growth
for synthetic supply out of the Athabasca region, there can be no certainty that investments will
be made to provide this capacity. There is also no certainty that short-term operational constraints
will not arise as capacity is believed to be adequate, but tight. In addition, planned or unplanned
shutdowns of our refinery customers may limit our ability to deliver our SSB crude oil, with a
negative implication on sales and cash flow.

We manage exposure to these risks by allocating deliveries to multiple customers via multiple
pipelines, but pipeline choices are limited. We also maintain knowledge of the infrastructure oper-
ational issues and expansion proposals through industry organizations in order to assess and
respond to delivery risks.

Environmental risk

We are exposed to the risk of the Syncrude operations’ impact on the environment. Mitigating this
risk, Syncrude remains committed to its objectives for operational, environmental and social excel-
lence. Stage 3 incorporates technologies to reduce emissions, improve energy efficiency and
upgrade the entire production stream to meet higher specifications for environmental and product
quality. We anticipate that downstream refineries will find our SSP product more valuable than the
existing SSB as they will use less energy in processing our high quality SSP crude into products such
as gasoline and diesel that meet new higher environmental standards.

The third fluid coker being constructed as part of Stage 3 includes a flue gas desuiphurizer that
will capture SO, for use in ammonium sulphate fertilizer production. As described in Note 17(d)
to the consolidated financial statements, Syncrude has an agreement in place with a third party
to provide the sulphur from the desulphurization unit for at least the next 15 years.

Syncrude also has initiated the Syncrude emissions reduction program, which is expected to signif-
icantly reduce total sulphur dioxide emissions as well as other emissions, such as particulate matter
and metals. It will involve retrofitting sulphur reduction technology into the operation of Syncrude’s
two existing cokers. Procurement and construction expenditures are scheduled to occur post 2005
following completion of the Stage 3 expansion and extend into 2009 to tie-in with equipment turn-
around schedules. These measures are expected to reduce sulphur dioxide emissions by up to 60 per
cent from today's approved Alberta Environmental regulatory levels of 250 tonnes per day. The
resulting sulphur dioxide emissions are also expected to fall below new maximum emission levels
that will take effect following the completion of the Syncrude emissions reduction program.
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Canadian Unitholders. Canadian Oil Sands is a member of The Canadian Association of Income
Funds (“CAIF"). CAIF commissioned an independent study by HLB Decision Economics which
has shown that, with the proposed 15 per cent withholding tax on distributions to non-residents,
the revenue to the federal government is not decreased but in fact may be increased by having
a higher level of foreign ownership in trusts. In turn, the resource industry has traditionally relied
on foreign capital to complete the large capital programs necessary to harness the vast resources
of our country. Following consultation between the federal government and industry, including
discussions with representatives of Canadian Oil Sands and a number of other mutual fund trusts,
investment bankers and members of the business community, the federal government imple-
mented the 15 per cent withholding tax but left the current legislation regarding foreign owner-
ship unchanged. In our view, the 15 per cent withholding tax on distributions made to
non-residents places the federal government in a revenue neutral position. We plan to continue
consultations with the federal government with a view to having open access to global capital
markets and thereby allowing higher levels of foreign ownership in trusts.

Based on information from the statutory declarations by Unitholders, we estimate that, as of
October 3, 2005, approximately 37 per cent of our Unitholders are non-Canadian residents
with the remaining 63 per cent being Canadian residents. The statutory declarations are only
as of a specific record date, and therefore may still not reflect the current ownership level of
the Trust's Units; however, given the limitations in the securities registration system and the
lack of any process for real-time residency information to flow to the trustee and transfer
agent, the Trust is of the view that statutory declarations are currently the most appropriate
method of determining the residency status of its Unitholders. The Trust previously used
geographical searches to determine the level of our non-Canadian ownership; however, statu-
tory declarations are considered to be a more accurate measure of non-Canadian residency
status since each Unitholder's position is sworn in an affidavit rather than relying upon
geographical address data.

Canadian Qil Sands’ Trust Indenture provides that not more than 49 per cent of its Units can be
held by non-Canadian residents. The Trust intends to require its Unitholders to complete statu-
tory declarations as to their residency status each quarter to enable the Trust to monitor its level
of non-Canadian resident ownership. The Trust Indenture requires all Unitholders to provide such
statutory declarations when requested to do so by the trustee and transfer agent. The Trust plans
to post the results of the declarations on its web site at www.cos-trust.com under investor infor-
mation, frequently asked questions. This section of the web site also describes the Trust's steps
for managing its non-Canadian resident ownership levels.

Marketing

Each of the Syncrude joint venture owners is responsible for marketing its share of SSB produc-
tion. Historically, Canadian Oil Sands has utilized third party service providers to negotiate
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contract pricing terms, schedule production deliveries, and control revenue collections. The Trust
announced on September 22, 2005 it would begin marketing its Syncrude crude oil production
when the existing Marketing Services Agreement with EnCana Corporation expires on June 30,
2006. In addition to the current risks associated with our product marketing, internalization of
the marketing functions will require new activities to effectively control the process, and there is
a risk that deliveries are disrupted during handover from the service provider. The Trust is
managing this risk by hiring experienced marketing employees and working closely with the
current service provider to establish a strong transition plan. We believe any potential disruptions
to sales and cash flows would be minimal and temporary.

2006 OUTLOOK

In 2006 we are anticipating Syncrude production to range between 95 to 110 million barrels, or
34 to 39 million barrels net to the Trust based on our 35.49 per cent interest with a single point
estimate of 100 million barrels, or 35.5 million barrels net to the Trust. This single point estimate
includes the first quarter tumaround of Coker 8-1 with Stage 3 volumes ramping up to signifi-
cant levels in the second half of the year. The low end of our 2006 production range reflects the
possibility of a turnaround of Coker 8-2, which is not scheduled to occur until the second quarter
of 2007. Additionally, a strong mining sector is currently resulting in a worldwide shortage of off-
road tires. While the tire shortage has been identified as a production and cost risk for 2006 and
2007, Syncrude has implemented various measures aimed at reducing tire wear and damage in
order to more efficiently manage its tire supply. Therefore, we do not expect the shortage to
impact our current 2006 production outlook. The high end of our production range reflects a
faster ramp up of Stage 3 volumes and sustained, reliable operations following start-up of all
Stage 3 units.

Stage 3 is expected to increase Syncrude’s productive capacity to 350,000 barrels per day, which
reflects an average production rate that incorporates outages for turnarounds and maintenance.
We anticipate a period of opti

ing and refining the various Stage 3 units and processes during
which production may fluctuate. Nonetheless, with no major turnarounds scheduled for the last
half of the year, we should be able to achieve full rates and even exceed them at times. On a
steady state basis, we think we should be able to achieve 90 percent of productive capacity within
the first year of operations; accordingly, we are anticipating a 2006 exit production rate of
315,000 barrels per day for Syncrude.

In addition to increased production, Stage 3 is also expected to improve product quality from SSB
to 55P in 2006. We believe that SSP's higher quality will differentiate it from the growing volumes
of synthetic crude in the market produced by competing projects. SSP's quality characteristics are
also expected to provide a higher market price relative to SSB and improve pricing differentials to
WTI. In 2005 our SSB product traded at an average premium of $1.05 per barrel compared to
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Under the Trust's 2006 outlook, we anticipate reaching our net debi target of approximately $1.2 billion
by the end of 2006. The current robust price environment strengthens the Trust's financial posi-
tion, and we continue to generate sufficient funds from operations to fund capital expenditures,
distributions, and make debt repayments. Once we have achieved our net debt target, and unless
capital investment growth opportunities exist that we believe would offer Unitholders better
value, we intend to approach full payout of our free cash flow, which is defined as funds from
operations less capital expenditures and reclamation trust contributions.

The Trust's DRIP helps to accelerate debt reduction and the Trust currently intends to maintain
the DRIP in its present form until at least the target net debt level is achieved. The DRIP has been
an important component in the Trust’s financing plan for the Stage 3 expansion and may play a
role in the Trust's future financing plans. In addition, the DRIP provides important benefits to
Unitholders and is non-dilutive as all existing Unitholders are eligible to participate.

Canadian Oil Sands currently intends to put forward a resolution to its Unitholders at the next
annual general and special meeting, scheduled for April 25, 2006, to split its Units on a five-to-
one basis, subject to receipt of all required regulatory approvals. We believe a Unit split will
enhance liquidity, increase investor interest in the Trust, and bring the trading price into a more
accessible range for retail investors.

SENSITIVITIES

Changes in certain factors and market conditions could potentially impact Canadian Oil Sands’
outlook. The following table provides a sensitivity analysis of the key factors affecting the Trust's
performance. In addition to the factors described in the table, the supply/demand equation for
synthetic crude oil in the North American markets could impact the price differential for SSB rela-

tive to crude benchmarks; however, this factor is difficult to predict.

2006 outlook sensitivity analysis

Annual Funds from Operations Increase
Variable Sensitivity $ millions  $ per Unit
Syncrude operating costs decrease C$1.00 per bbl 27 0.29
Syncrude operating costs decrease C$50 million 14 0.15
WTI crude oil price increase US$1.00 per bbl 32 0.34
Syncrude production increase 2 million bbls 32 0.34
Canadian dollar weakening US$0.01 per C$ 19 0.20
AECO natural gas price decrease C$0.50 per GJ 11 0.12

' An opposite change in each of these variables will result in the opposite funds from operations impact.

48 CANADIAN OIL SANDS TRUST 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

CONTROLS ENVIRONMENT

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements. We have established disclosure controls and procedures, internal controls over
financial reporting, and corporate wide policies to provide that Canadian Oil Sands' consolidated
financial position, results of operations and cash flows are presented fairly. Our disclosure controls
and procedures are designed to ensure timely disclosure and communication of all material infor-
mation required by regulators.

All internal control systems, no matter how weil designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore,
these systems provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance, that financial information is accu-
rate and complete.

Canadian Oil Sands, under the supervision and participation of management, including the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures pursuant to Multinational Instrument 52-109 “Certification of Disclosure
in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings” as of the end of the period covered by this report. The
evaluation also included a review of Syncrude’s evaluation of their disclosure controls and proce-
dures. Based on the evaluations, it was concluded that Canadian Oil Sands’ disclosure controls
and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2005 to provide reasonable assurance that
information required is recorded, processed, summarized and reported w

in the time periods
specified by the applicable Canadian securities regulators. Furthermore, our disclosure controls
and procedures are designed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that information
required to be disclosed under applicable Canadian securities regulation is communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate,
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Unitholders of Canadian Qil Sands Trust

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Canadian Oil Sands Trust as at December 31,
2005 and 2004 and the consolidated statements of income and Unitholders’ equity and cash
flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsib

ity of
Canadian Qil Sands' management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. ’

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

fn our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Trust as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles.

g\é LLf

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants
Calgary, Alberta

January 25, 2006
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As at December 31 ($ millions) 2005 2004
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and short-term investments 88.0 $ 17.8
Accounts receivable 196.8 145.7
Inventories (Note 3) 87.1 571
Prepaid expenses 24 29
374.3 2235
Property, plant and equipment, net (Note 4) 5,502.5 4,794.8
Other assets
Reclamation trust (Note 8) 251 21.0
Deferred financing charges, net 22.6 28.4
47.7 49.4
59245 $ 5,067.7
LIABILITIES AND UNITHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 281.2 $ 273.6
Unit distribution payable (Note 14) - 45.7
Current portion of employee future benefits (Note 5) 10.3 7.2
291.5 326.5
Employee future benefits and other liabilities (Note 5) 92.6 91.9
Long-term debt (Note 7) 1,737 .3 1,699.8
Asset retirement obligation (Note 8) 147.7 441
Deferred currency hedging gains (Note 9) 33.9 27.6
Future income taxes (Note 10) 238.9 241.9
2,541.9 2,431.8
Unitholders' equity (Note 11) 3,382.6 2,635.9
5,924.5 $ 5,067.7

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 17)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors

P

Director Director
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Tabular amounts expressed in millions of dollars, except where otherwise noted)

1)

2)

54

Structure of Canadian Qil Sands Trust

Canadian Oil Sands Trust (the “Trust”) is an open-ended investment trust formed under
the laws of the Province of Alberta in October 1995 pursuant to a trust indenture (“Trust
indenture”) which has since been amended and restated. Computershare Trust Company
of Canada is appointed as Trustee under the Trust Indenture. The beneficiaries of the Trust
are the holders (*Unitholders”) of the units (“Units") in the Trust.

The Trust indirectly owns a 35.49 per cent interest (*Working Interest”) in the Syncrude Joint
Venture (“Syncrude”) which is involved in the mining and upgrading of bitumen from oil
sands in Northern Alberta and operated by Syncrude Canada Ltd. (*Syncrude Canada").

Summary of accounting policies

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Canada (“GAAP") and include the accounts of the Trust
and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Canadian Oil Sands”). The activities of the Syncrude
Joint Venture are conducted jointly with others and, accordingly, these financial state-
ments reflect only the proportionate interest in such activities, which include the produc-
tion, operating costs, non-production costs, property, plant and equipment capital
expenditures, inventories, employee future benefits and other liabilities, asset retirement
obligation, and associated amounts payable. Substantially all other activities and balances
in these financial statements, including sales, are applicable directly to the activities of
Canadian Oil Sands.

Cash and short-term investments
Investments with maturities of less than three months at purchase are considered to be cash
equivalents and are recorded at cost, which approximates market value.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment assets are recorded at cost and include the costs of acquiring
the Working Interest and subsequent additions to property, plant and equipment (“PP&E").
Also included in PP&E is the estimated fair value of Canadian Qil Sands' asset retirement
obligation (see asset retirement obligation accounting policy note). Overburden removal,
repairs and maintenance, and turnaround costs are expensed in the period incurred.
Proceeds from the sale of PP&E are deducted from the capital base without recogniti
a gain or loss.

n of
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PP&E are depreciated and depleted on the unit-of-production method based on estimated
proved and probable reserves. For purposes of the depreciation and depletion provision,
capital costs include future capital costs expected to be necessary in the mining, extrac-
tion and upgrading process to recover the estimated proved and probable reserves.

An asset impairment test is applied to Canadian Oil Sands' PP&E to ensure that the capi-
talized costs do not exceed management's estimate of future undiscounted revenues from
proved reserves, less operating expenses, asset retirement costs, Crown royalties, and
general and administrative expenses. The Trust performs this test at least annually, or
whenever there is an indication that asset impairment has occurred.

Inventories

Product inventories are valued at the lower of the average cost of production for the period
and their net realizable value. Materials and supplies inventories are valued at the lower of
average cost and replacement cost.

Asset retirement obligation

The estimated fair value of the Trust's 35.49 per cent share of Syncrude's retirement obligations
pertaining to PP&E is recognized on the Trust's Consolidated Balance Sheet. Syncrude’s reclama-
tion obligations relate to the site restoration of each mine site, of which the discounted full
amount of the liability is recorded upon initial land disturbance. The fair value is determined by
estimating the timing and amounts of the future reclamation expenditures, and discounting the
expenditures using a credit adjusted risk free rate applicable to the Trust. An obligation is recog-
nized when a reasonable estimate of the amount and timing of the reclamation expenditures can
be determined. The asset retirement cost is equal to the estimated fair value of the asset retire-
ment obligation, and is capitalized as part of the Trust's PP&E. These capital assets are depreci-
ated using the unit-of-production method. The obligation is accreted based on the Trust's applied
discount rate. The depreciation expense and accretion expense are reflected in the Trust's depre-
ciation, depletion and accretion ("DD&A") expense in consolidated net income.

Actual costs are charged against the accumulated obligation when incurred.

Derivative financial instruments

Canadian Oil Sands may enter into derivative financial instrument contracts such as foreign
currency exchange rate, crude oil and natural gas price contracts to hedge fluctuations in
exchange rates, and the prices of crude oil and natural gas. Canadian Oil Sands may also
enter into interest rate swap agreements to manage its interest rate risk.

Pursuant to Canadian Oil Sands' risk management policies, relationships between
hedging instruments and hedged items and the strategy for undertaking the hedge trans-
action are documented. Canadian Oil Sands records the derivative contract as a hedge for
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Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements under Canadian GAAP requires
management personnel to make estimates and assumptions for many financial statement
items based on their best estimate and judgment. Significant judgments and estimates relate
to depreciation, depletion, the impairment test and asset retirement obligation costs as they
are based on reserve engineering studies, environmental studies and future price and cost
estimates, which by their nature, are subjective and contain measurement uncertainty. The
values of pension and other benefit plan accrued obligations and plan assets and the amount
of pension cost charged to net income depend on certain actuarial and economic assump-
tions, which by their nature are subject to measurement uncertainty. The calculation of future
income tax is based on assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty as to the timing and at
which tax rates temporary differences are expected to reverse. Accordingly, actual results may
differ from all of these estimated amounts as future events occur.

Inventories
2005 2004
Materials and supplies $60.9 $45.1
Product and line 26.2 12.0
$87.1 $57.1

Property, plant and equipment, net
Accumulated

Depreciation Net Book
December 31, 2005 Cost and Depletion Value
Property, plant and equipment $6,315.1 $812.9 $5,502.2
Other capital assets 0.9 0.6 0.3
$6,316.0 $813.5 $5,502.5

December 31, 2004
Property, plant and equipment $5,438.9 $644.5 $4,794 .4
Other capital assets 0.8 0.4 0.4
$5,439.7 $644.9 $4,794.8

Total DD&A expense is comprised of the following amounts for the year ended December 31:

2005 2004

Depreciation and depletion expense $168.5 $170.3
Accretion expense 29.2 1.6
$197.7 $171.9

CANADIAN OJL SANDS TRUST 2005 ANNUAL REPORT
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Employee future benefits and other liabilities

2005 2004
Employee future benefits (a) $98.5 $93.3
Other 4.6 6.0
$103.1 $99.3
Less current portion comprised of:

Other (included in accounts payable
and accrued liabilities) (0.2) (0.2)
Employee future benefits (10.3) (7.2)
$92.6 $91.9

a)  Employee future benefits
Syncrude Canada has a defined benefit and two defined contribution plans
providing pension benefits, and other retirement and post-employment benefit plans
covering most of its employees. Other post-employment benefits include certain
health care and life insurance benefits for retirees, their beneficiaries and covered
dependents.

Defined benefit plan

Syncrude measures its accrued benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets for
accounting purposes as at December 31 of each year. The most recent actuarial valu-
ation of the pension plans for funding purposes was as of December 31, 2003, and
the next required valuation will be as of December 31, 2006.

Canadian Oil Sands' share of Syncrude Canada's defined benefit plan accrued
liability, based on its 35.49 per cent ownership at December 31 for each of 2005 and
2004, is comprised of its share of Syncrude Canada's accrued benefit obligation,
partially offset by its share of Syncrude Canada's defined benefit plan assets
as follows:
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Elements of defined benefit costs recognized in the year

Pension Benefit Plan Other Post-Employment Benefits Total
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
Current service cost $17.4 $14.8 $1.5 $0.9 $18.9 $15.7
Interest cost 23.9 21.2 2.2 2.0 26.1 23.2
Actual return on plan assets (27.5) (22.8) - - (27.5) (22.8)
Actuarial loss (gain) 54.9 33.8 (3.8) 3.0 51.1 36.8
Elements of employee future benefits costs
before adjustments to recognize the long-term
nature of employee future benefit costs $68.7 $47.0 $(0.1) $5.9 $68.6 $52.9
Adjustments to recognize the long-term
nature of employee future benefit costs:
Difference between expected return and
actual return on plan assets 6.0 4.4 - - 6.0 4.4
Difference between actuarial loss (gain)
recognized for year and actual actuarial
loss (gain) on accrued benefit obligation
for year (50.4) (30.1) 1.5 (2.8) (48.9) (32.9)
Difference between amortization of past
service costs for year and actual plan
amendments for year 0.1 0.1 2.6 - 2.7 0.1
(44.3) (25.6) 4.1 (2.8) (40.2) (28.4)
Defined benefit costs recognized
in net income $24.4 $21.4 $4.0 $3.1 $28.4 $24.5

Total cash payments

Canadian Oil Sands’ share of Syncrude's total cash payments for employee future
benefits for 2005, consisting of cash contributed by Syncrude Canada to its funded
pension plans, cash to fund pension payments in excess of registered plan limits,
cash payments directly to beneficiaries for its unfunded other benefit plans, and

cash contributed to its defined contribution plans, was $23.3 m

$23.5 million), based on its 35.49 per cent ownership in 2005 and 2004.

CANADIAN OIL SANDS TRUST 2005 ANNUAL REPORT
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Long-term debt

2005 2004

3.95% medium term notes due January 15, 2007 (a) $ 175.0 $ 175.0
Floating rate medium term notes due January 15, 2007 (a) 20.0 20.0
7.625% Senior Notes due May 15, 2007 (b) 81.5 84.2
5.75% medium term notes due April 9, 2008 (c) 150.0 150.0
5.55% medium term notes due June 29, 2009 (d) 200.0 200.0
4.8% Senior Notes due August 10, 2009 (e) 2915 300.9
5.8% Senior Notes due August 15, 2013 (f) 349.8 361.1
7.9% Senior Notes due September 1, 2021 (g) 2915 300.9
8.2% Senior Notes due April 1, 2027 (h) 86.2 89.0
Credit facilities drawn, excluding letters of credit (Note 6) 91.8 18.7
$1,737.3 $1,699.8

All of Canadian Oil Sands’ medium term notes and Senior Notes are unsecured, rank pari

passu with other senior unsecured debt of COSL, and contain certain covenants which

place fimitations on the sale of assets and the granting of liens or other security interests.
The medium term notes are guaranteed by the Trust.

a)

b)

o)

d)

3.95 per cent medium term notes and floating rate medium term notes

On January 15, 2004 COSL issued $20 million of floating rate unsecured medium
term notes as well as $175 million of 3.95 per cent unsecured medium term notes.
The fixed interest rate debt was swapped into floating rates pursuant to interest rate
swap agreements (Note 15(b)(ii)). Both the floating rate and 3.95 per cent medium
term notes mature on January 15, 2007. Interest on the 3.95 per cent notes is
payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15. Interest on the floating rate notes
is payable quarterly on January 15, April 15, July 15, and October 15.

7.625 per cent senior notes

On May 20, 1997 COSL issued US$70 million of 7.625 per cent Senior Notes,
maturing May 15, 2007. Interest rate swap agreements (Note 15(b)(i)) were entered
into to swap the interest rate to a 5.95 per cent fixed rate U.S. dollar payment.
Interest is payable on the notes semi-annually on May 15 and November 15.

5.75 per cent medium term notes

On April 8, 2003 COSL issued $150 million of 5.75 per cent unsecured medium term
notes, maturing April 9, 2008. Interest is payable on the notes semi-annually on
April 9 and October 9.

5.55 per cent medium term notes
On June 29, 2004 COSL issued $200

n of 5.55 per cent unsecured medium

CANADIAN OIL SANDS TRUST 2005 ANNUAL REPORT
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term notes, maturing June 29, 2009. Interest is payable on the notes semi-annually
on June 29 and December 29.

e) 4.8 per cent senior notes
On August 9, 2004 COSL issued US$250 million of 4.8 per cent Senior Notes,
maturing August 10, 2009. Interest is payable on the notes semi-annually on
February 10 and August 10.
) 5.8 per cent senior notes
On August 6, 2003 COSL issued US$300 million of 5.8 per cent Senior Notes, maturing
August 15, 2013. Interest is payable on the notes semi-annually on February 15 and
August 15.
& 7.9 per cent senior notes
On August 24, 2001 COSL issued US$250 million of 7.9 per cent Senior Notes,
maturing September 1, 2021. Interest is payable on the notes semi-annually on
March 1 and September 1. COSL has agreed to maintain its senior debt to book
capitalization at an amount less than 0.55 to 1.0.
h) 8.2 per cent senior notes
On April 4, 1997 COSL issued US$75 million of 8.2 per cent Senior Notes, maturing
April 1, 2027, and retired US$1.05 million during 2000. Interest is payable on the
notes semi-annually on April 1 and October 1.
i) Future minimum payments payable under long-term debt are as follows:
2006 $ -
2007 276.5
2008 150.0
2009 491.5
2010 91.8
Later years 7275
$1,737.3
Asset retirement obligation and reclamation trust
2005 2004
Asset retirement obligation- Beginning of year $44.4 $447
Liabilities settled (2.2) (2.2)
Accretion expense 292 1.6
Asset retirement obligation increases 76.6 -
Asset retirement obligation- End of year $147.7 $ 44.1
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2005 2004
Income before taxes $839.0 $479.9
Statutory rates
Federal 36.00% 36.00%
Federal abatement -10.00% -10.00%
Federal surtax 1.12% 1.12%
Alberta provincial rate 11.50% 11.54%

38.62% 38.66%
Expected taxes at statutory rate $324.0 $185.5
Add (Deduct) the tax effect of:
Net income of the Trust - tax sheltered (296.7) (181.3)
Resource allowance (26.5) (18.5)
Non-deductible Crown charges 3.8 43
Capital tax 7.6 7.3
2001 Reassessment - (9.3)
Tax rate changes 1.0 9.9)
Assessments and adjustments 1.7 (3.6)
Other (6.9) (3.8)
Provision for (Recovery of) taxes $8.0 $(29.3)

Canadian Oil Sands' income taxes are calculated according to government tax laws and
regulations, which results in different values for certain assets and liabilities for income tax
purposes than for financial statement purposes. The amount shown on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet as future income taxes represents the net differences between tax values
and book carrying values on the operating subsidiaries’ Balance Sheet at substantively
enacted tax rates. GAAP requires this future tax liability to be recognized in the consoli-
dated financial statements. These future taxes are not expected to result in cash taxes
being paid as a result of expected future intercompany royalty and interest deductions at
the operating subsidiary level.

As at December 31, future income taxes are comprised of the following:

2005 2004
mm_u,ﬁm_ and other assets in excess of tax value $(720.1) $(518.2)
Net liabilities in excess of tax value 481.2 276.3
Balance at December 31 $(238.9) $(241.9)
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As at December 31, 2005, the following are the estimated balances available for deduc-
tion against future taxable income:

2005
Canadian Oil Sands Trust:
Canadian Development Expense ' $100.1
Equity Issue Costs $13.2
Canadian Oil Sands Limited and other operating subsidiaries:
Undepreciated Capital Costs ("UCC") 2
Federal UCC $2,445 1
Provincial UCC $2,295.3
Scientific Research and Exploration Development $2.9
Debt Issue Costs $9.4

' Deductible at a decfining balance rate of 30 per cent annually.
? Majority deductible at a declining balance rate of 25 per cent annually as well as an accelerated rate based on the “income
from a mine”. Approximately $100 million is not available for use until the Stage 3 Upgrader Expansion is put into service

Unitholders’ equity

2005 2004

Unitholders' capital (a) $2,010.1 $1,911.5
Accumulated earnings 25759 1,744.9
Accumulated unitholder distributions (1,206.1) (1,022.2)
Contributed surplus (Note 13(a)) 27 1.7
$3,382.6 $2,635.9

a)  Unitholders' capital

A maximum of 500,000,000 Units have been created for issuance pursuant to the
Trust Indenture. The Units represent a beneficial interest in the Trust, share equally
in all distributions from the Trust and carry equal voting rights. No conversion or pre-
emptive rights, and limited retraction rights are attached to the Units. Units are
redeemable at the option of the Unitholder at a price that is the lesser of 90 per cent
of the average closing price of the Units on the principal trading market for the
previous 10 trading days and the closing market price on the date of tender for
redemption, subject to restrictions on the amount to be redeemed each quarter.

During 2005, 1.1 million Units were issued for proceeds of approximately $98.6 million
related to the Premium Distribution, Distribution Reinvestment and Optional Unit
Purchase Plan ("DRIP") with respect to the distributions paid on February 28, 2005,
May 31, 2005, August 31, 2005 and November 30, 2005.

On July 30, 2004 the Trust issued three
a subscription price of $48 per Unit for total proceeds of $144 million, which were

ion Units on a private placement basis at

used to finance a portion of the Trust's capital expenditures. During 2004, 1.3 million
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13)

64

The range of exercise prices of the options is $34.73 to $124.93 and the average
remaining contractual life of the options outstanding is 4.6 years.

The fair value of each option is estimated on the grant date using an option-pricing
model. The weighted-average fair values of the options granted during the various
periods and the weighted average assumptions used in their determination are as
noted below:

2005 2004
Risk-free interest rate (%) 3.54 3.63
Expected life (years) 5 5
Expected volatility (%) 22 20
Expected distribution per Unit ($) 2.00 2.00
Fair value per stock option ($) 10.25 6.75

The weighted-average fair value of all options granted during the year is approxi-
mately $1.1 million (2004 — $0.7 million).

b)  Syncrude Canada’s incentive phantom share units plan

Syncrude Canada implemented a stock-based compensation plan during 2002 which
awarded phantom units to certain employees. The phantom units have value if the
composite value of the weighted-average stock price of 70 per cent of Canadian Oil
Sands Trust's Units and 30 per cent of various other joint venture owners’ public
shares at the time of exercise by Syncrude Canada employees exceeds the issue price
of the awards. The phantom units vest based on a graded vesting schedule: after the
first year of issuance, 50 per cent of the phantom units are exercisable, 25 per cent the
following year and the last 25 per cent after year three. When the awards are exer-
cised, they are settled in cash. They expire seven years after the date of issue.

At December 31, 2005 a total of 1.3 million phantom units were outstanding (2004 —
1.3 million), and a total of 323,258 phantom units were exercisable.

In 2005, Canadian Qil Sands recorded approximately $36.3 m

n in operating
expenses related to its 35.49 per cent share of Syncrude Canada's stock-based
compensation expense (2004 — $12.1 million).

Interest, net

2005 2004
interest expense $106.5 $98.9
Interest income and other 2.7 (3.6)
Interest, net $103.8 $95.3

CANADIAN OJL SANDS TRUST 2005 ANNUAL REPORT
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15)

Unitholder distributions

The Consolidated Statements of Unitholder Distributions is provided to assist Unitholders
in reconciling funds from operations to Unitholder distributions.

In 2005, distributions were paid to Unitholders on the last business day of the second
month following the quarter and were recorded as payable at each quarter end even
though they were not declared. Commencing in the fourth quarter of 2005 distributions
are recorded in the quarter declared and paid. As a result, the financial statements do not
reflect a distribution payable as at December 31, 2005. This change is reflected in the
Financing Activities section on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as a decrease
in the Unitholder distributions offset by an increase in Change in non-cash working capital
requirement. The change in recording Unitholder distributions has no impact on the ulti-
mate distributions declared and paid to the Unitholders or to the timing of such payments,
nor does it impact Canadian Oil Sands' net income or funds from operations. Distributions
are paid to Unitholders on the last business day of February, May, August and November.

Consolidated statements of Unitholder distributions
For the years ended December 31

($ millions, except per Unit amounts) 2005 2004
Funds from operations $1,004.8 $575.8
Add (Deduct):
Capital expenditures (799.6) (942.1)
Non-acquisition financing, net " 101.5 549.6
Change in non-cash working capital (118.7) 1.6

Reclamation trust funding “4.1) (4.5)
Unitholder distributions $183.9 $180.4
Unitholder distributions per Unit $2.00 $2.00

! Represents financing to fund Canadian Qil Sands' share of Syncrude’s Stage 3 expansion and is a discretionary item.

Derivative financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments that are included in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet, with the exception of the Senior Notes and medium term notes, approximate their
recorded amount due to the short-term nature of those instruments. The fair values of the
Senior Notes and medium term notes are as follows:
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@)

d)

cent medium term notes to a floating rate Canadian dollar payment for the
remaining term of the notes. The effective interest rates were 2.8 per cent and
2.9 per cent in 2005 and 2004, respectively. These swap contracts qualify as
hedges for accounting purposes, and as such, the settlements have been
recorded as a reduction to interest expense in the financial statements.

Crude oil hedging contracts

In 2004, Canadian Qil Sands’ revenues were reduced by $274.3 million from crude
oil price hedging losses. For the year ending December 31, 2005, there were no
crude oil swap positions in place.

Credit risk

Crude oil sales revenue credit risk is managed by limiting the exposure to customers
with a credit rating below investment grade to a maximum of 25 per cent of
Canadian Qil Sands’ consolidated accounts receivable. The maximum exposure to
any one customer is also limited based on the credit rating of that customer. Risk is
further mitigated as sales revenue receivables are due and settled in the month
following the sale. The use of financial instruments involves a degree of credit risk
which Canadian Oil Sands manages through its credit policies and by selecting coun-
terparties of high credit quality.

16) Crown royalties

17)

66

Under Alberta’s generic Qil Sands Royalty, the Crown royalty is calculated as the greater of
one per cent of gross revenue after transportation costs or 25 per cent of revenue before
hedging, less applicable transportation, operating, non-production and capital costs. In each

of 2004 and 2005, the Crown royalty was calculated at one per cent of gross revenue.

Canadian Oil Sands expects to begin paying Crown royalties at the full 25 per cent in early

2006 based on its pricing and production forecast at January 25, 2006. As at December 31,
2005, carry forward deductions for royalty purposes were approximately $656 million,
$233 million net to Canadian Oil Sands.

Commitments and contingencies

a)

Marketing agreement

Under the terms of the Marketing Services Agreement between COSL and EnCana
Corporation, EnCana markets all of the production attributable to Canadian Oil
Sands’ Working Interest for a fee of $0.05 per barrel, with a minimum monthly fee of
$33,333. The marketing fees are included in Canadian Oil Sands’ transportation and
marketing expense on the Consolidated Statement of Income and Unitholders’
Equity. When this agreement expires on June 30, 2006, it will not be renewed and the
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b

o)

d)

e

Trust will utilize an internal marketing department to market its share of Syncrude
production.

Natural gas purchase commitments

Syncrude has entered into multi-year purchase commitments for natural gas deliv-
eries at floating market-related prices. Canadian Oil Sands’ 35.49 per cent share of
this commitment is for 60.8 miilion GJ.

Expenditure commitments

The total estimated project cost of Syncrude's Stage 3 expansion as at February 22,
2006 is $8.4 billion, or approximately $3.0 billion net to Canadian Oil Sands, with
an in-service date estimated for mid-2006. Based on expenditures incurred on the
Stage 3 project to December 31, 2005, Canadian Qil Sands’ 35.49 per cent share of
the remaining expenditures is approximately $122 million. Canadian Oil Sands is also
committed to remaining costs of approximately $274 million related to its 35.49 per
cent share of Syncrude’s emissions reduction program as well as $34.4 million related
to miscellaneous other capital commitments.

Syncrude has various vendor commitments owing in 2006 for non-capital items of
which the more significant purchases total $19.1 million, or $6.8 million net to
Canadian Oil Sands.

Desulphurization unit
Syncrude has entered into an agreement with Marsulex Inc. to utilize flue gas from

Coker 8-3 of Stage 3 to manufacture fertilizer. Under the agreement, which began
in 2005 and has a minimum term of 15 years, Syncrude is committed to provide the
waste stream from the Flue Gas Desulphurization Unit and pay an annual disposal
fee. Syncrude receives a portion of the proceeds from the fertilizer sales as a cost
recovery. Canadian Oil Sands’ share of this commitment, before any recovery, is

approximately $3 million per year.

Tax disputes

For the period prior to 2000, the tax filings for Canadian Oil Sands Limited's prede-
cessors, Canadian Oil Sands Investments Inc. (“COSII") and Athabasca Oil Sands
Investments Inc. ("AOSIH™), have been assessed and closed. AOSH's 2000 Tax
Return was recently assessed by the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA") and a Notice
of Objection will be filed pertaining to the Syncrude Remission Order and other
items. It is anticipated that the CRA will reassess COSIl on a similar basis and a
Notice of Objection will be filed. The Syncrude Remission Order also affects tax
filings pertaining to Years 2001 and 2002. While the resolution of this dispute
regarding the Syncrude Remission Order impacts the amount of tax pools available
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STATISTICAL SUMMARY

($ millions, except as indicated) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Revenues, after transportation and marketing expense 1,967 1,352 932 715 663
Operating costs 73 601 515 309 327
Non-production costs 85 48 38 19 18
Crown royalties 20 18 12 7 53
Administration 12 9 9 7 8
Insurance 8 9 7 6 4
Interest, net 104 95 68 39 20
Depreciation, depletion and accretion 198 172 93 54 59
Foreign exchange loss (gain) (29) (80) (135) (3) 24
Income and Large Corporations Tax 8 2) 17 6 2
Future income tax recovery - 27 @) - -
Net income 831 509 310 271 148
Per Unit ($) 9.04 5.72 3.89 474 261
Funds from operations 1,005 576 273 326 227
Per Unit ($) 10.93 6.47 343 5.71 4.00
Unitholder distributions 184 180 170 115 156
Per Unit ($) 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 275
Capital expenditures 800 942 786 403 180
Reserves ( ns of SSB bbls, net to COS)
Proven reserves 10 1.0 1.1 07 0.7
Proven and probable reserves 1.8 1.8 1.8 N/A N/A
Resource (includes proven and probable reserves;
billions of SSB bbls, net to COS) 3 3 3 2 2
Average daily sales (bbls) 75,994 84,575 66,793 49,806 48,508
Operating netback ($/bbl)
Average realized sales price 7091 43.68 38.23 39.35 37.46
Operating costs 26.34 19.40 21.12 16.99 18.48
Crown royalties 0.71 0.58 0.49 041 297
Netback price 43.86 23.70 16.62 21.95 16.01
Financial ratios
Net debt to cash flow (times) 16 29 52 12 1.2
Net debt to total capitalization (%) 328 390 403 29.0 258
Return on average productive capital employed (%) 371 215 15.2 341 204
Return on average capital employed (%) 194 12.7 99 26.1 19.3
Return on average Unitholders’ equity (%) 276 214 20.2 313 18.4
Number of Units outstanding (in millions) 925 91.4 872 577 56.8
$/Unit prices*
High 143.00 68.19 45.70 44.85 41.95
Low 62.10 40.25 32.26 33.28 29.25
Close 126.00 67.61 4569 38.05 38.50
Trading volume (thousands of Units)* 71,371 77,832 45417 33,296 20,360

*Data prior to the July 5, 2001, merger date represents Athabasca Oil Sands Trust, the surviving entity.
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GLOSSARY

Bitumen The molasses-like substance that
comprises up to 18 per cent of oil sands.
Bitumen, in its raw state, is black, asphalt-like oil.
It requires upgrading or blending to make it
transportable by pipeline and usable by conven-

tional refineries.

Carbon dioxide (CO,) A non-toxic gas produced
from decaying materials, respiration of plant and
animal life, and combustion of organic matter,
including fossil fuels; carbon dioxide is the most
common greenhouse gas produced by human

activities.

Cokers Vessels in which bitumen is cracked into its
fractions and from which coke is withdrawn in
the process of converting bitumen to upgraded

crude oil.

Conventional oil Petroleum found in liquid form,
flowing naturally, or capable of being pumped

without further processing or dilution.

Debottleneck Debottlenecking systematically

removes plant capacity limitations through modi-

fications of existing facilities and/or addition of
capital facilities. Debottlenecking commonly
provides a 10-20 per cent capacity improvement

versus a major capital intensive expansion.

Diesel cetane count A quality specification impor-

tant in the production of diesel fuels.

Dragline A large machine that digs oil sand from

the mine pit and piles it into windrows.

Extraction The process of separating bitumen

from oil sand.

Feedstocks Raw material supplied to refinery, oil

sands upgrader, or petrochemical plant

Fluid coking A major part of the upgrading
process whereby high temperatures in a coker
break down the complex bitumen molecules,
rejects carbon and causes bitumen molecules to

reformulate into lighter fractions that become

the main ingredients in upgraded crude

Flue gas scrubber / desulphurizer Equipment that

removes sulphur dioxide and other emissions.

Fluid coking A major part of the upgrading
process whereby high temperatures in a coker
remove carbon and cause bitumen molecules to
reformulate into lighter products that become

the main ingredients in upgraded crude oil.

Greenhouse gases Any of various gases that

contribute to the greenhouse effect.

Gross overriding royalty (GORR) Six percent
gross overriding royalty on revenues from the
working interest in respect of certain leases

included in the Syncrude project.

Netback Average realized selling price, after

hedging, less operating costs and Crown royalties.

Oil sand(s) A composition of sand, bitumen,

mineral rich clays and water.

Alberta oil sand(s) deposits The four deposits,
Athabasca, Peace River, Cold Lake and Wabasca,
have total resource in place estimated at 1.7 tril-
lion to 2.5 trillion barrels. The Athabasca Oil

Sands deposit, Alberta’s largest and most acces-

le source of bitumen, contains more than one

on barrels of bitumen over an area encom-

passing more than 30,000 square kilometres.

Oif sand(s) lease A long-term agreement with
the provincial government which permits the
leaseholder to extract bitumen, other metals and
minerals contained in the oil sands in the speci-

fied lease area.
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Ore grade The percentage of bitumen by weight

in the oil sands.

Overburden A mining term related to the thick-

ness of material above oil sands deposits.

Strip ratio The ratio of waste (overburden mate-
rial that covers mineable ore) to ore; used to

define the quality of an oil sands ore body.

Sulphur dioxide (SO,) A compound of sulphur
and oxygen produced by burning sulphur.

Synbit Typically, a synbit blend is a ~50/50 mix

of bitumen and synthetic crude oil.

Syncrude 21 A multi-staged expansion plan
Syncrude embarked in 1996, which is antici-
pated to more than double production of a

higher-quality oil at lower operating costs.

Syncrude Sweet Blend (SSB) A 100 per cent
upgraded, high-quality product with 31° to 33°
AP

low sulphur (0.1 per cent to 0.2 per cent),
low residuals and excellent low-temperature

pour qualities.

Syncrude Sweet Premium (SSP) A new product
that is expected to be introduced with the startup
of Syncrude’s Stage 3 project; the quality of the

distillate cuts will improve with fower sulphur and
nitrogen levels as well as higher diesel cetane

numbers and kerosene smoke points.

Synthetic crude oil A high-quality product
resulting from the mining, extraction and

upgrading of thick, tar-like bitumen.

Tailings A combination of water, sand, silt and
fine clay particles that is a by-product of

removing bitumen from oil sand.

Total volume to bitumen in place (TV/BIP} The
total amount of ore plus overburden volume to

total bitumen in place.

Turnaround A regular event essential for good
maintenance of the mining, producing and
upgrading facilities. A turnaround may reduce
production but does not usually halt it entirely as

the various operating units are duplicated.

Upgrading The conversion of heavy bitumen into
a lighter crude oil by increasing the ratio of
hydrogen to carbon, either by removing carbon

(coking) or adding hydrogen (hydroprocessing).

RATIOS
Net debt to cash flow Net debt divided by funds

from operations.

Net debt to total capitalization Net debt divided
by net debt plus Unitholders' equity.

Return on average Unitholders' equity  Net

income divided by average Unitholders’ equity.

Return on average capital employed Net income
before net interest expense, future income tax,
and foreign exchange gains/losses divided by

average capital employed.

Return on average productive capital employed
Net income before net interest expense, future
income tax, and foreign exchange gains/losses
divided by average productive capital employed,

which excludes major projects not yet in use.
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